


You're About To Discover

The REAL Secrets Of
The Rich & Famous...

Use These Methods To Turn
ALL Your Dreams About
Moneff, Sex, And Power

nto Reality!

There has existed for many years an
exclusive association, a secret society...
consisting of some of the world's most
famous and powerful people.

These include renowned actors and
musicians, leading scientists and
intellectuals, self-made entrepreneurs
and artists, millionaires, professional
gamblers, Casanovas, statesmen.

Many of these people you would
instantly recognize.

This association has hoarded some
shockingly powerful secrets... and
they share these secrets only amongst
themselves.

In fact, these secrets are the reason
these well-known individuals have
achieved great prosperity.

Click Here To Learn More...
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~ If youTe into fithess,
Bullworker puts
it all together
inonly

5minutes a day:

“L ooking for a fitness program that's fast, easy and gets results
right away?,” asks fitness expert, Bob Breton. “Bullworker puts
it all together. In just 5 minutes a day you can give your body a
complete fitness workout: shoulders, back, arms, chest, ab-
domen and legs.

It's fast: each exercise takes only 7 seconds, once a day.

It's easy: any man between 15 and 65 in good general health
can run through the whole program without getting tired.

You see your progress right from the very first day on the built-
in Powermeter gauge. After two to three weeks of training, most
men can expect to measure an extra inch or two of muscle on
their shoulders, chest and biceps—and an inch or two less flab
around the middle.

And that's just the start: there are specialized exercises for
building-up or trimming down any part of your body you want to.
What's more, since Bullworker training is progressive, you
perform better each time. Yet the training always seems easy
since with every workout your strength increases by abdut
1% —that’s an increase of up to 50% in the first three months.

See your strength “I earn my living by keeping execu-
tives in top shape,” says Bob. “My

GROW'NG customers want results and they
day by day on the want them fast. | recommend Bull-
built-in worker for one reason only: because
POWERMETER it's the most advanced fitness trainer
on the market and you better believe

it.”

we 56 B To receive complete details about

S

Bullworker Fitness training, mail cou-
pon for FREE BOOKLET today. No

obligation, no salesman will visit.

24 pages of
action photos
in full color
show you how
to build a
powerful body
in just five
minutes a day

© BULLWORKER SERVICE
201 Lincoin Bivd., P.0. Box X -
Middlesex, N.J. 08846

263

BULLWORKER SERVICE, Dept. Bw3643
201 Lincoin Blvd., P.0. Box X, Middlesex, N.J. 08846

Please send me my FREE full color brochure

about BULLWORKER without obligation. No
salesman will visit.

please print
Street Apt. No.

City

State Zip

Canada: Home delivery duty paid. Ask for FREE booklet.
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HAVE YOU SEEN THIS COUPON BEFORE?

It has helped to start many men‘and women on the

road to greater accomplishment. Just looking at it

won’t get you anything...but mailing it could lead

to a more rewarding future.

The LaSalle coupon is one of the
. most often-seen coupons in Ameri-
ca. To many of those who have al-
ready mailed it, it has proved a first
step to opportunity. Isn’t it time
| that you sent it on its way — and
learned how one of LaSalle’s prac-
tical programs could benefit you?

Right now, ambitious men and women in many
walks of life are preparing for better futures with the
help of LaSalle spare-time training. Whether your
goals are increased opportunities or self-improvement
you owe it to yourself to find out what LaSalle home
study can do for you.

For more than seventy years, LaSalle has been a
leader in home study. It has a large staff of experienced
instructors. That is why your training is in good hands;

why a LaSalle diploma is a respected credential.

LaSalle offers you many kinds of home-study pro-
grams. Your choice is wide. LaSalle gives you modern
comprehensive instruction in many of today’s fields.

You learn at home; lessons come to you by mail. You
are a class of one; you choose your own study hours,
set your own pace.

You should act now. The broadened opportunities
resulting from LaSalle home study may make a big
difference in your future. One of our more successful
students reports (4/5/78): “LaSalle training helped
me get a promotion, increased my earnings, and self-
confidence.” Many letters like this come to LaSalle.
Why not get information on the field that interests
you? Mail coupon to LaSalle, 417 S. Dearborn St.,
Chicago, I1l. 60605. NO SALESMAN WILL CALL
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BIKE PATROL SUSPECT SHOT
Buffalo police officers Kenneth Jones (left), and Suspect lies dead in Boston Commons after unsuccessful holdup of a
Nick Sigeti take to bikes to patrol the New York jewelry store on Winter Street. Police said a second suspect

city's West Side in fitness and gas-saving move. was shot twice but survived. Police here prepare to move the body.
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TENSE MOMENT _ »

Police in Somerset, Massachusetts were held at bay for 90 harming him. Police officer at left on roof is Lt. Alfred
minutes by Oswald Mayes, shown here preparing leap off Medeiros, who holds can of Mace. Note knife in Mayes’

his porch roof. Police goal was to apprehend Mayes without hand. He made leap to ground without injury, was subdued.
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ARSON SUSPECT
Julio Rodrigues (above), 18, Boston,
has been arraigned in connection
with two Boston hotel fires. Youth
formerly worked as busboy in both
hotels. Photo at right shows one of
the blazes at the Copley Plaza
Hotel. This fire, and one at Shera-
ton, drove 1,900 guests into streets.

FOILED ATTEMPT

Policeman attends manwho
was identified as Donald
Nacey, critically

wounded by a bank guard.
Nacey allegedly attempted
to hold up Bank of Ireland

in New York City’s
Rockefeller Center.
{dentifiction of suspect

is still tentative.




TOUGH CUSTOMER HASH HAUL
Police say it took five officers to bring down Four suspects leave federal courtin Newark, N.J. They were charged
Mike Lucci, 38, in Southfield, Mich., after DWI with tryingtoimport hashish. They and four others were arrested

charge. Lucgi is former Detroit Lions linebacker.

SHOOTOUT IN MANAGUA

Nicaraguan soldiers are shown near the body of one of the
members of a gang killed in a devastating exchange of
gunfire while attempting to rob a savings andloan company

8

on the freighter Olaug, which contained 40,000 pounds of hashish.

in Managua. When this photo was taken, the bank robbers
were still holding 15 hostages inside the bank. Police
and soldiers tried to persuade them to surrender weapons.



in SMAll ENGINE
service and repair

Start your own money

In just a short time, you can be ready
to join one of the fastest growing indus-
tries in America...an industry where
qualified men are making from $10.00 to
$15.00 per hour...and that’s just for labor.

Parts, engines and accessories add even
more to the profits.

Because the small engine industry has
grown so quickly, an acute shortage of
qualified Small Engine Professionals exists
throughout the country. In fact, it’s not
unusual for 2 good small engine man to be
three to four weeks behind in the summer
and at least a week behind in the winter.
When you see how many small engines
are in use today, it’s easy to understand
why qualified men command such high
prices—as much as $17.50 for a simple
tune-up that takes less than an hour!

You get all this Professional
equipment with your course
—and it's Yours to KEEP!

46-million small engines
are in service today!

That's right —there are over forty-six
million 2-cycle and 4-cycle small engines
in service across the U.S.A. That's the

official. count from the Engine Service -

Assn., and new engines are being built at
a rate of one-million per month! With
fully accredited and approved Belsaw
training, you can soon have the skill and
knowledge to make top money servicing
these engines. Homeowners and busi-
nessmen will seek you out and pay you
well to service and repair their lawn-
mowers, tillers, edgers, power rakes,

garden tractors. chain saws, mini-bikes.
go-carts, snowmobiles, generators., snow-
blowers, paint sprayers...
most endless.

the list is al-

" No experlence necessary.

You don’t need to be a ‘born mechanic
or have prior experience. If you can read.
you can master this profitable trade right
at home, in your sparetime, without miss-
ing a single paycheck. Lessons are fully
illustrated — so clear you can't go wrong.

Send TODAY
for this
fact-filled

Cashinon the
huge demand for
small engine repairr.

every step of the way.

Ynu receive tra,de secrets

and business plans.

We guide you every step of the way,
including tested and proven instructions
on how to get business, what to charge,
how to get free advertising, where to get
supplies wholesale ...all the “tricks of
the trade”. .. all the inside facts you need
to assure success right from the start.

increased Income

“I've had about
8 vears experi-
ence repairing
small engines ..
but repairs were
only minor ... .un- §
til 1 started the
Belsaw Course.”

Campbelt, Caiifornia

Walter H. Strick ]

With our famous ‘learn-by-doing’ train-
ing method, you get practical "hands-on’
experience with specialized tools and
equipment that you'll receive with your
training plus a brand-new 4HP engine —
all yours to keep'!

SEND FOR FREE FACTS!

You risk nothing by accepting this of-
fer to find out how Belsaw training can
give vou the skills vou need to increase
vour income in a high-profit, recession-
proof business of your own.

Just fill in and mail coupon below (or
send postcard) to receive full information
and details by return mail. DO IT TODAY!

BELSAW INSTITUTE OF

SMALL ENGINE REPAIR
470K Field Bldg., Kansas City, MO. 64111

BEAT INFLATION!

Work part time, full time
right at home- we help you

i -
9

There is NO OBLIGATION and
NO SALESMAN Will Call—ever!

BELSAW INSTITUTE, 470k FIELD BUILDING
KANSAS CITY, MISSOUR! 64111

" YES, please send me the FREE booklet that ™., .
I glves full details about starting my own business m " I

FREE

BOOKI.ET!

HORSEPOWER
CLINTON ENGINE . ..

YOURS TO
KEEP! 4

Smalt Engine Repair. | understand there is no obligation
and that no salesman will call

Tells how you quickly

Name____ P
train to be your own boss
in a profitable Sparetime Address .

or Fulttime business of

your own PLUS complete Ciy

detaits on our 10-Day

NO RISK Trial Offer! mle Zip
.




THE
WORST
THING
THAT CAN
HAPPEN
TO SOME
CHILDREN
IS THEIR
PARENTS.

Sad, but true. There are many
confused adults in America today
who are abusing their children.
Either physically, sexually, emo-
tionally, or by neglect. It is esti-
mated that there are at least one
million cases of child abuse in
America each year, and over
2,000 of those children die. Help
destroy a family tradition. Child
abuse is passed on from genera-
tion to generation. Most child
abusers were abused while they
were growing up, so they’ve
learned no other way to raise
their children. Most people er-
roneously believe that child
abusers can’t be helped. They
can be helped. Let us tell you
how.

PREVENT

A Pubtic Service of This Magazine Jfy A
& The Advertising Council (5 2
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CHILD ABUSE.WRITE:

National Committee for
Prevention of Child Abuse,
Box 2866, Chicago, lil. 60690.

THE BLOTTER

Address: The Editor,
Front Page Detective
235 Park Avenue S.
New York, N.Y. 10003

SALLY IVESTER

I am a devout reader of your magazine.

I was so shocked when I read the article
in the February issue of your magazine,
“The Terrible Torture Killing of Sally
Ivester.” I was so taken aback at what that
poor girl went through, I cried. Through
all her suffering the poor thing was
apologizing because that beast Thomp-
son got blood on his hands.

What was the outcome of the trial? [ am
praying they send both of those animals
to the chair. Better yet, give them the
same treatment they gave that poor girl.

I only wish I were the judge. I would
show them no mercy.

I never wrote to you people before,
but reading this article really got to me.

Did Thompson get the electric chair? I
never did read anymore about the skunk.

—Mprs. Marguerite Thoensing,
Berwyn, Ilinois

Editor’s Note: On September 18, 1978,
William Thompson pleaded guilty to the
murder of Sally Ivester. On September 20
he received two death sentences. Rocco
Surace was convicted of second degree
murder on September 30 and on
November 9 was sentenced to 203 years
in prison.

RECOMMENDED READING
I refer to the Case Book section of the
March, 1979 edition of FRONT PAGE

" DETECTIVE.

This picture of the 28-year-old woman
who is accused of allowing her newborn
baby to bekilled by two dogs is the most
horrible and heinous crime I believe I
have ever read about.

If this evil woman be proven guilty in
court, may I suggest that this case be
written up in full for publication in
FRONT PAGE by one of your writers?
One wonders what environment could
possibly spawn such adegenerate person.

—Pauline Dean,
Blanding, Utah

KEEPING US POSTED

I donotremember if FRONT PAGE or
INSIDE DETECTIVE covered the case
regarding the enclosed clipping. [It was
FRONT PAGE, and the case was that of

the murder of the Phillips family in Win-
nie, Texas. Thestory was published in the
November, 1978 issue. See The Cleanup
Spot, page 58, for the follow up.]

We have several interesting murder
cases here in the Birmingham, Alabama
area. One of the most recent spectacular
cases concerned a teenager (16 or 17,
tried as an adult) for robbing, raping, and
then murdering his 61-year-old grand-
mother. Any person has to be very mean
to commit something like this against a
blood member of his family.

I would still request an answer if you
desire newspaper clippings concerning
major crime cases in this area.

—Bruce Holman
Tipscomb, Alabama

Editor’s note: We were very happy to get
the clipping concerning the Phillips fami-
ly murder from Mr. Holman, as it makes
our job of keeping you posted on
developments that much easier. If any of
our readers would like to send along
follow up clippings, we would be pleased
to have them. The name of the
newspaper you got your clip from and
the date it appeared should also accom-
pany your clip.

As for clippings concerning crimes in
our readers’ areas, we prefer to leave it to
our authors to collect the material they
need for stories, but thank you, Mr.
Holman, for the offer.

LIKES OUR MAGAZINE

Just want to say I think your two detec-
tive magazines are the best.

Keep up with the old stories and the
foreign stories. I think they make the
magazine wonderful.

I have read FRONT PAGE DETEC-
TIVE for years. Thank you for your two
magazines.

—Gertrude Clodfelter
address withheld on request

- ;mrca maimensr
FRBNT PAGE

“BUY U.S. SAVING BONDS"




ANNOUNCING THE AMAZING DOCTOR-TESTED FORMULA THAT IS —

3 TIMES STRONGER = DIETS

THIS INCREDIBLE BREAKTHROUGH THAT ATTACKS OVERWEIGHT
THREE WAYS IS YOUR KEY TO TOTAL WEIGHT LOSS.

This DOCTOR-TESTED, medically proven formula is based on pub- — WITH THIS DOCTOR-TESTED FORMULA YOU CAN LOSE EVEN
lished reports from professors at leading medical schools. THIS MORE — LIKE 20, 30, EVEN 50 LBS., till you reach your ideal
THREE-WAY PUNCH IS THE MOST ADVANCED WEIGHT LOSS weight level.

METHOD KNOWN TO MEDICAL SCIENCE. No other weight Did you know that over 90% of your total body weight is
loss program is designed to give you a three-way knockout fluids? A normal woman's body contains from 90 to 150
punch that attacks both EXCESS FAT and EXCESS FLUIDS Ibs. of water. A man’s body even more. That's a true fact.
held in the body. You can see the results everyday in It is the total combination of all aspects of the 3-Way Diet
your mirror — RIGHT BEFORE YOUR VERY EYES. Program that turns the food you eat to ENERGY not fat.
TURNS YOU ON WHILE IT TURNS OFF YOUR APPETITE Medical science has provided the means for you to bhecome
THE CONTINUOUS ROUND THE CLOCK ACTION AT slim and attractive without undergoing tortuous exercise.
TACKS THE BASIC CAUSE OF FAT. YOUR BODY IS Famous personalities of Stage, Screen and TV are no dif-
LITERALLY FGRCED TO DRAIN AWAY EXCESS FLUIDS ; ferent from you when it comes to putting on excess
THAT BLOAT TISSUES AND DRAG YOU DOWN. weight. In fact, they have even a greater problem as
LOSE UP TO 4 TO 6 INCHES OFF YOUR REAR. they often have to attend various parties and functions
LOSE UP TO 3 TO 5 INCHES OFF YOUR THIGHS. where rich and tempting foods are always pushed at

LOSE UP TO 3 TO 6 IN. OFF YOUR WAISTLINE. | them. Let medical science go to work for you as it has
LOSE UP TO 2 TO 5 INCHES OFF YOUR HIPS. for them. YOU CAN GET A FRESH START IN LIFE WITH

LOSE UP TO 5 INCHES OFF YOUR STOMACH. THIS THRILLING WAY TO SLASH AWAY POUNDS AND

What is most important is that this is a NATURAL INCHES.
PROGRAM. Nothing artificial. T WORKS SO FAST LIFE CAN BE BEAUTIFUL WHEN YOU'RE IN SHAPE.
THE 1ST WEEK ALONE YOU LOSE 1-1/2 TO 2 Everyone wants to have a slim youthful figure and be ad-
{BS. OF BOTH FLUID AND FAT EACH DAY. Your & mired. Now you can make your dreams come true. You
body’s inner furnace is TURNED ON SO HIGH iT° can take the first step forward toward fulfilling your goal.
LITERALLY MELTS THE FAT OFF YOUR BODY — When you see how good you look and how good you feel
LIKE A BLOW TORCH WOULD MELT BUTTER. In a | without those draggy extra pounds, you'll be thrilled.
matter of hours the program helps your body to MEDICAL TESTS HAVE PROVED THE FUNDAMENTAL
burn off ugly fat. Fat cells are shrunk as well as | CONCEPT OF THIS THREE-WAY PUNCH AS THE
this multi-prong attack against fat goes to work. . WEIGHT LOSS BREAKTHROUGH OF THE CENTURY.
The special dietary supplement not present in other REMEMBER, YOU CAN DO IT, T0O!
czﬂﬁrgﬁy g;‘lriflgyou much needed elements to keep The entire program helps reduce your craving appetite, helps
: , ' eleminate excess fluids while providing you with a dietary sup-
IN 7 DAYS YOU'LL REFUSE TO BELIEVE plement that works in conjunction with all the elements of this
Y_OUR _BATHROOM SCALE'_ medically sound plan. The result is a smaller caloric intake and a
This medically sound approach to weight loss has been labora- thinner, smaller you.
tory tested and medically proven. In fact it contains the MOST . ; .
POWERFUL REDUCING AID EVER APPROVED FOR PUBLIC RE- IbZ.OtISa l'\il:'lthssz:?sS_Elijt% t102slllgfltrtl:efi'rl;:%dszysU—p ttltr)i7t
LEASE BY THE U.S. GOVERNMENT. The key ingredient, hailed costs you nothing! Return within 10 days and your money

as “the weight loss breakthrough of the century,” has been will be refunded. Take advantage of this no risk offer.

tested at leading universities and weight loss clinics through-
out the country and found to be most effective. Many doc- THE LONGEST JOURNEY BEGINS WITH THE FIRST STEP!
— — — MAIL NO RISK COUPON TODAY

tors specializing in weight loss who charge $50, $100 and r~ F— =
even $200 for the first visit use this proven method. 3-WAY DIET PROGRAM Dept. OD-59
| Box 170, Hollywood, Florida 33020

Fast, instant permanent weight loss can be yours.
NOW YOUR BODY'S INNER FURNACE CAN BE TURNED Yes, | want to try the 3-WAY DIET PROGRAM. Please rush in a plain
wrapper. If | am not completely satisfied | may return it in 10 days for a

ON TO HIGH AND YOUR BODY IS LITERALLY FORCED | rapper. |

T0 BURN AWAY EXCESS FAT. LOSE AS MUCH AS A o full refund. . . '
FULL SIZE THE FIRST WEEK AS THIS SUPER FAT 'Q. 60 Tavet Supply of Doty Sapplement Appetite Reducer and )
BURNER GOES TO WORK. Bulging pockets of fat and | Diuretic (Water Pil) - All 3 Only $8.95 + $1.45 shipping & handling
fluid will be destroyed as you start to look better and (- 120 Tablet Supply - All 3 (Above) Only $17.95 + $1.95 shipping -

, . . o SAVE $3.00 |
feel better. What's more you lose that gnawing craving | = Cash ~ theck 7 Money Order 1 Charge to
for food you always had. The road to lifetime slim- READ THIS 1 Master Charae No : l
ness lies ahead. Before starting on any weight ;V' Bank Ag N I

LEARN HOW TO ATTACK BOTH FAT e e e mabe s | o oo mer: T |
AND FLUIDS yor aveo‘i’rl\ novma; health and yohu'v Bank No. Exp. Date -
) f m 1S being overwes .
LEARN HOW TO LOSE W St e o 0 how | Name |
it | weigh If
e 2.5 LBS. THE VERY FIRST DAY th ot weght sy proge e | Address
o 6.7 LBS. IN ONLY TWO DAYS oty 1one aps and g'" . !
e 10-12 LBS. IN JUST SEVEN DAYS hydrotherapy is the most etfec L_m_e T e e = - — ZT p

tive approach 1o weight problems

ever developed by medical science.  Qutside U.S.A. Add $2.00 — Total Price $13.40 © 1979 3-WAY DIET PROGRAM
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District Justice Eugene DiFilippo ruled
this past March that the state had produc-
ed enough evidence to hold without bail
Bruce Johnston, Sr., 39, and two of his
brothers, David Johnston, 31, and Nor-
man Johnston, 28, in connection with the
death of six persons. Bruce Johnston s ac-
cused of murdering six people who went
to police with information about his il-
legal activities. David and Norman
Johnston are charged with murder in five
of the killings.

The Johnston brothers, authorities
claim, headed up an interstate burglary
ring that did a million dollar business
(Blood-Thirsty Rampage of the Ridge
Runners, June FRONT PACGE, 1979).

In - the preliminary hearing, which
lasted eight days, the brothers heard
testimony from Dr. Halbert Fillinger, the
Philadelphia medical examiner. Dr.
Fillinger described how Robin Miller, a
girl friend of one of Bruce Johnston’s
sons, suffocated in her own blood as the
result of a bullet fired through her chirl.
David and Norman Johnston are charged

12

with this crime which, authorities allege,
Bruce Johnston, Sr., paid them $15,000 to
commit. The doctor also testified that
Gary Crouch, a member of the Johnston
clan, died of a single bullet fired through
the base of his skull. Bruce Johnston, Sr.
and Leslie Dale are charged with this
crime.

Johnston’s son, Bruce, Jr., suffered
eight bullet wounds in the ambush that
took Robin Miller’s life. He survived the
attack and is testifying against his father
and uncles.

The attack against Bruce, Jr. and his
girl friend, prosecutors allege, was the
result of Bruce's testimony before a grand
jury about the family’s alleged burglary
activities. Bruce went before the grand
jury because, he claims, his father once
raped Robin Miller.

Also testifying at the hearing were two
of the men involved in the killings. They
agreed to testify in exchange for lighter
sentences.

Leslie Dale testified that he was

- offered $8,000 to kill James Sampson in

¥

The Johnston brothers. (Left to right) David, 31, Bruce, Sr., 39, and Norman, 28. They are charged with murder.

August, 1978. He did not, he claimed,
commit the crime, but only “played
along,” intending to take the money and
flee. Others, he said, killed James Samp-
son. Dale did, however, admit to murder-
ing Gary Crouch two years ago.

Dale decided to testify against the
Johnston brothers after he learned that
he, too, was slated for a bullet. In ex-
change for his testimony, Dale got a 10 to
40 year sentence.

Ricky Mitchell, 37, was the second man
to testify against the brothers. He is
charged with the same five murders as
David and Norman Johnston. In ex-
change for his testimony, Mitchell will
receive a single life sentence and a possi-
ble early medical release as an epileptic.

In addition to Robin Miller and Gary
Crouch, prosecutors claim that James
Johnston, a stepson of Bruce Johnston,
Sr.; Gary Sampson; Wayne Sampson; and
Duane Lincoln were also killed by the
Johnston brothers.

The trial may be held this summer.

(Continued on page 58)
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FOSTER-TRENT proudly presents the 25th Jubilee Model of the famous
POWERHOUSE BINOCULARS. This Gigantic “SUPER 60" was created in
Europe after years of extensive research. It's chock full of revolu-
tionary new design ideas, such as Fluted Barrels for extra strength . . .
Variable Focusing for smoothe, pull-in power — from 60 Yards or 60
Miles away! Best of all, GIANT 60MM Objective Lenses for massive
light gathering power. You'll get terrific views even in murky weather!
Now, any reader of this publication can own these superb binoculars
at rock-bottom cost.

PERFECT FOR SPORT FANS . . . NATURE LOVERS!
GREAT FOR SECRET SURVEILLANCE!
The Giant 60MM Lenses pull in the thrilling actio. . . . even from the
bleachers. Study wild animals without disturbing them. Enjoy thrilling
vistas from 60 MILES AWAY. See without being seen . . . it's fun to
be your own detective. Study suspicious strangers from the privacy of
your own home. is it any wonder that over 2 MILLION Powerhouse
Binoculars have been sold to date? .

TRY THEM ON 30 DAY FREE HOME TRIAL!
No Risk . . . No Obligation. Enjoy them for 1 full month before de-
ciding. If you're not 100% satisfied return them for a full, immediate
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with Tinted Lenses.

® SURPRISE GIFT
GIVEN JUST FOR TRYING THESE
AMAZING BINOCULARS

VALUE UP TO $5.00!

One free gift given with each bin
ocuiar you order. Original value to
$5.00. All gifts are yours to KEEP
FREE — even if you return our fa-\
mous nonprismatic binoculars for
refund! It's our way to say, “Thank
You for shopping with us.” So tor a
pleasant surprise rush the coupon
below today. You have so much to
Lgam and you risk nothing.

FOSTER TRENT INC. Dept. 925-R .
2345 Boston Post Road, Larchmont, N. Y. 10538
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tnclude Carry-Straps and Cover-Seals for leases at no extra cost. Also send me a valuable
SURPRISE GIFTc—mme to keep absolutely free-—even if | return binoculars for refund

HECK QUANTITY WANTED BELOW
. ONE BINOCULAR. ! enclose $7.88 - 72¢ postage & handling

— TWO BINOCULARS. | enclose'$14 - $1 postage & handiing.

1 THREE BINOCULARS. | enclose $19 for postpaid delvery. (YOU SAVE $7.80.).

~ DELUXE MODEL—No. 2195 — $9.88 plus 72¢ postage & handiing.
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SORRY . .. NO COD's. Please send check. m.o.. or cash for prompt delivery

% SPECIAL *
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DeLuxe Model (not Ifustra-
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above Model PL"" Tinted
Lenses and New Boay Design.
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— $9.88 Each.
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by BOB MARTIN

OLIVETTE, MO, FEB. 15, 1978

@ Mrs. Estelle Stern was 68 years old
when she was murdered. She wasa quiet
woman, a widow, who lived alone in the
9500 block of Indian Meadows Drive,
Olivette. The community is a suburb of
St. Louis and enjoys a low incidence of
crime. Neighbors anxious about Mrs.
Stern’s well being did not expect to find
her the victim of violence.

They had not seen the woman since
noontime. It was now after 10 p.m. Mrs.
Stern was nearly always seen working in
her flower beds as soon as the weather
turned warm. Because of her age and the
fact that she lived alone, some of the
women on the block kept an eye on her.
They either telephoned or dropped in
regularly to see if she needed anything.
When Mrs. Stern had not answered her
telephone on May 19, 1975, her neighbors
decided to investigate.

They found Mrs. Sternlying face down
in her hallway. Three kitchen knives had
been buried deeply in her back. Blood

soaked her dress and the carpet under

her. :

The women paled. One of them gas-
ped, “Oh, my God!” Another said, “She’s
dead!” They moved quickly out of the
house and hurried to a telephone. The
Olivette police department desk man
took the call. Minutes later Sergeant
Robert Terry pulled up in front of the
house and spoke briefly with the women
who'd found the body.

Sergeant Terry went into the hallway
alone, stayed for a minute or two, then
came out and walked briskly to his car.
He radioed the Major Case Squad in St.
Louis and reported the murder.

While he waited for the Squad to arrive
he jotted down the names and addresses
of the women standing outside the vic-
tim’s home. He wanted to know if they
had touched anything in Mrs. Stern’s
house. Had they touched the body? The
handles of the knives? The walls?

They said they hadn't touched the
body or the knives, but they couldn’t be
sure about anything else. They’d been
upset, they said. It had been a shock to
find the woman dead.

Sergeant Terry suggested that they
return to their homes. The officer then
returned to the house and made a cursory
investigation. The rooms had not been
ransacked. He had no way of knowing if
any valuables were gone, but the televi-
sion set was in place and all the drawers
and closets were closed, indicating that
the attacker had not had robbery in mind.

The victim was fully dressed, so it
wasn’t likely that the killer’s motive had
been rape. The medical examiner would
make the final determination on that
angle, however, but the sergeant knew
enough about rape-murders to know that
the suspects rarely, if ever, dress their vic-
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Gerald Garrett stands accused of
murdering two elderly women. Po-
lice suspect robbery as the motive.

KILLER

THREE
KNIVES
INHER
BAGK

tims after they've committed the act.
Members of the Major Case Squad
arrived. Sergeant Terry filled in the
homicide detectives on the victim’s name
and how she had been discovered. Crime
lab technicians had priority at this stage
of the probe, while detectivesstayed out-
side of the house and out of their way.
The body was photographed from
various angles in black and white and in
color. The walls in the hallway were
photographed as well as the doors. All of
the rooms were photographed.
Fingerprint men dusted the handles of
the knives and the walls in the hallway.
One of these men fingerprinted the vic-

. tim. The other print men dusted all of the

wood in the other rooms and gave special
attention to the drawer in the kitchen
where Mrs. Stern kept her silverware,
since it was obvious to the probers that
the weapons used on the woman were
kitchen knives.

Other technicians prowled around the
outside of the house in search of foot-
prints in the flower beds. Still others
noted that the side door of the house was
open and that the storm door was unlock-
ed. Apparently, the killer had used this
entrance coming and going. Fingerprints
men dusted this door and the storm door
thoroughly.

Finally, the technicians went outside to
talk to Sergeant Terry. They wanted the
names and addresses of the neighbors
who had made the discovery. They then
went to the women’s homes to fingerprint
them in the event that they had touched
anything in the victim’s house.

At that point an ambulance arrived to
take Mrs. Stern to the county morgue for
autopsy. St. Louis County officers pulled
up to aid in the investigation. Police
cruisers from four law enforcement agen-
cies choked the street in front of the vic-
tim’s house—Olivette PD, St. Louis Pd,
St. Louis County PD, and the Bridgeton
PD. Detective Sergeant Donald Stein-
man was with the latter department and
he and St. Louis County officer Paul
Weindel and Sergeant Terry entered the
house to conduct a deeper probe.
Patrolmen controlled the small crowd
that had gathered outside.

Attendants in the hallway prepared the
body for removal. It was wrapped in a
sheet and lifted onto a stretcher. Officer
Paul Weindel squatted next to the spot
where the body had lain and threw his
beam on the rug. The only clue he came
up with was a single hair about nine in-
ches long. It did not look as though it
belonged to Mrs. Stern. Hebagged it and
used a pair of tweezers to pick up more
hair which was much shorter and did not
look like it had come from the victim’s
head.

While the officers were in the hallway,
homicide men from the Major Case
Squad discovered $165 in Mrs. Stern’s
bedroom. They also found a shoe box
containing $100 in change.
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Olivette, Missouri, a St. Louis suburb. Residents were shocked when a neighborhood man was charged with murders.

Hard-digging work by Missouri detectives brought the
widow’s alleged slayer to trial where he was found guilty.
But a judge turned him loose on appeal and while he
roamed free there was another murder in the tiny town
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Human
’ Touch

MUTT AND THEF T—Satan is in police
custody. So is Satan’s owner and another
youth. Satan is a big black dog and he is
alleged to have aided his master and an
a plice in two muggings in Brooklyn.

Twice, police say, Satan jumped to his
master’s command. Once he bita woman
in the right leg. “We want your groceries,
the dog is hungry,” said the muggers as
they made off with the woman’s
purchases. A few hours later, Satan
pounced again. This time his master
made off with a woman’s camera and
other equipment valued at $500. Police,
armed with descriptions of the youths
and the dog, arrested them. The youths
were booked on charges of robbery,
grand larceny, possession of stolen
property, and possession of a dangerous
instrument—Satan. Satan is being held
for the ASPCA.

LETTER OF THE LAW—The com-
plaint was common enough. There were
too many muggings, rapes, and robberies
in the New Haven, Connecticut

neighborhood. Ten irate residents wrote
a letter to the edltor of the local

WE WANT A SAFER X,
Nﬂéﬂﬁoﬁﬂaﬂﬂ//(

newspaper, demanding better pollce
protection. The return address on the
letter was a surprise, though. 245 Whalley
Avenue is the site of the county jail. The
letter was signed by the residents of
Cellblock C. One inmate’s wife was
afraid to visit him because of crime in the
prison area. “If you are not safe entering
and leaving a correctional center,”
lamented the cons, “where are you safe?’
City officials agreed: they increased
lighting in the area and beefed up police
patrols.
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It was obvious now that robbery could
not have been the motive for the murder.
But what had been the motiv re? The
woman’s neighbors had already stated
that Mrs. Stern had no enemies. They had
notseen any strangers lurking in the area.
Mrs. Stern had gotten along well with
everyone.

In the kitchen, detectives opened cup-
board doors and cabinet drawers. In one
of the drawers there were a dozen screw-
drivers of various sizes. In another there
were kitchen utensils. The cupboards
held items usually found in kitchens.

One homicide man said, “This doesn’t
make sense. Somebody came in the side
door, grabbed three kitchen knives out of
a drawer, stuck them in the woman’s
back, and then left. Why? What did he
want?”

Another detective - who held the
woman'’s purse said, “He could have got
what he wanted.” He dumped the con-
tents of the purse on a table and fingered
the items. “No coin purse,” he said.
“Most women carry them. Thekind with
the little metal clasp.”

“Maybe this one didn’t,” said another
investigator. “Don’t forget the shoe box.
That was full of change.”

It had been a stab at coming up with a
motive, but a weak one. If thekiller had
taken her change purse he would have
also ransacked the house in search of
more money, the sleuths agreed.

Another point on which they agreed
was that the killer must have known the
woman. He knew that she never locked
the side door. But who was he? A repair-
man? A delivery boy? The neighbors
also knew about that unlocked side door.
Some of them had already mentioned it
to Detective Sergeant Terry. One of
them could have slipped in and out again
without arousing suspicion.

A canvass was conducted immediately.
Some of the residents had already been
approached earlier. They were question-
ed again. The legwork continued the
next day and the next. No one
remembered seeing anything unusual
near Mrs. Estelle Stern’s home or on the
block. As far as anyone knew, the woman
had never had any trouble with service
people in the area.

The autopsy indicated that the three
knives in the victim’s back had punctured
her lungs and heart. Shehad not been sex-
ually molested.

Crime lab technicians had not been
able to find any prints on the knife
handles, but they had come up with a
single print on the wall in the hallway. It
was about four feet up from the floor. It
did not belong to Mrs. Stern, nor to any of
the women who had entered the home
and found the body.

Another print was found in the drawer
in which the woman kept her kitchen
knives. This too, did not belong to the vic-
tim or the women.

Homicide detectives on the case read

the crime lab’s report but were not too
elated by it. “What good’s a print without
asuspect?” oneasked. “If we can’t match
it with somebody it's a waste.”

Of course, it wasn't quite a waste. It
opened a new avenue of investigation,
although a tough one. Detectives had to
pull the files on all known felons in
Olivette and surrounding communities
and go through them to find a match. It
was tedious work, the kind not at all
relished by detectives. But it had to be
done.

The files were pulled. Detectives got
busy. Card after card was taken out,
checked with the prints found at the
murder scene, and then replaced.

Other homicide men ran abackground
check on Mrs. Stern to see if there had
been any incident in her past which may
have provoked the sudden attack. They
found nothing. Still other investigators
continued to canvass the 9500 block and
blocks nearby. They, too, found no leads.

The next step in the probe was to
fingerprint every service individual who
had made recent visits to Mrs. Stern’s
home. These included carpenters,
plumbers, electricians, painters, and
delivery boys. All of these people were
contacted. It was explained to them why
their prints were needed. They agreed to
be fingerprinted, but the sleuths got
nowhere in this area, either. They did not
find a match.

The investigation was rapidly becom-
ing bogged down. No new anveues had
been opened up for the detectives to ex-
plore. There were no leads. Clues were
scarce. All they had were two printsand a
nine-inch human hair that had been found
under the body. But it could have been
there for days. Other hairs had been
found on the rug but they had proved to
be nonhuman.

Detectives were confounded by the
fact that threeknives had been used in the
murder. Why? In most cases a killer
would use one knife and then take it with
him, especially if he wore no gloves and
suspected that his prints were on the han-
dle.

Two homicide men paid another visit
to the victim’s home, which had been
locked and sealed by police. They broke
the seal and went in. “Has to be
something in here we overlooked,” said
one.

The other didn’t think so.
lab boys go through a place,”
“nothing’s overlooked.”

Nevertheless, the two went through the
rooms, re-examining everything. They
found nothing in the way of clues. In the
hallway they tried again to reconstruct
what had happened. “She must have
been standing here with her back to the
killer,” said one.

“After he stuck the first knife in she
probably fell to the floor, then hestuck in
the other two,” said the other.

“She didn’t scream. At least, nobody

“When the
he said,



Now—enjoy a life of unbelievable riches, lasting love and constant
protection with the secrets in this startling WITCH BOOK—

B 5 THE MAGIC POWER OF WITCHCRRET

Whatever it is you need or want, Witchcraft can get it for you quickly,
easily, and automatically, say these experts. You'll discover how it can bring
abundant and overflowing wealth, find or bring back a lover, ward off evil in-
fluences, and much more—step-by-step in plain English, with complete easy-

to-follow instructions!

Yes . . . Witchcraft! Every time you hear
the word it brings with it the feelings of
deep occult secrets—secrets that you would
like to know so that your life can be better;
so .that your enemies will stop bothering
you; so that serenity, love, power and com-
fort can be yours!

THE MAGIC POWER OF WITCHCRAFT lays bare these
secrets for the first time! Do you want a bank account bursting at
the seams with money? A love life that would make a sultan en-
vious? Supreme power to crush your enemies and reward your
friends? What would it be worth to you lo utter a simple incanta-
tion that would cause any pain to vanish? Or say another, and im-
mediately recover some lost object?

‘What would it be worth to you to fly through time and space, on
astral wings, as Witches do . . . go wherever you wish . . . do what-
ever you wish . . . without being detected . . . watch the antics of
others behind closed doors . . . hear private conversations . . . make
time run forward or backward . . . read tomOITow’s newspaper in
a “black mirror” . . . find out what really happened in history . . .
make your face old or young at will!

BRINGS AUTOMATIC ASSURED SUCCESS!

Witchcraft can bring your heart’s desire! You can use it to heal
someone, influence the boss to give you that raise, or make some-
one stop bothering you! it’s easy! The easiest thing in the world!
You don’t have to be wealthy or super-intelligent to get started!
Thousands of ordinary people all over the world are using Witch-
craft Power right now!

Witches have known for centuries that people are scared of them
and their powers! And rightly so! NOW YOU CAN SHARE THE
SAME POWER that gives you—literally—life and death control
over other persons! Is someone bothering you? No problem at all,
with Magic Wiichcraft. For example, there is a spell called the
“Cross Not My Path” ritual, for people who are having neighbor
trouble. When you use it, you know you will never again have
trouble with this neighbor!

With these amazing Witchcraft secrets, other people will look up
to you—in awe—youw’ll automatically dazzle others with your power
to make things happen at your will, you'll be Master of your des-
tiny, and never have 1o apologize to anyone for anything!

Whatever you want or need, whatever frustration is bothering
you, Witchcraft will help you. It is not evil—nor is it Black Magic.
Like electricity, it is simply a power given by nature for the use of
men, to make life easier.

You'll see how to get paid without working . . . how to get ex-
pensive clothes and furs FREE . . . how to get a first-class plane
seat FREE . . . how 1o vacation at the finest hotels, motels, pools
and pleasure palaces, start living jike a millionaire as Witches do!

AMAZING TECHNIQUE HAS HELPED THOUSANDS!

Witchcraft secrets like these can make you rich faster than any-
thing else in the world! Here’s how others have used them to make

Now! Let This Amazing Witch Book Bring You
INFINITE WEALTH, FINE POSSESSIONS,
A COMFORTABLE NEW HOME, FINANCIAL
SECURITY, LOVE, CONTROL OVER OTHERS,
And More—Easily And Automatically!

For centuries, these Witchcraft secrets were hushed up, so
that those in power could stay in power! Feudal lords kept
their bondsmen as slaves. Factory owners kept their em-
ployees in dreaded sweatshops, because these masters knew
they must not allow their workers to realize that they need
not labor their lives away. Witchcraft was suppressed be-
cause it works! Not because of any “evil” in it. If it hadn’t
worked, no one would have worried about it. If you want to
gain power, all you need is this amazing Witch Book! .

By using these Witchcraft secrets, you too can change
your life and gain héalth, wealth, someone to love—or any-
thing else—surely, swiftly and automatically!

« THE WITCH’S MONEY JAR!—You'll discover the
secret of the Witch's Money Jar, a mysterious jar that fills
with money—whenever you want or need it! All you need is
some water, pennies, and an ordinary jar or bowl! You'll be
amazed at the speed with which it fills with money—a seem-
ingly endless supply of needed cash!

« THE WITCH’S MONEY MAGNET!—You'll see how
to magnetize a dollar bill so that it muitiples! All you need
to make your own Witch’s Money Magnet is a dollar bill, a
green candle, and the words on page 38. Once you do this,
your dollar will double and keep doubling! You'll enjoy
glittering luxuries, and start living like a millionaire, as
Witches do!

« THE WITCH’S BLACK MIRROR!—Just as your TV
set has been called your “window on the world,” so the
Biack Mirror is your “window on the psychic world"—the
world of the unknown. Making your own personal Black
Mirror takes only a few moments and can open the way to
unguessable visions. All you need is a bowl of water, some
ink, and the chant on page 23. Suddenly you will see scenes
from other places and times, or any scene you wish to see!

iN THIS WITCH BOOK YOU'LL DISCOVER . ..

® How to Cast Spells that Really Work!

« Your Magic Window on the World!

¢ Personal Protection!

* Telepathy Made Easy!

« Influencing Others to Do Your Bidding!
« Controlling a Conversation!

* The Technigue of Silent Persuasion!

* Using Witchcralft to Find Friends!

« How to Find the Lover You Want!

« How to Bring Your Perfect Mate to You!
« How to Dominate Others!

« Witchcraft Power for Money!

o Withcraft Power to Make You Irresistible to Others!
« Spells for Finding Lost Objects!

o How to Always Win with Luck Spelis!

o More Power for Bigger Goals!

« Inhaling Cosmic Energy!

« Recharging Your Cosmic Batteries!

© Raising Your Vital Energy Level!

o How to Keep Evil Forces Away!

miracles happen in their daily lives!

You'll see how Vern, a man who likes to give a lot of expensive
parties, was always short of cash until he discovered the amazing
WITCH'S MONEY JAR-now all he has to do is dip in, for it
brings him an endless flow of cash! Evelyn, a waitress, was always
iending money 1o friends, and was always broke. Finally, she placed
her last dollar on the table, and worked the MONEY MAGNET
SPELL over it. All at once, dozens of people who had borrowed
money from her, rushed to pay her back!

Hank was perpetually broke. One night he got together with
some friends, and they decided to cast the MONEY SPELL. The
very next day, Hank received in the mail a check for some $250
worth of insurance. (He had never heard of the company that sent
the check, he was not insured with them, and had never even made
a claim—but he accepted the money.) Another member of the
group that used the spell, a 40-year-old secretary, received an auto-
mobile as a gift! All the other members of the group received amaz-
ing windfalls of money, as well! You'll see how Dexter, a retiree,
lives RENT FREE and receives $200 a week at the age of 78, with
a secret yow'l find in this Witch Book! You'll see how Claudine, a
secretary, was able to wear the finest, most expensive furs—FREE—
and spend weekends at an expensive ski lodge in the mountains,
where she met a wonderful man! How Ruth L., a widow—with noth-
ing but a small pension, and a little savings—received her dream
house, by using a simple S-minute ritual on page 38 of this book!

Using-the same Witchcraft secrets, YOU can achieve peace of
mind and freedom from money worries for the rest of your life!

YOU CAN HEAL YOURSELF AS WITCHES DO!

Feeling sick today? Plagued by a lot of troublesome illnesses?
Perhaps some relative is sick and constantly demanding your atten-
tion? Or perhaps it is even a pet that needs help? With the MAGIC

POWER OF WITCHCRAFT, you can cure anything, say authors _

Gavin and Yvonne Frost: “In our experience . . . we have not
found a single incurable disease!””

e ANDY DISSOLVES A GALLSTONE!—Andy M. developed
galistones. When his iliness became too troublesome to ignore, he
went to a doctor. Urine tests revealed that he was chronically alka-
line. His body was badly out of balance. Using this Witchcraft
method to restore balance to the mind and body—in a short while,
X-rays showed that he had no more gallstones! Andy never again
suffered the excruciating pain of passing stones!

In the same way, say Gavin and Yvonne Frost, almost all illness
can be prevented. You are actually employing an ancient Witch-
craft method to remove diseased tissue! Even if you do not have
any belief in the results, the power will work for you!

One woman, who had been in a wheelchair for 26 years, due to
polio and arthritis, used the Witchcraft healing method, and re-
poried that she had no pain and could walk and garden again! A
man reported that his son’s deep 3rd degree burns Tiraculously
healed overnight!

* SO SIMPLE A CHILD USES IT!—A 4-year-old gir] asked if
she could try to heal a man who was limping—due to a torn liga-
ment—with this simple Witchcraft healing method. In a matter of
moments, she started her chant, laying her hands on the weak
ankle. The man was miraculously cured! To skeptics, this should
be convincing PROOF that anyone can use it!

AMAZING POWER CAN BE YOURS!

Whether you want infinite wealth, or just a comfortable new
home, financial security, fine p i love, ionship, new
health and vigor, power 1o control others, secret knowledge, pro-
tection from evil, or anything else, the magic power of Witchcraft
can bring it to you quickly, easily and automaticaily! It's the easiest
thing in the world!

* HOW TO SEE INTO THE FUTURE!—Would you like to be
abie to see the future? You CAN with the magic Black Mirror you'll
see how to make on page 23. All you need is some ink and a bowl of
water. Then use the chant on this page, and you will be able to see
many things. One man uses it to read tomorrow’s newspaper. YOU
can use it to check the stock market or that important horse race!

o MAKE TIME RUN BACKWARD OR FORWARD!--A

PROGRESS BOOKS, LTD.
3200 Lawson Bivd., Oceanside, N.Y. 11572

MEET THE AUTHORS

GAVIN FROST, B.Sc., Ph.D., D.D., is Archbishop of the
Church of Wicca, New Bern, North Carolina with national
headquarters in Salem, Missouri, branches in several states
and worldwide membership. He is Marshal of the Gold Star
of England, with the right to wear the Saffron Robe and
one of the very few Witches in the Western Hemisphere
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heard any screams.”

“Then the guy walked through the
rooms to the side door and left.”

Both men stared long and hard at the
bloodstained rug at their feet. Finally,
one said, “Were not .accomplishing
anything here.”

They left the house, locked it up, and
sealed it again. They stood on the walk
for a few minutes, looking around. One
of them studied the lawn. The grass
needed cutting. He said, “AsIremember
it, this lawn had been well manicured.”

“It was,” said the other.

“Think Mrs. Stern cut it herself?”

“I doubt it. She was 68. That’s hard
work.” )

“It’s not so hard if you have an electric
mower, or a gas job.”

The men walked to the garage and
looked around. There was no lawn
mower inside. “So she must have con-
tracted somebody to doit,” said ont of the
homicide detectives. “Let’s ask around.”

One neighbor recalled that Mrs. Stern
had had two boys cut her lawn two days
before she had been murdered. Did she
know their names? She said she did not.
She knew only that one boy was white,
the other black.

The investigators knew of only one
black family in the neighborhood. They
lived in the 1100 block of Brightling
Drive. Afew minutes later the detectives
were in the house and talking with Gerald
D. Garrett, 18. He admitted that heand a
youth named Gary Haines had cut Mrs.
Stern’s grass. He was asked if hehad gone
inside the woman’s house and Gerald said
he hadn’t, nor had Haines.

Garrett was told that his fingerprints
would be needed. He did not object.
Arrangements were made to have him go
to Olivette Police Headquarters. The of-
ficers then asked him for Gary Haines ad-
dress.

Later that day the investigators spoke
to Haines. The young man’s story did not
agree with Garrett’s, nor with the victim’s
neighbor’s. Haines said they had cut Mrs.
Stern’s grass on the day she was
murdered. He also stated that they had
been in the woman’s house for water.
The youth said that hehad stepped inside
the house. He had not seen Garrett go in,
but it was Garrett who had broughthima
glass of water.

. Haines did not remember what time
this transaction had taken place: (The
medical examiner said that Mrs. Stern
had been stabbed between 12:30 and 4:00
p.M.). Gary Haines also said that Garrett
had gone into the woman’s house to get a
screwdriver to adjust the lawn mower,
which hadn’t been necessary, Haines
said, because he had one in his pocket.

The investigators told the young man
that he could help them in their investiga-
tion of the murder if he agreed to have his
fingerprints taken. Haines said he would
do so. .

Two days later police had a fingerprint
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match. Detectives returned to Gerald
Garrett’s house for further talks. They
reminded him that he’d said he had not
been in Mrs. Stern’s house on the day she
died, yet his fingerprint had been found
on the wall in the hallway, and another
had been found on the drawer where she
kept her kitchen knives.

Garrett then changed hisstory. Hesaid
hehad goneinto her house to get a glass of
water. Had he gone in for anything else?
Yes, he said. He had wanted a screw-
driver to adjust the lawn mower.

One of his interrogators asked, “Did
she have one?”

The youth said she did not have one,
that she told him to go- to the kitchen
drawer and take a butter knife.

The investigators brought Garrett to
Mrs. Stern’s home. In the kitchen, one of
the detectives opened a drawer. Inside
were 12 screwdrivers. Garrett appeared
stunned.

The officers asked him if he had
murdered Mrs. Stern.  Garrett denied it,
saying he had been with friends that
afternoon.

Nevertheless, Gerald Garrett
arrested and charged wtih murder.

In August 1975 a St. Louis County
grand jury heard the evidence against the
suspect and brought in an indictment.
The following February Gerald Garrett
was brought to trial in the St. Louis Coun-
ty Circuit Court, Judge John R. Rickhoff
presiding. The charge against the defen-
dant was first degree murder. The jury
consisted of ten men and two women.

True to his word, the defendant did
produce four witnesses who claimed Ger-
ald Garrett had been with them during
the afternoon of the murder. One of them
took the witness stand. She said that she
and a friend had gone to Garrett's home
and had “stayed no more than a minute.”
All three then went to the home of
another friend, where they stayed
through a thunderstorm. The witness
said the storm had taken place between
3:45 and 4:00 pm

On cross examination, assistant
prosecuting attorney Steven H. Goldman
asked the witness what time she had
arrived at Garrett’s house. She told him
around three o’clock. Referring to his
notes, Goldmanreminded her that she had
told detectives that she had shown up at
2:00 p.m. The woman attributed the diff-
erence to her nervousness during question-
ing by police, but now said that she’d
arrived at the Garretthome “more around
3:00 p.Mm. than 2.7

The prosecution displayed enlarged
photos of the two fingerprints found in
Mrs. Stern’s home. Gary Haines took the
witness stand for the prosecution to ex-
plain what he had told officers earlier
about going into the woman’s home for
water. He also mentioned Garrett’s need
for a screwdriver, and about the defen-
dant going back into the house for one
despite the fact that Haines had a screw-

was

‘own defense.

driver in his pocket.

Gerald Garrett took the stand in his
He explained his
movements that day to the court, confir-
ming the defense witness’ statements. He
charged that the policemen who had
taken the stand for the prosecution had
lied about him, that hehad not denied be-
ing in thewoman’s house. Garrett told the
court, “The police officers showed me
blood and stuff on the floor and asked me
why I did it. I said I didnt do it.”

Assistant Prosecutor Goldman placed a
photo in front of the defendant. It show-
ed the woman with three knives in her
back. Goldman asked, “Did you place
these knives in Mrs. Stern’s back?”

In a voice barely audible, Garrett said,
No, I did not.”

The prosecution then unleashed a sur-
prise witness. This individual stated that
Mrs. Stern had complained about the way
Garrett and Haines had mowed her lawn,
insisting that the youths had cut the lawn
two days before the woman was found
dead.

After a week of testimony the jury
retired to deliberate its verdict. When it
returned to the courtroom the foreman
stated that thejurors had found the defen-
dant guilty of second degree murder.

Garrett was sentenced to 30 years in
prison. But that was far from the end of it.

Garrett’s attorney filed a motion for
appeal with the Missouri Court of
Appeals in St. Louis. Since the prosecu-
tion admitted that it had won its case on
circumstantial evidence, an appellate
judge decided to release Garrett on a
$35,000 bond.

The young man returned to his home
and his attorney began work on the
appeal.

That was in March, 1976. A little more
than one year later, April 3, 1977, a Sun-
day, Olivette’s fire department was sum-
moned to put out a blaze in a home on
Brightling Drive. It was 10:00 p.Mm.

When firemen broke in with hoses they
found five separate fires—one in the
kitchen, one in the living room, one in the
dining room, and one in each of the two
bedrooms. That told them immediately
that an arsonist had been at work. Inone
of the bedrooms they found a burning
mattress on the floor. They lifted it to
snuff out the blaze.

Under it was thebody of awoman. She
was clad in pajamas. There wasblood on
her throat, neck, face and head. Her ab-
domen was badly burned.

The fires in the house were ex-
tinguished. Then a call was placed to
Olivette’s police chief Robert D. Cole.
Minutes later he arrived at the home with
Major Robert Lowery, head of the St.
Louis Major Case Squad.

The dead woman was identified as
Mrs. Agnes Grote, a 78-year-old widow
who lived alone. Cole and Lowery look-
ed at the body and to their practiced eyes

(Continued on page 57)
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FOUND ONCRIMSON

by MICHAEL PETERS

WHITE PLAINS, N. Y,

MARCH 3, 1979

® The invisible line which is the
Westchester-New York border is in many
ways as formidable a delineation of
lifestyle as the high brick wall separating
east and west Berlin. On one side lies the
grim fastness of the Bronx, the most
downtrodden of the five boroughs. Op-
posing it is the golden ghetto to which
much of Manhattan’s executive elite
retreats each night, returning in the mor-
ning for another lap in the big city rat
race. The Bronx is gray and dirty, black
and brown-skinned, and old; Westchester
is green and white and fresh and new. But
what divides thém most is money. The
Bronx has very little. Westchester, except
for a few emerging pockets of poverty,
has almost more than it knows what to do
with.

To Dr. Seymour Cohen, who spent a
large part of his medical career looking
inside the pinched stomachs of patients at
Montefiore Hospital in the Bronx,
Westchester represented the payoff for
years of toil. When it was time for him to
abandon the Bronx, an office on
Mamaroneck Avenue in the growing city
of White Plains, a few miles north of New
York, was his reward. And when his prac-
tice prospered so that his monthly income
approached $10,000, a.newer, larger of-
fice an Greenridge Avenue seemed a
necessity. So did the brand new con-
dominium at Hillside Place in the ex-
clusive residential community of Mt.
Pleasant.

Dr. Cohen became such a confirmed
Westchesterite that when, in April, 1976,
following the breakup of a marriage
which produced two daughters, he took a

second bride, he had the ceremony per-
20

Dr. Seymour Cohen was found shot
through the head. Forensic study
pointed to murder, not suicide.

formed by the mayor of White Plains.

His friends and patients and
professional colleagues agreed that
Seymour Cohen was a man to be admired
and respected and perhaps eventobe en-
vied.

“He was a terrific doctor,” afellow gas-
troenterologist would recall. “He had a
large practice which brought him alot of
money, and he deserved every cent of it.
He took outstanding care of his patients.
It was a classic success story.”

Classic, too, was the doctor’s one great
disappointment, a secret carefully hidden
from all but those very few persons who
knew him best. For despite his great

SOAKED SHEETS
WITH A SINGLE
SLUGINHISHEAD

professional success, Dr. Cohen was
destined to have little luck in his personal
life. By the late summer of 1976, some
four months after the ceremony in the
White Plains’ mayor’s office, his second
marriage was already on the rocks. He
had left the new condominium and his
new bride, Patricia, and at the age of 43

was formulating plans for another
divorce.
Around midnight, Saturday,

September 25, 1976, a frantic call for help
sent a team of Mount Pleasant police of-
ficers racing to the Cohen condominium
in the still-incomplete Hillside Place
development. When they arrived, they
were taken into the bedroom by the doc-
tor's estranged wite, Patricia. In the
broad double bed, atop crimson-soaked
sheets, was Dr. Seymour Cohen, quiet,
unmoving, barely alive. Lying near him
was a .380 Spanish automatic pistol,
presumably the same one from which a
single slug had been fired into his head.

Dr. Cohen was rushed to Northern
Westchester Hospital in Mt. Kisco, where
a team of surgeons was already being
assembled. Paramedics in the ambulance
radioed ahead that there was a bullet en-
try wound in the right side of the head
and an exit wound in the left side. At the
emergency room it was determined that
immediate surgery was required for there
to be any chance of saving the doctor’s
life. In preparation, the area of the head
surrounding the entry wound was shaved
to provide easier access to the bullet hole.

His professional colleagues worked
hard to preserve Dr. Cohen’s ebbing life.
But they were fighting a losing battle
from the start and at 3:45 a.m., despite
their valiant efforts, he died on the
operating table. At once, police were in-
formed of his death.

By that time, officers had already taken



Dr. Cohen first practiced at Montefiore Hospital, then moved to White Plains.

But was it suicide or murder? New York sleuths
worked for about 11 months on Seymour Cohen’s
case before they thought they had an answer—
and then they had to fight in court to prove it

a statement about the shooting trom
Patricia Cohen. Under the gentle
questioning of Mount Pleasant Detective
Anthony Curto, an 18-year veteran of the
force, the grieving widow had explained
that her husband had phoned her on Fri-
day afternoon to say that he would be
stopping by the condominium to see her.
To her surprise, when he arrived that
evening he was carrying a bottle of red
wine. :

Asked, later, about Mrs. Cohen’s ac-
count of her husband’s death, Detective
Curto would recall in detail the woman’s
remarks.

“He was telling her that things were
getting heavy for him,” Curto said. “He
was in debt. He said, ‘T'd like to get the
hell out of here.” She said he was at times
very disturbed.”

Patricia Cohen told the lawman that
she and her husband had gone to an up-
stairs bedroom and gotten undressed.

“She put on a short nightie and under-
pants,” Curto said. “He was nude.”

Dr. Cohen, according to his wife’s
story, had taken eight or nine seconal
tablets that evening and when he tried to
make love to her, he failed.

“He was staggering, incoherent,” Curto
said Mrs. Cohen told him. “He fell off the
bed on several occasions. She had to hold
him up to take him to the bathroom.”

Mrs. Cohen was vague about some of
the details of the next few minutes. She
recalled, though, that the phone rang
several times and to stop it from bother-
ing them they placed some pillows over
it. .
“I’'m going to die tonight of respiratory
failure,” Dr. Cohen told his wife, Curto
said. The woman also told the detective
that she fell asleep a short time later and
awoke to the sound of a powerful slam-
ming in her ear. When shelooked around,
she saw that her husband evidently had
shot himself, and so she ran downstairs
and called the police. She added that she
did not remember her husband’s position
in bed, or seeing a gun, because she had
“blanked out.”

Early on Saturday morning, Detective
Curto paid a visit to the Cohen home
where he found the suspected death
weapon and dusted it for fingerprints. He
found none, however, and neither was he
able to turn up any sign of forced entry
into the condominium.

Meanwhile, news of the doctor’s
strange death was spreading throughout
the county and causing problems for in-
vestigators. Mount Pleasant Police Chief
Paul Oliva told reporters that he would
not answer their questions about the inci-
dent. And Thomas Facelle, District At-
torney Carl Vergari’s chief assistant, said,
on Sunday, that:

“We are still awaiting the medical ex-
aminer’s report. We're making no com-
ment.”

Dr. Henry Siegel, the Westchester

County pathologist, said that he did not
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know when areporton Dr. Cohen’s death
would be made available to the press.

Three days later, on Wednesday, Dr.
Lyn Roh of the medical examiner’s office
told reporters that his department was
working with Mount Pleasant policein an
effort at determining the range at which
the fatal bullet was fired into Dr. Cohen.

“lI have no comment on any of the
evidence,” Assistant District Attorney
Facelle said. “A lot of investigation
remains to be done. The sheriff’s office
has been called in to do ballistics work.”

On Tuesday, October 5, ten days after
Dr. Cohen's death, Detective Curto
spoke again with his widow. This time,
Patricia Cohen recalled hearing her hus-
band get out of bed and assuming that he
was going to the bathroom.

“I remember his getting up,” she said.

“1 was falling asleep. He said my name
several times.”
~ Then she described for a second time
the “slamming” noise which jolted her to
full consciouness. When she turned
toward her husband, she said, he was ly-
ing on his back.

“T saw something in the bed which I
thought was a gun,” she added.

As she had during the first interview,
she told Detective Curto that her husband
was ajealous, despondent man beset with
financial problems and addicted to bar-
biturates. Nevertheless, she said, a recon-
ciliation was effected in the hours before
his death.

If there were any developments of im-
portance in the case in the next two
months, police did not make themknown
to the public. On Friday, December 3,
Dr. Roh, the physician in charge of the
medical examiner’s investigation, said
that he would have to receive additional
information from police before he could
be more specific about the doctor’s
death.

Mount Pleasant Police Lieutenant
Frank Algeno said that three of his men
were working the case on a full-time basis
along with investigators from the district
attorney’s office. He expressed the hope
that the probe would be wrapped up by
the end of the month.

But it wasn’'t. The evidence necessary
to substantiate or disprove Patricia
Cohen’s claims that her husband was a
suicide had been discarded with the hair
that was shaved from his head by doctors
on the night of his death.

“If someone only had thought to save
the hair,” a detective said, “we could have
checked if for the presence of powder
burns or nitrate residue. If we found any,
we could be almost sure that the doctor
was shot at close range. It wouldn’t
necessarily prove that he killed himself,
but if there weren’t any burns or residue
we could be all but sure that he hadn't.
This way, we're still in the dark. I don’t
know what were going to do next.”

It would be nearly five months later, in
May, 1977, before the investigators for-
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mulated a satisfactory plan of action.
Although the hair from his head was lost
to them forever, there was a good chance,
they knew, that there were still some
stories his body had to tell. So, on May 6,
under the direction of the district at-
torney’s office, police went to the Sharon
Gardens Cemetery in Valhalla, New
York, and exhumed Dr. Cohen’sremains.
After nearly eight months in the grave,
the body was surprisingly well-
preserved.

Now that the body was in their posses-
sion, the investigators were hopeful of
finding out how far the death weapon
had been held from Dr. Cohen’s head
when it was fired.

“You see the Spanish automatic that
killed him wasn’t like most American-
madeweapons,” adetective said. “Tthas a
plate on the handle which had to be
depressed before the trigger could be
pulled. Because of the plate, the gun had
to be held a certain way in order to be
fired.”

Therefore, in order for the doctor to
have shot himself, he would have had to
have held the weapon in a specific
manner and still have the bullet follow the
trajectory the wound showed.

To test their theory, Dr. Gary Paparo,
Westchester's chief medical examiner,
placed awooden dowel through the entry
and exit wounds in Dr. Cohen’s head.
Then he inserted one end of the dowel
into the muzzle of the gun and placed the
weapon in the doctor’s hand.

Very carefully, Dr. Paparo moved the
gun next to Dr. Cohen’s head and slid the
hand as far back as it would go before the
pressure on the dowel began forcing the
gun off the path the bullet had taken.
Photos were taken during each step of the
procedure. The test showed the doctor
could not have held the gun more than
four inches from his head.

Samples of Dr. Cohen’s skin and un-
derlying tissue were removed for ex-
amination under a microscope. Again, no
indications of powder burns or nitrate
residue were found. How could the doc-
tor have shot himself at arange of four in-
ches and yet there be no powder burns or
nitrate residue?

The evidence acquired as aresult of the
exhumation was the main topic of con-
versation among county police for the
next few weeks. Along with other, recent-
ly developed information about the case
it was almost all they talked about until
Tuesday, August 2, when Patricia Cohen
was arraigned in a White Plains court on
an indictment charging her with second
degree murder, criminal possession of a
weapon, two counts of criminal solicita-
tion in the first degree, and reckless en-
dangerment.

Police said that the woman twice had
tried to hire a killer to get rid of her hus-
band. On July 21, 1976, they claimed, she
had tried to run him over with a car after
he had ordered her to leavehis first wife’s

home.

It was not until Wednesday, January 3,
1979, that Patricia Cohen’s trial got un- -
derway in the White Plains courtroom of
Westchester County Court Judge
Theodore Dachenhausen, Jr. On Thurs-
day, January 11, the prosecution placed
on the stand the former owner of a
Yonkers, New York, stereo shop who
testified that the day before Dr. Cohen
died the defendant had phoned him to
ask for the loan of a gun.

“She said she was afraid for herself and
her son because she was there all alone
and the office next to her apartment had
been burglarized,” he said.

The witness said that he had loaned her
the gun which was registered in Maine,
where he had purchased it, but not in
New York. He also told the court that on
two separate occasions, one of them just
four to six weeks before Dr. Cohen’s
death, Patricia had asked him if he knew
of a hit man for hire. The woman had not
told him who she wanted eliminated, he
said, and he had not taken her seriously.

The witness went on to say that when
Mount Pleasant police traced the gun
back to him he did not tell them of
Patricia’s request because he considered
it a joke. He mentioned it to themn after
hiring a lawyer, he said, “because my gun
was used in a crime and [ knew the cir-
cumstances involved.” He had told police
right away, he said, of a time during the
winter of 1974-1975, when Patricia had
asked him:

“Do you know of anvbody who can
get rid of somebody?™

“She told me she was mad at Dr.
Cohen,” he testified, “that she was going
to go to lawyers and to police to get Dr.
Cohen indicted for billing out phony
prescriptions. She was going to get even
with him.”

On Monday, January 15, Detective
Curto, aresident of Arizona since retiring
from the Mount Pleasant police force in
September, 1978, testified that when he
examined the Spanish automatic, the day
after the shooting, “The weapon
appeared new, shiny and clean. I saw no
fingerprints, just a streak. I applied
fingerprint powder to the weapon and
did not observe any latent prints. I
removed the clip and found no latent
fingerprints on the clip or onthebullet.”

While searching the condominium, he
added, he had found neither another gun,
nor any signs of forced entry. Before leav-
ing the stand, he identified some
bloodstained bedding, draperies from
the couple’s canopied bed, a vial con-
taining two red capsules, and some other
items, including photographs he had
taken at the scene.

On Wednesday, the jury listened to
tape recordings of the statements Patricia
Cohen made to police in the two weeks
following her husband’s death. Although
there were some discrepancies between

(Continued on page 77)
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ONNIEWASRAPED
AND KILLED

WHEN NO ONE

== HEEDED HER

PLEAS FOR HELP

by JOSEPH MCNAMARA

NEW YORK, N. Y., NOV. 29, 1978

® The fiurry of telephone calls to New
York City’s special emergency number
911 sent police scurrying about the Upper
West Side of Manhattan while thelife of a
young blue-eyed woman hung in the
balance.

It was early in the morning of Friday,
November 24, 1978, the day after
Thanksgiving, when police were alerted
that a powerfully built black man was
chasing a screaming white woman down
West 102nd Street. Another caller
reported that the woman had thrown
herself on the hood of a car in a vain effort
to seek the occupant’s aid.

Shortly afterward a person phoned that
the woman was dragged, whimpering,
into an abandoned tenement by her hair.
But the fates seemed to be conspiring
against the dark-tressed victim, who
appeared to be in her 20s. For there was
much confusion and misunderstanding in
the official handling of the incident. And
even the residents of that slum area, to
whom she turned in desperation, did not
comprehend her plight.

For the pretty and petite woman, her
flight of incredible terror ended in a third
floor room at 15 West 102nd Street, in
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death, a death that moved even the most
hardened of police investigators of that
crime infested area.

Sergeant Maurice Collins, of the 24th
Police Precinct, was among a cadre of
cops called to the scene. He was
searching a tenement at 17 West 102nd,
where a neighbor said the woman had
been yanked inside by the hair. It was
8:45 a.M. One by one, hetoured the floors
cluttered by the debris of aneighborhood
in turmoil. As he reached the third floor,
Sergeant Collins looked across the air-
shaft between that building and No. 15
and he saw smoke.

Collins called the fire department, and
an engine company responded about
three minutes later. The firemen rushed
up to the third floor of No. 15to douse the
flames and they were really not prepared
for the horror that greeted them there.

On the floor, stripped naked, lay the
once lovely body of the young victim, her
flesh smouldering, the charred smell
mingling with the smoke of the dwindling
blaze. She had obviously been doused
with an inflammable fluid and set afire
after her clothes had been yanked off in
what appeared to be a savage sexual
assault. She appeared to have been shotin
the head.

A dirty mattress on the bare floor, the

refuge of derelicts and drug addicts, was
the only vestige of the bedroom it once
had been. It was 9:19 a.M,

Detectives of the Fifth Homicide Zone
and the 24th Precinct talked with
eyewitnesses and were led to the auto of
the victim on the street outside, a Toyota.
Both front doors stood open. In the glove
compartment, detectives found a motor
vehicle registration that identified the
owner as Bonnie Anne Bush, 25, of Fair-
view, New Jersey.

There were also papers from Mount
Sinai Hospital, on the East Side across
Central Park. There, officials identified
Bonnie Anne Bush as one of the brightest
and hardest working nurses in obstetrics,
who seemed destined to be named short-
ly to head of the department.

Within several hours, a woman super-
visor climbed the stairs to the third-floor
bedroom at 15 West 102nd Street, walked
past the empty syringes, the tinfoil caked
with melted brown heroin, and looked
down into the sightless blue eyes of the
murdered woman who lay on her back.

“That’s Bonnie Anne Bush,” the
hospital official said softly.

An autopsy, according to Dr. Gita
Natarajan of the Manhattan medical ex-
aminer’s office, showed that Miss Bush
had been shot twice in the head with a



Bonnie Bush:was on her way to work
when a man attacked her. Apathy
ixup caused her death.




9 mm. foreign gun before her body had
been set on fire. Dr. Natarajan said tests
were being conducted to determine if
Bonnie Anne had been sexually assaulted.
Later that day, Bonnie Anne’s father,
owner of a Jersey City, New Jersey
carpet shop and the father of six other
daughters, was notified of her murder.
Bomnie was described as a girl.“with a
beautiful calm in her eyes...very in-
telligent, humble.” Her teacher at St.
Matthew’s grammar school in Ridgefield,
New Jersey, said she had an1Q of 136 and
absorbed everything she was told. She
attended St. Joseph’s High in West New
York and went on to William Paterson
College in Wayne, New Jersey, working
part-time to help defray the expenses.
When one teacher at William Paterson
asked her why she paid such close atten-
tion to the instructipn, she replied;
“Because I work so hard to be here.”
In July, 1974, Bonnie took her state nur-
sing boards in New Jersey and scored
high, going to work for Roosevelt
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Hospital in Manhattan in the obstetrics
ward. She became one of the most
respected nurses in the hospital.

Said one prominent pediatrician there;
“She had a knack for reading people.
Anyone will tell you that Bonnie was one
of the best nurses around.”

Last October 27, Bonnie left Roosevelt
for Mount Sinai, at the same time moving
out of her $270-a-month studio apartment
on West 59th Street, Manhattan, back into
her home in Fairview.

All this was explained to the detectives.
Her father was fearful for her safety in the
subways. He bought her an auto and
doped out the best route for her to get to
work in Mount Sinai. The route led to the
Lincoln Tunnel (the Manhattan side was
20 minutes from her home) and up 10th
Avenue to West 96th Street (another ten
minutes), then east on 96th through Cen-
tral Park to Madison Avenue to the
hospital at 100th Street (another 15
minutes).

On the fateful day of November 24,

1978, Bonnie Anne left her home at 7:24
A.M., running late for the seminar she was
to attend at 8 o’clock at the hospital. She
never got there. Somewhere on West 96th
Street, as homicide detectives
reconstructed the crime, the winsome lass
was confronted by her killer.

As her last minutes of life were being
pieced together, an enraged citizenry was
blistering the police departinent for
“fumbling” emergency calls that some
said could have saved Bonnie’s life. Mis-
cues seemed to be the order of the day.
And on top of that, there was an outraged
cry that 14,403 police officers, about half
the department, had been given off on
that day to take a sergeant’s examination.
A usual weekday 8 a.Mm. to 4 P.M. shift sees
2,000 to 2,500 police officers on duty
throughout New York City, not counting
superior officers. On this day, there were
1, 172 men in blue working the streets, in-
cluding superior officers.

There were also charges that some per-
sons handling 911 emergency calls for



(Left) Wounded in shootout with po-
lice, Nathaniel Giles, Jr. is loaded
into ambulance. (Right) Giles has
a long history of violent crimes.

police were inept, and an internal in-

vestigation was begun.

After questioning all connected with
the case, the homicide detectives
presented this picture of Bonnie’s travail:

Somewhere on West 96th Street Bon-
nie’s killer got into her car at gunpoint
when she stopped for traffic. The killer
was described as a six foot two black
wearing a brown leather jacket. The car
turned north on Central Park West, away
from the route Bonnie had rehearsed with
her dad just before she took the Mount
Sinai job.

At West 102nd Street, Bonnie leaped
from the car and tried to dash to safety.
Her killer jumped from the passenger
side door and pursued her with pistol in
hand. Screaming in terror, the young
nurse ran west on 102nd to Manhattan
Avenue a block away, where she saw a

bakery truck just pulling away from a

delivery.

Rushing to the door of the bakery van,
Bonnie screeched, “Help me! Somebody
help me!”

The van lurched away, knocking the
frantic woman to the street. The driver
and his helper, later located by police,
said they were leery of the woman
because they had once been ripped off by
a hooker who had used the same ap-
proach. .

Now, bruised and limping, her pistol-
armed antagonist still in pursuit, Bonnie
ran up to a man standing by his car at the
corner of 102nd Street. She beseeched
him, but the man got into his auto and
sped off.

Near hysterics, Bonnie ran north on
Manhattan Avenue to a car that was being
warmed up, the driver behind the wheel.
As she approached, the driver locked the
door of the car and ignored her pleas for
help. )

The stricken girl leaped on the hood of
the car and sprawled across it in an
attempt to prevent the motorist from
driving away without her. But, at this
point, the leather-jacketed thug caught
up with Bonnie and grabbed her by the
hair as she lay on the automobile hood.

“My broad’s crazy,” the gunman
shouted to the driver as he dragged Bonnie
off toward 102nd Street, and down the
block to No. 17 where, clutching her dark
locks, he yanked her up the stairs into the
fading brownstone building.

One of the men whodrove away from
the pleading woman did stop at a public
telephone and called emergency number
911 to report an assault in progress. Un-
fortunately he gave the address as 50
Manhattan Avenue, which led cops on a
wild goose chase. Two later calls to 911
also wound up giving investigation of-

ficers the wrong addresses, and it 1s con-
ceivable that as many as six cops were
searching for Bonnie Anne at the very
moment she was being killed. But, they
were searching in the wrong places.

The slayer dragged his victim into 17
West 102nd and up three flights to arear
fire escape and then crossed over the fire
escape to 15 West 102nd, next door. Why
he chose this route was perplexing.

Inside the third floor bedroom, he
stripped his terrified victim and forced
himself sexually upon her, then shot her
twice in the head and set her on fire. By
now police learned from post autopsy
tests that Bonnie Annehad been sodomiz-
ed by her killer. '

All 30 detectives of the Fifth Homicide
Zone were assigned to the search for Bon-
nie Anne’s sex killer, and with the addition
of members of special units, the total men
on the case might have approached 100.

But while the criminal probe went on,
members of the Internal Affairs Division
of the police force were making their own

investigation into reports from citizens
that cops were slow responding to the
alerts.

One witness claimed that he reported
the incident to two police officers who
were drinking coffee in a parked patrol
car at 102nd Street and Central Park
West. It was about 8:30 a.m., the witness
declared.

“They thanked me and said, ‘We'll be
there in a minute,” the witness told
newspaper reporters and police probers.

However, when this same witness
heard shots coming from the 15 West
102nd Street building a half hour later, the
policemen still had not arrived, the
witness alleged.

One woman resident of the street said
that many people were on thesstreet at the
time the nurse was dragged into the emp-
ty building.

“It's no big deal to hear screams in this
area,” said the woman, grown callous
after years of survival in this armpit of

(Continued on page 62)
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“TURNMEOVER,I

Séif»%ewe

by ALAN HOBSON

POMPANO BEACH, FLA., JUNE 9, 1978
@ In detective work, as in politics or news reporting, success lies
often not so much in what you know as who you know. For
lawmen covering certain neighborhoods, as for foreign cor-
respondents digging beyond official handouts, the primary job
may be cultivation of informants. Such neighborhoods are those
where crime is a way of life. Routine police canvass is rarely
productive of evidence or even leads; through fear, indifference,
or collusion, inhabitants are not readily communicative. So in-
vestigators must find, develop, and use informants.

With a carefully handled string of informants a good lawman
can often break a case that might otherwise never be solved. -
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Such a case was the senseless stabbing of 31-year-old Ronald
Chester Peranton, who had been just a week on his job as atten-
dant in the Citgo station at Copans Road and North Dixie
Highway.

This intersection lies just a little east of one of the most vicious
urban jungles in south Florida. A small pocket in the sector south
of Copans and just west of 1-95, it is known as Carver Ranches.
Unconsciously or not, there is bitter mockery in the designation.
Here is none of the fresh-smelling wide open spaces the term
ranches evokes, and the only livestock is human. Bisected by
NW 15th Avenue and NW 18th Street, it consists of a concen-
trated grid of deadend streets, paved but rutted, pocked with
disrepair. Along them, without grass or trees or any relieving
grace, are clustered delapidated cheaply thrown-up project-type
cottages. One, once painted white, houses a church. Another, a



' CAN'T BREATHE”

Accomplices claimed Charles McBride wielded murder knife.

Nearly a year elapsed before Jerry McCloud gave himself up.

These were the last words Ronald Peranton ever spoke.
The Florida homicide squad assigned to his murder
used street smarts to bring the killers to justice

grocery locally known as “The Juke,” serves as town hall, social
club, and drug exchange. Drug trade is a principal business of the
section.

Detective Daniel John Patrick Murray and Detective Stanley
Tipton of the Pompano Beach Police Department (PBPD) are
assigned to this slum, a high-crime area.

The Citgo station on North Dixie, however, is in an unincor-
porated area just north of Pompano Beach, hence under the
jurisdiction of the Broward County Sheriff’s Office (BSO).
Nevertheless, it was Murray who actually solved the Citgo sta-
tion slaying. Peranton’s murder was a case where not only use of
informants but also inter-agency cooperation paid off.

BSO Road Patrolman David, however, was first to reach the
scene shortly after 9 pm Monday, January 3, 1977. On routine
patrol in his marked vehicle, he had been hailed by a group of

people who saw the station attendant stagger out of the garage
area and fall on the apron between the pumps and the office.
Peranton was dead by the time Patrolman David swunghis car
in and got out two minutes later. He roped off the scene and
notified homicide. Captain Sam George left headquarters with
Lieutenant Walter Laun of the technical section and Detective
Bosse, Detective Hutchinson, and Sergeant Dickey. He asked
the duty officer to call Lieutenant Fred W. Thompson of the
robbery section, who was at home, to meet him at the scene.
A crowd had gathered already. Detectives took the witnesses
one by one into a small room behind the office, beyond the
grease racks in the garage. They plugged in the taperecorder for
statements. .
“My brother-in-law and I were driving back from my sister-in-
(Continued on page 64)
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FOURPEOPLE
DIED-- 85455

by MICHAEL LITCHFIELD

LONDON, ENG.,DEC. 11, 1978

@ As her daughter, Jenny, skipped into
the school playground, Mrs. Mary
McArthur waved good-bye to her. Then
she headed back along the same road she
had just walked happily hand-in-hand
with Jenny toward her parked sports car.

It was a few minutes before 9 A.Mm. on
the bitterly cold morming of December 4,
1978 in London, England.

She was just opening the door of her
white Triumph sports car, when she felt
something hard and pointed prodding
her in the lower back.

Mrs. McArthur swiveled round and
found herself facing a rather good-
looking, tall and athletic man in his late
20s. .

She -was about to demand “What the
hell do you think you're doing?” when her
eyes were drawn toward something glin-
ting lower down.

A gun was pointing straight at her
stomach. The barrel of the military com-
bat pistol—cast from a special Swedish
stainless steel —was no more than two in-
ches from her midriff.

Remaining totally impassive, the
young man snarled, “I'll blow out your
guts onto the pavement if you make one
sound! Just put your keys back into your
pocket and get into the driving seat of the
black Mercedes parked just in front of & : ' :
your car. Okay?” Mrs. Mary McArthur was the first person kidnapped and slain in bloody vendetta.

Twenty-six year old Mrs. McArthur
was frozen with fright. Her face had turn- -
ed an unhealthy ashen color, just as if she
was going to faint. Her face was gaunt

o o pated ok her mouth — Five people, really, if you count the unborn

her tongue felt swollen, =~ wn v Daby who perished with his murdered mother.
pallid checks, mesite e feerine | solving the crimes, detectives uncovered

e, [ mnotarich woman. a scheme that made their blood run cold

30




“Just do as you're told, lady,” snapped
the gunman menacingly in a chilly,
clipped manner.

Hesitatingly, Mrs. McArthur made her
way to the Mercedes. She found the driv-
ing seat door open. As she climbed in, the
gunman did likewise, getting into the
front passenger seat.

“I've never driven one of thesebefore,”
she said, telling the truth, but also playing
for time; time to think, time to try to dis-
cover why she was being kidnapped,
time to be sure whether it was really
happening to her or if it was just aterrible
nightmare from which she would wake at
any minute.

As she looked sideways at her ex-
pressionless captor, she could not help
noticing that the pistol was held inside his
sheepskin coat, inclined upwards toward
herheartregion. She shuddered, realizing
that this was no dream, although it was
very much a nightmare.

“These are easy to drive,” he replied in
an even, unemotional voice. “Just put it in
automatic and it drives itself.”

“Where are we going?” she asked, the
fear oozing from her swollen, terrified
eyes and also creeping into her shaky
voice. “Do you know I'm four months
pregnant?”

“So what?” he retorted icily. “Do you
want a medal?”

Mary McArthur’s heart sank at the
callousness of his reply.

“Just follow my instructions,” he told
her. For the next hour the only words
spoken were by him. “A left turn at the
traffic light...turn right at the T-
junction. . keep to the left at the round-
about...” and so on. .

After an hour’s driving, they were in
beautiful rolling countryside between the
towns of St. Albans and Harpingden in
the county of Hertfordshire, just north of
London.

They turned off the main road and
followed a winding, country lane—more
like a cart track—for about a further
three miles. The track twisted around
behind a golf course and a couple of
farms, and Mary McArthur was finally
ordered to stop the carjust on the verge of
a copse, a well-known spot for picnics
and rambles in the summer.

But this was a bitingly, shivering cold
December moring. ..

“Look, if it's sex you want, 'm not
stupid enough to try to offer any
resistance,” said Mary, starting to plead
and bargain for her life, still having no
idea what it was all about.

“We could go back to my place and do
itin comfort there. There’s only the nanny
there and she'll be in her own room...”

The young man began to laugh. “Get
out of the car and start to walk toward
that copse,” he commanded.

For a brief moment Mary hesitated.
Then she saw the coldness in the man’s
eyes and she was glad to get out of the car.

“Just walk slowly away from the car in

Rita Lewis, who cared for Mrs. McArthur’s daughter, was also abducted and killed.
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Police
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investigation revealed that John McArthur lay behind murderous plot.

the direction of the copse and don’t look
around,” ordered the gunman.

Mrs. McArthur did as she was told, lit-
tle realizing that at that moment the gun-
man had wound down the window of the
driving seat door and was steadily aiming
the pistol at the base of her skull.

Bang!

The bullet, fired from a distance of
about eight yards, entered Mrs.
McArthur’s skull just above the top of the
neck. It shattered bone and tissue, tore
blood vessels, obliterated.the brain, and
came out the front of her face.

She died instantly and lurched
forward, sprawling on her face and
stomach, which had not yet begun to
swell visibly from her pregnancy.

The gunman eased himself out of the
Mercedes and casually walked to the cor-
pse. He placed one foot on Mrs.
McArthur’s shoulder and pointed the
pistol down at her head again. Then he
fired two more shots into her head—just
to make sure that the job had been done
properly.

With that accomplished, he dragged
Mrs. McArthur into the copse and
covered her body with twigs and leaves.
He wasn’t too bothered about the body
being found, just as long as it remained
undetected for a few hours.

Two hours later, he was back in Lon-
don, tucking into a big steak lunch, wash-
ed down with wine, in one of the expen-
sive restaurants in the West End.

At 3:30 p.M., he was back outside the
school where he had abducted Mrs.
McArthur. He was standing with his
elbow on his Mercedes car as Miss Rita
Lewis, the 21-year-old woman employed
as a nanny to Jenny by Mrs. McArthur,
met the little girl out of school.

“Into the car!” he said tersely as the
nanny and six-year-old Jenny drew
alongside him. Miss Lewis went to
scream as she saw the pistol, but the gun-
man quickly clasped a hand over her
mouth. ~

Jenny McArthur thought it was a joke
and began laughing. Before Miss Lewis
had recovered from the shock, she had
been bundled into the front passenger
seat, with Jenny in the back.

The gunman then leapt into the driving
seat and drove out of London in a
southerly direction, toward the seaside
resort of Brighton. ;

Miss Lewi$ was told to keep her mouth
shut or else and every time Jenny
demanded “What’s happening? Where’s
mummy? Where are we going?” the nan-
ny was commanded to “shut that brat up
before I do it with my gun!”

Once again, the Mercedes was driven
off the main road and along a country
lane for about three miles—and then Miss
Lewis was ordered out of the car...

“I want to go with Rita,” Jenny started
crying.

“You stay put!” snapped the gunman,
hitting the little girl across the mouth and
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Joe Ramsey, an American hood, was hired by John McArthur to carry out his plan.

making her burst into tears.

“Leave that child alone, you monster!”
shouted the nanny, losing all her fear and
suddenly becoming aggressive and
protective on behalf of Jenny.

She took one step back toward the car
just at the moment the gunman’s finger
squeezed the trigger. There was a loud
retort and a red patch simultaneously
appeared in the middle of her forehead.

As the nanny crashed against the car
and slithered to the ground, Jenny con-
tinued to scream and scream, becoming
more and more hysterical.

Swearing and cursing, the gunman
jumped out of the car, ran round to the
other side, and quickly fired two more
bullets into the already very dead nanny.

Then he lifted her body above hishead
and literally tossed the corpse over a
hedge.

“Now I'm going to take you to your

father,” the double killer told Jenny, who
was becoming even more hysterical in the
back of the Mercedes.

“I don’t want to go to daddy,” cried
Jenny. “I want to go home to mummy.”

A month earlier, Mrs. McArthur had
been awarded custody of her daughter
Jenny after divorcing her husband, John
MacArthur, on the grounds of physical
cruelty.

The judge had ruled that the husband
should not have access to the child
because of his violent temperament and
for fear of his running away with her.

Mr. McArthur’s response had been to
hire a professional killer—Joe Ramsey,
aged 29—to murder his wife and thenan-
ny (if necessary, though not mandatory)
and to get him back his daughter.

The murder and kidnap mission had
been a success, and professional hit man
Ramsey, a Texan who plied his evil trade

on both sides of the Atlantic, was on the
way to Mr. McArthur’s hideout near
Gatwick Airport.

Ramsey, who had been paid £5,000 in
advance for the “contract,” reached
McArthur’s hideaway—a small cottage—
by early evening.

“Here’s your rotten kid!” growled
Ramsey, pushing Jenny into her father’s
arms. “The job’s done. Your ex-wife is
dead, so’s the nanny. Now I'm off. Good-
bye.”

And with that, Ramsey sped off in the
Mercedes car.

A number of people had heard the
shots when Ramsey disposed of the nan-
ny and her body was quickly discovered
by a farm worker.

He immediately called the police, and
within an hour Scotland Yard Murder
Squad detectives were on the scene. Miss
Lewis was quickly identified from the
contents of her handbag, and detectives
were dispatched to the address on her
driving license—the home . of Mrs.
McArthur.

Of course, the house was empty and
neighbors said that this was strange
because Mrs. McArthur lived there with
her school age daughter and the nanny.
“They are always at home in the
evenings,” said one neighbor

The name McArthur was fed into the
police computer and they were soon in
possession of the information relating to
the recent divorce case and the order by
the judge.

Detectives then raided Mr. McArthur’s
lastknown address in central London, but
he had left there several days earlier.

However, on the premises the police
found a Dallas, Texas, telephone number
scribbled on a piece of paper. Within a
few hours, the F.B.I. in the United States
had confirmed that the subscriber of that
number had been a man suspected of be-
ing Joe Ramsey, a known hit man and
wanted in America on a number of
murder counts.

“He is known to use several aliases,”
Scotland Yard was informed.

The next day, Mr. McArthur was
arrested by detectives as he was trying to
board a cross-channel ferry to Ostend,
Belgium from Dover on a forged
passport in a false name. He was disguis-
ed, but he was given away by his
daughter, Jenny, whom the police
recognized instantly from photographs
they had found on a table beside her
mother’s bed.

After intensive questioning, McArthur
broke down and confessed to having
hired a professional killer to slay his wife
and the nanny and to abduct his daughter.
He told them—quite honestly—that he
did not know where Ramsey had
dumped his wife’s body.

The detectives had a good description
of Ramsey, plus photographs, supplied to
them by the American authorities, though

(Continued on page 79)
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ANACTOF
CHARITY
KILLED HIM

Lyle Cox's body was found on lonely road (“X” on map) outside Columbus, Montana.

Amiable, popular Lyle Cox liked nothing
better than extending a helping

hand to someone down on his luck.

He did it once too often and left
Montana sleuths to track his slayer

34

by CHANNING CORBIN

BILLINGS, MONT., SEPT. 10, 1978

@ Thirty year old Larry Lyle Cox was a
classic example of a hometown boy who
had made good strictly because of his
willingness to.work long hard hours. Born
in Billings and a graduate of Bridger High
School class of 66, Cox had gone on to at-
tend the Kinman Accounting College
located in Spokane, Washington. After
receiving his diploma there, he worked
for a time as an accountant in Gillette,
Wyoming. While in Wyoming he took fly-
ing lessons and was eventually licensed
on both helicopters and light fixed-wing
craft. He came back to his hometown in
1971 and went to work for the Carisch
Theater chain in a minor capacity.

His business skills and integrity were
quickly recognized by his superiors and,
within a short period of time, Cox moved
up the ladder, rung by rung, to the posi-
tion.of vice president. In spite of the long
hours on his job, the man became deeply
involved in politics and joined the board
of directors of Big Brothers and Sisters, an
organization active in sponsoring
youngsters in need of adult guidance. He
also played avery activerole in the Easter
Seal Campaign and joined the Billings’
Downtown Business Men’s Association.
Even at that, he somehow managed to
find the time to study for his real estate
examinations. He passed them with fly-
ing colors and became affiliated with a

. local real estate firm as a licensed agent.

Despite this hectic pace, however, the
most precious things in the upcoming
young business man’s life were his wite
Nancy, whom he’d married in 1975, and
their infant son, Kristopher Lee.
Everyone who knew Larry L. Cox knew
him as a devoted family man who
delighted in showing them the latest
snapshots of his baby son.

At about 2:00 p.M. on Saturday.
September 2, 1978 the theater executive
left the Sage 4 drive-in theater located in
Billings on 24th Street West. He'd been at
the drive-in’s office to take care of some
minor paperwork and those who saw him
leave got the impression that he was
headed home to spend the rest of the
weekend with his family. Cox had gotten
behind the wheel of his immaculate 1970
Lincoln Continental sedan and driven
stowly away, headed back into town.

The theater executive didn't drive the
big green mint-condition luxury car
because of a desire on his part to impress
people or to flaunt a status symbol. He
preferred to drive a heavier car due
primarily to the fact that he weighed
slightly over 300 pounds. Being
overweight was a problem which had
plagued Cox for almost as long as he
could remember and he simply enjoyed
the comfort offered by a larger car.

Shortly after Cox left the Sage 4 drive-
in the mystery began. He failed to show
up at his home located in the 700 block of
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Active in civic affairs, Cox purchased the Fox theater. He had hoped to turn it into a cultural center.

Cook Avenue in Billings. For the first
several hours his wife, knowing full well
her husband’s many and varied interests,
merely chalked his tardiness up to an un-
expected delay. It had happened before.
But as the hands of the clock moved
around to the hour of seven, she began to
worry. Ordinarily, her husband was ex-
tremely considerate when something
came up to delay his arrival home and
he’d always taken the time in the past to
telephone her to explain his tardiness and
to give her some idea of when to expect
him. The telephone, however, had not
rung. Suppertime arrived and passed and
the darkness of evening deepened. Mrs.
Cox paced the flogr, peering from time to
time through the drapes, hoping to see the
flash of headlights in the driveway
heralding the belated arrival of her miss-
ing husband. She tried desperately to
placate her anxiety by imagining various
situations which might have. arisen to
delay him. She knew that he wasnt a
drinking man, a skirt chaser, or a
gambler. If he had been, she would have
known why he was late.

Eventually, the tension became too in-
tense to endure any longer. She'd con-
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sidered the possibility that perhaps the
car had broken down in some remote part
of town, or even that Lyle had been in an
accident of some kind, but by very late
that Saturday night she’d reconciled
herself to the fact that, even taking all of
these things into consideration, more than
enough time had passed to have allowed
for these problems to be dealt with. Her
husband should have come home or at
least called by now.

Not knowing what else to do, the dis-
traught woman called a local Billings
lawyer, one of her husband’s best friends
and closest associates, and described her
plight. The attorney agreed with the
anxiety-stricken wife that the situation
was not at all in keeping with the missing
man’s well established reputation as a
stable family man, and asked that he be
allowed to check further into the matter.
It was a weary, sleepless night for both as
the attorney made numerous telephone
calls to theater employees, relatives, and
friends, and also to the local hospitals in
an effort to come up with some clue to the
missing theater manager’s whereabouts.

By 2:00 p.m. Sunday afternoon, the
decision was made to file an official miss-

ing persons complaint with the local
authorities and the Billings attorney con-
tacted the police and filed the complaint.
Many officers personally knew the
dynamic and civically active local
businessman and they were confounded
by his disappearance. Captain CharlesE.
Hensley of the Billings P.D. Detective
Bureau intuitively felt that the case was
definitely out of the ordinary. He
directed that a complete description of
both the missing man and his distinctive
green 1970 Lincoln bearing Montana
license plate number 3-49367 be
prepared for airing as an APB (all points
bulletin). ~ :
Ironically, almost before the police
could begin their investigation, a series of
events began to unfold near the small
town of Columbus, Montana located ap-
proximately 50 miles west of Billings. A
local area cattleman and a friend had
decided to use this Sunday afternoon to
transport salt blocks out to the fields for
the cattle. They had been traveling along
a little used access road which led into a
Reedpoint arearesident’s land when they
found the body of a man sprawled face
down in the middle of the narrow trail.



Cox managed a chain of theaters for his employers. He was last seen leaving the Sage 4 drive-in.

Both men got out of the truck to view
their find. The body was located about
one mile north of the Springtime In-
terchange on Interstate 90. Takingnote of
the pool of partially congealed blood on
the ground around the body and of the
fact that the corpse was stiffening with
rigor mortis, they realized that they were
viewing the handiwork of a killer.

Both men returned to their pickup
truck and drove the six miles to the closest
house where there was a telephone. They
notified the Stillwater County Sheriff’s
Department located in nearby Columbus
of their find. One of the first officers on
the scene was Stillwater County Un-
dersheriff Jerry Foos who assumed the
role of lead investigator. Upon his arrival
the officer carefully surveyed the scene
while awaiting the arrival of someone
from the coroner’s office. The victim
appeared to be well dressed and of above
average weight. An examination of the
immediate surroundings failed to dis-
close the presence of any tiretracksin the
non-retentive, hardpacked surface of the
trail. A photographer arrived and pic-
tures were taken of the body from various
angles. Dusk was falling by now and the

search area was broadened in hopes that
perhaps a weapon or some other typeofa
clue could be located. Nothing was
found, however, which could be con-
nected with the crime.

After the scene had been processed and
the body turned on its back prior to being
lifted onto a litter, the one wound suf-
fered by the victim became visible. It
appeared that the portly, unidentified
corpse had been stabbed once squarely in
the heart. No wallet or other papersor ID
were found in the victim’s clothing. The
remains were lifted into a carrier vehicle
and arrangements were made to
transport the body clear up to Great Falls,
Montana where it would be autopsied by
a forensic pathologist. Forensic
pathologists, unfortunately, are
somewhat uncommon in the sparsely
populated western states. For a proper
autopsy to be performed, therefore, the
body would have to be moved some dis-
tance.

In the meantime, Stillwater Un-
dersheriff Foos found himself in charge
of investigating a murder case involving a
marked dearth of leads and a John Doe
victim. Shortly after he returned to his of-

fice in Columbus, and armed with the
profusion of notes which he’d taken at the
scene, he began contacting other law en-
forcement agencies in the immediate
area. In his estimation, the man whose
body had been discovered on the lonely,
isolated trail had not been a tourist or
traveler. He had the general appearance
of a businessman. Undersheriff Foos
hoped the man could be identified as an
area resident.

The undersheriff struck paydirt almost
immediately inasmuch as his first calls
were placed to the Billings police depart-
ment and the Yellowstone County S.0.
By about 7:00 p.m. that Sunday evening,
the authorities in both Stillwater County
and in adjacent Yellowstone County were
fairly well convinced that the fate of the
missing popular Billings’ theater ex-
ecutive had been established. The fact
that the Stillwater County official had es-
timated the victim’s weight as having
been well in the neighborhood of 300
pounds or thereabouts had been the
clincher. A more formal identification,
however, would have to be made.
Several members of the Yellowstone
County S.0. left Billings to meet with
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Suspect’s unusual hat stuck in witness’ memory. Police drew this picture of him.

their colleaguesin Columbus, Montana to
compare notes and to coordinate matters.
These officers included Captain Hensley,
Yellowstone County Undersheriff
Charles R. Skillen, and Detective
Sergeant Richard Ross. They arrived in
time to view the body prior to its ship-
ment to Great Falls and all identified the
victim as being Larry Lyle Cox.

The investigators from Billings advised
the Stillwater County authorities about
the victim’s missing car. By now it had
been established that Cox was not in the
habit of carrying large sums of money on
his person. In trying to establish a viable
motive, considerable speculation had
been accorded the theory that perhaps
the theater manager had been slain for his
car rather than whatever sum of money
he might have had in his wallet. True, no
wallet had been found on the victim. It
could have been that the slayer had taken
it as an afterthought rather than in accor-
dance with some preconceived robbery
plan.
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By Monday morning the entire bizzare
situation was still under wraps. The news
blackout had been deemed essential
primarily on two counts. First, up until
the time that Cox’s body had beenfound
there had been some hopeful speculation
that perhaps the congenial executive may
have been kidnapped. Second, several of
the victim’s relatives could not be con-
tacted. As a matter of principal, most, if
not all law . enforcement agencies
stringently refrain from releasing any in-
formation relating to a murder case, or
even a traffic accident, for that matter,
until they have contacted the next of kin
and broken the sad news of the deathof a
loved one. Nothing can be more brutal
than to have a survivor learn of the death
of a loved one while watching the even-
ing news on TV.

By late Monday evening, however,
Cox’s next of kin had been notified and
Billings’ area residents first learned the
shocking news swrounding the Cox
homicide in their early moming

newspapers emblazoned beneath the
headline “Theater Manager is Slain.”

Officials remained mum on many
aspects of the case although they used the
media to urgently request the general
public to be on the lockout for the vic-
tim’s distinctive automobile. The car’s
description and license plate number
were published and broadcast. Anyone
who had any knowledge of the vehicle’s
location was urged to leave the car un-
disturbed and notify the police im-
mediately. Several lawmen had already
taken to the air during the preceding day
for the purpose of checking the surroun-
ding countryside in hopes that perhaps
the misssing auto could be located aban-
doned in some out of the way dry wash or
canyon. Undersheriff Foos, when con-
tacted and interviewed by reporters,
declined to even discuss the cause of
death, although unofficial sources in-
dicated that it had been a single stab
wound in the chest. Undersheriff Foos
hadn’t wanted to compromise the case.

Stillwater County authorities joined
together with the Yellowstone County
Sheriff’s Department in a well-
coordinated effort to solve the case.
There were several scraps of evidence
which strongly indicated that Cox had
been slain in Stillwater County. The ac-
tual encounter and the subsequent abduc-
tion, however, had apparently occurred
in Yellowstone County.

Dr. John Pfaff, the pathologist in Great
Falls completed the postmortem on
W ednesday, September 7. He declined to
release his findings to the public declar-
ing that his report had been relayed to
Undersheriff Foos and that any informa-
tion relevant to the case would have to
come from the Stillwater County
authorities. Rosary services were held for
the slain man in Billings at 7:30 p.M.
Thursday in Smith’s Terrace Gardens
Chapel. A funeral mass was celebrated at
9:30 a.m. Friday in St. Patrick’s Church
with final interment in Joiliet Cemetery.

Investigators, meanwhile, were busily
engaged in probing into the slain man’s
past in their quest to learn if he had made
any enemies, especially one who might
have harbored enough hate to murder
him. There had been one known instance
involving a rumored disagreement
between the area businessman and a
former employee. Much of this was un-
founded and the subject involved was
quickly absolved of any implication in
the case. Other information was
developed and confirmed, establishing
that Cox had been seen several hours
after he’d left the Sage 4 drive-in theater
at a pizza parlor located in the 2100 block
of Grand Avenue in Billings. From there,
the trail had grown cold and vanished.

Stillwater County Undersheriff Jerry
Foos had, during a news conference held
in Billings, admitted that he was grossly
handicapped by a marked absence of
clues and that, thus far, there were no



Undersheriff Foos escorts Fred Shirmer. Suspect was picked up driving victim’s car.

suspects in the case. He appealed to the
public again for assistance, requesting
that anyone who might have seen Lyle
Cox on the afternoon of September 2 con-
tact his office to aid in tracing the victim’s
movements on that date.

The much sought after green 1970 Lin-
coln had not yet been located, leading
many involved in the investigation to
assume it had been taken out of the state.
The car’s description and license number
had been fed into the National Crime In-
formation Center’s computer system in
Washington. It was hoped that
somewhere an alert police of ficer would
spot the vehicle.

Cox’s untimely demise had deeply
saddened many among his vast host of
friends and acquaintances. A former
teacher fondly recalled the slain man’s
penchant for always wearing white shirts,
which Cox deemed to be synonymous
with success, and also commented about
his burning ambition to get ahead on his
own merits alone. Others remembered
him for his culinary talents. Cox
specialized in preparing mouth-watering
steaks. A classmate who had graduated
with Cox exclaimed, “I can never
remember seeinghim (Cox) despondent.”
Other former classmates described him
as having been “gregarious, generous,
and buoyant.” In the menatime, the hunt
for his slayer went on.

Several of the slain man’s acquain-
tances got together to discuss the
possibility of starting a reward fund. Un-
dersheriff Foos requested that he be
given an additional week on the case
before anyone posted a reward. While
offering a reward does have considerable
merit, it can also generate certain adverse
side effects. Professional bounty hunters
can come in, and quite frequently a vir-
tua! rash of contrived information from
reward-hungry citizens complicates in-
vestigators’ work.

One of Cox’s more enterprising ven-
tures had been his recent purchase of the
Fox Theater building located in down-
town Billings. He had planned to create a
performing arts center there, a cultural
showplace and a permanent home for the
Billings © Symphony. He and several
associates had already been hard at work
on a deal to present the stage production
of Fiddler on the Roof sometime around
Christmas. Now that the ambitious, live-
wire go-getter had been found murdered,
many of his closest associates declared it
was doubtful these plans could be con-
summated without him.

One of the first major breaks in the case
was directly attributable to the publicity
which the case had been accorded in the
media. Law enforcement personnel had
asked that area residents who might have
some information about the missing man
and his car come forward. One individual
who contacted the police had been a man
who worked at a service station in a small

(Continued on page 71)
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Lottie Mae Gallucci, left, and her daughter, Laura, stand accused of conspiring to murder Dominick Gallucci.

Family Mayhem In New Jersey

WasThe Go-GoDancer At

TheHeart Of The Slay Plot?

by JOSEPH KOENIG

MOUNT HOLLY, N. J., FEB. 21,1979
® The advancing years held little terror
for Dominick Gallucci. With his 60th
birthday just around the corner, he
remained the fine figure of a man he'd
been in his prime, thick-necked, well-
muscled, and still in fighting trim. Like
the other truckers at the big Pennsauken,
New Jersey, hauling outfit where he
worked, he prided himself on how tough
he was. At bull sessions in the garage,
where name-calling and cruel kidding
were the rule, Gallucci was one fellow
whose bluff no one ever called. After all,
he had the press clippings to back him up.

The tattered newsprint told anyone
who cared that in November, 1976, when
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he was still ayoungster of 537, a family dis-
pute had boiled over into an argument
that ended with the gray-haired father of
three fleeing his Irving Avenue, Penn-
sauken, home with a bullet embedded in
his arm. Gallucci had dripped a trail of
blood to the driveway, where he slid
behind the wheel of his car and began the
race to Zurbrugg Memorial Hospital in
nearby Riverside, New Jersey. On the
way, it suddenly had occurred to him that
if the doctors found a slug in his body
they’d want to know where it came from,
which was a question he did not care to
answer. Just as quickly he had pulled off
the road and with nothing to dull the pain
other than gritted teeth he dug out the
lead with a penknife. .

At the Zurbrugg emergency room,

Gallucci told doctors that someone had
accidentally stuck a knife in his arm. The
story was believable only until they gota
look at the wound, but it left them very
impressed: Not because ithad been a fine
job of cutting, which it wasn’t, but
because Gallucci had not passed out from
pain while performing it. The Penn-
sauken police were also interested in the
trucker’s wound and they did not let him
alone until he finally told them all about
it.

“Sure he was a tough old bird,” one of
the drivers at Pennsauken would recall,
“but there was another, gentler side to
him, too. And he had a great sense of
humor. I remember a couple of years
back when the company put new radio
equipment in all the trucks and Dominick



kept everybody in stitches by doing
Donald Duck imitations in his
microphone all day.”

“He was a good driver,” one of his
bosses said. “He had a clean work record
every since we hired him in June, 1974.
He got along well with the other drivers
and never was involved in any dis-
ciplinary problems.”

Dominick Gallucci also maintained a
near-perfect attendance record at work.
It came to an unexpected halt on the chill
Tuesday of October 10, 1978, when a
sharp, unrelenting pain which felt like a
cold knife being twisted inside the left
side of his chest told him that there was no
sense in pretending that he was still a kid.
At the age of 59, he was experiencing the
first symptoms of a potentially serious
heart ailment and he was smart enough to
realize it. This time, when he went to Zur-
brugg Memorial Hospital, there were no
detours to the side of the road and no
made-up stories for the doctors. And
when he was told that if he wanted to
taste his 60th birthday cake he had better
check into the hospital, he didn’t even put
up a fight.

Dominick Gallucci spent most of the
next three weeks in the cardiac ward of
the Riverside hospital. When hereturned,
on Sunday, October 29, to the rented
home on Morgan Avenue in Palmyra,
New Jersey, which he shared with his
wife, Lottie Mae, 44, and his three
children, it was to an entirely new routine.
No longer would he do everything and go
everywhere for his family. After a
liftetime of providing for them, it was his
turn to be waited upon.

Very late on Tuesday night, October
31, Palmyra police hurried to the Gallucci
place in response to a desperate call for
help from Lottie Mae. When they arrived,
shortly after midnight, they found
Dominick lying dead on the dining room
floor. The cause of death most definitely
was not a heart attack. Burlington County
Medical Examiner Joseph Del.orenzo
said that the 59-year-old trucker had been
stabbed repeatedly in the face and neck
and shot once in the left side of the face.

Lottie Mae told homicide investigators
from Police Chief Robert Fow’s depart-
ment that around 11:00, along with her
daughter, Laura, 20, and her youngest
son, who was 15, she had left the houseto
walk the dog and do some shopping.
Upon their return at 11:35, they had
found Dominick dead on the floor and
had called police right away.

While detectives interviewed the slain
man’s family, other probers made ahasty
inspection of the house. No signs of a
struggle, or any indication of forced entry
were found. Neither were any weapons
tarned up at the scene.

“At first we thought robbery might be
the motive,” one of the detectives would
report, “but nothing seems to be missing.
Right now, we don’t know why he was
killed.”

21

Laura Gallucci worked as a go-go dancer in neighborhood bars and nightspots.

They weren't exactly the usual folks next door.
There'd been a shooting, a stabbing, and now a
killing. Plus a daughter who bared (almost)
all in public. It was up to local lawmen
to determine who was responsible for what
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Wayne Whaley, a part-time bouncer, allegedly accepted murder contract.

The murder investigators’ luck picked
up in the early morning hours when a
door-to-door canvass of Morgan Avenue
residents turned up a neighbor who
reported that her son-in-law had heard a
loud noise that sounded like a gunshot
while he was watching television around
10:30. v

Other neighbors reminded the Palmyra
officers that it had not been long before
that they were called to the Gallucci
home to resolve a family dispute center-
ing around the activities of Dominick and
Lottie Mae’s 17-year-old son. Evidently,
the mediation. effort had been a failure
because just a few days earlier, on Friday,
October 27, Mrs. Gallucci had had the
youth sent to the Burlington County
Juvenile Detention Center on charges of
being an incorrigible. At a Monday, Oc-
tober 30, hearing in Juvenile Court, Judge
Anthony P. Tunney, Jr., had ordered the
boy detained at the Juvenile Detention
Center.

Lottie Mae, apparently troubled by the
decision to send the boy away, had phon-
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ed a local newspaper to explain her ac-
tions. She said that she had signed the
papers committing her son to get him out
of the house and prevent further fights.

Mrs. Gallucci had, for many years
previously, been something of a public
figure in and around the Palmyra area.
Under the name of “Tara,” she had
operated Dominico’s Entertainment
Agency, through which she booked as
many as 40 go-go dancers and strippers
into local bars and nightclubs. One of
Dominico’s hottest properties was a go-
go girl who billed herself professionally
as “The Human Bombshell.” At home,
she was known more familiarly as Laura
Gallucci.

The Human Bombshell was not an en-
tirely anonymous figure in southwestern
New Jersey. In 1977, she had earned rave
reviews for her dancing at a charity
benefit for the Camden Recreation
Department. She also won valuable
publicity in the local media during a
valiant but futile effort to set a world
record for nonstop go-go dancing.

Area police were also aware of her ac-
tiviies. It was no secret that in
November, 1976, she had been charged
with juvenile delinquency when detec-
tives in Pennsauken learned that it was
she who had shot her father during an
argument in their home on the 5700 block
of Irving Avenue.

From Pennsauken the family had mov-
ed to the Spring Hill apartments in Maple
Shade, New Jersey, and then, in May,
1977, to the community of Delran, New
Jersey, where they earned a reputation as
something less than desirable tenants.
From August, 1977, until March of the
following year, when she was evicted,
Laura had maintained a separate apart-
ment at the Delran housing complex
where her family lived. Following her
eviction, she was found guilty of acharge
of malicious damage and placed on a
year’s probation for damage to the
carpeting and paneling by her two large
dogs, which allegedly were neglected for
days at a time. She was also ordered to
pay her landlord $1,000. When her
parents moved from their apartment,
they owed the same landlord another $1,-
000 for damages that were their own
responsibility. They also had failed to pay
their last month and a half’s rent.

Dominick Gallucci, too, had not been
immune to trouble with the law, police in-
vestigating his death found out. In
February of 1978, he had been convicted
of fraud ‘when a rent check bounced and
he did not repay it on time. Following his
conviction, he paid both the rent and
court costs.

“Dominick was the most likable
member of his family,” an employee of
the Delran housing complex would recall.
“He occasionally bad-mouthed his wife
when he came to the office here. He
blamed her for forging his name to
checks so that one bounced on us. He also
told us his daughter tried to stab him
once.”

Detectives probing the family’s ac-
tivities learned that, during their year in
Delran, Gallucci’s oldest boy had been
convicted in juvenile court of assaulting a
police officer and of possession of a nar-
cotic. The younger boy had been picked
up by police in the housing complex for
underage driving a few months after the
family moved away.

“On more than one occasion,” a Delran
policeman said, “officers had to go to the
housing complex when neighbors com-
plained that the Gallucci kids were hass-
ling them. Sometimes we also had
problems with Mrs. Gallucci’s dancers.

“She was well-established in the go-go
business” he added. “For a while, she had
a very extensive stable working for her.”

Early on Wednesday morning,
November 1, Palmyra homicide in-
vestigators returned to the Gallucci home
onMorgan Avenue, where they answered
all telephone calls. Later in the day,

(Continued on page 68)






The driver, it seemed, had gone to get
help, for there was no one in the car and
Jacob Schultheis lit his short, badly
charrred old pipe and settled down to
- wait. He would have alittle bill to present
to the driver when he returned.

It was, by now, getting on to half-past
ten in the morning and the August sun was
well up in a blue and cheerful sky. Jacob
Schultheis sat on the warm, brown,
cultivated earth of his vineyard with his
back to one of the end posts, smoked his
pipe, listened to the birds singing, and
presently fell asleep.

He was awakened rather rudely by
some one shaking his shoulder and when
he opened his eyes, he saw that an officer
in the uniform of the Highway Patrol was
bending over him.

“Are you all right?” said the officer.

“Of course I'm all right,” said Jacob
Schultheis. “Why shouldn’t I be all right?”

“Because you've just had an accident,”
said the officer.

“Ahhh, that wasnt me,” said the
farmer. “That was some other idiot.”

“You said it, I didn’t,” said the officer
and walked over to check out the car. The
papers were in a leather folder in the
glove compartment and he took them out
and leafed through them.

“Car belongs to a Dr. Claesel,” he
remarked. “Dr. Hans Ulrich Glaesel,
aged 49. He's apparently the director of
the Pfalz Clinic in Landau. Must be a psy-
chiatrist. That's a mental hospital.”

“More probably a patient,” grumbled.

Jacob Schultheis. “He hasnt got brains
enough to drive, that’s certain.”

“Could be he wasn’t driving,” said the
officer. “Could be somekid stole his car.”

He walked over to where his partner
was sitting behind the wheel of the patrol
car.
“See if the desk in Landau can contact a
Dr. Glaesel at the Pfalz Clinic,” he said.
“This is his car.”

The officer picked up the radio
telephone and called through to police
headquarters in Landau. There was a
short wait.

The first officer strolled back to the car
and walked around it, assessing the
damage. Finally, he moved to the back
and tried the lid of the trunk.

“Hey Willi!” called the officer in the
patrol car. “The desk says Dr. Glaesel isn’t
in the hospital just now. They don’t know
where he is.”

His partner did not reply immediately.
He was standing, stiff as a board, staring
down into the open trunk, his right hand
still holding the raised lid.

Abruptly, he started to drop it and then
caught himself and lowered it gently.
Almost running back to the car, he climb-
ed into the front seat and reached for the
radio-telephone.

“It looks like he’s right here,” he said,
pressing the call button. “There’s a corpse
in the trunk of that car.”

There was indeed a corpse in the trunk
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As a psychiatrist, Dr. Hans Glaesel
treated many disturbed people. Thus,
there were many potential suspects.

of the car and it was, without question,

Dr. Hans Ulrich Glaesel, head of the Pfalz
Clinic for the past 17 years and a wealthy
and popular man in Landau.

Not, of course,-that his features were
recognizable. They had been smashed to
a pulp withsomeheavy, irregular object.

“A piece of painted machinery or an
irregularly shaped tool of some kind,”
said Dr. Harold Enten, the Landau Police
medical examiner. -

He was making his initial examination
of the corpse while it was still lying in the
trunk of the car and he was, rather in-
congruously, dressed in a pair of bathing
trunks, a towel, and rubber sandals. The
short, stocky, curly-haired doctor had
been at the municipal swimming pool
when the police car had come past and
carried him off to give his official opinion
on the state of the murder victim.

For there was no question at all but
what Dr. Glaesel had been murdered and
very savagely murdered too. Not only
had his head and face been brutally
smashed, but, with the exception of his
undershirt, he was naked and covered
with scratches and cuts over his entire
body. ‘

“A result of dragging him over the
ground and getting him into the trunk,”
said the doctor. “It looks worse than it is
because of the dried blood.”

“How long would you say he’s been
dead?” said Inspector Walter Beissel, the
senior investigations officer of the Lan-
dau Police Department of Criminal In-
vestigations, who had been called in at
the same time as the doctor. An elderly,
gray-haired man with a square, open face
and a thick, almost white mustache, he
had not been at the swimming pool when
the call came, but it had been on his day

off and he was informally dressed in a
sports shirt and slacks.

“Eight hours. . .ten hours,” said the doc-
tor shrugging his shoulders. “I can’t tell
too much here. We'll have to get him over
to the morgue where I can get the autopsy
started.”

“Right,” said the inspector. “We'll do
that just as soon as we can get someof the
lab people out here to check out the car.
He surely didn’t drive it here himself, so
we may pick up some useful informa-
tion.”

“The desk said they’d have a crew out
here within a half hour, chief, ” said
Detective Sergeant Max Niebolt, the in-
spector’s very young, very respectful
assistant, who, with his soft, wavy, blond
hair and innocent-appearing, bright blue
eyes, looked more like a high school boy
than an investigating officer.

The desk was not quite as good as its
word, it being Sunday and off-duty per-
sonnel hard to locate, but the team did
arrive before noon and they went over
the car and the area around it very
carefully.

“No prints on the steering wheel or gear
shift,” they reported. “Either the driver
wore gloves or he wiped them. Probably
gloves. A few other, older prints of
another person in the car in addition to
the doctor’s. Aside from that, nothing.”

The inspector sighed. “Sound almost
professional,” he remarked.

The laboratory technicians were inclin-
ed to agree.

The police tow truck which had been
standing by now took the BMW in tow
and brought it to the police garage with
the corpse still in the trunk.

While this was going on, the inspector,
the doctor, and the sergeant had a quick
bite in the police canteen and then
hurried over to supervise the removal of
the body to the morgue by a pair or
paramedical aides from the police clinic.

The sergeant then went off to talk to
the personnel at the hospital where Dr.
Glaesel had been the director and to find
out the name and address of the next of
kin. The inspector returned to his office
to wait for his and the doctor’s reports.

In the meantime, he made a few
telephone calls to see what he couldlearn
about the doctor himself. He had known
him casually and he had not thought that
he would be the kind of man who was
liable to be murdered.

The telephone calls only confirmed this
impression. A widower, the doctor had
lived alone with a single man servant in
his official quarters at the hospital and
had been very popular with the staff, the
patients, and such social contacts as he
had had. Like most busy doctors in ad-
ministrative positions, he had not had a
great deal of free time for social activities.

“No one I talked to could believe that
he'd been murdered,” said the sergeant
upon his return to the office at just before
five o’clock. “If you can believe the staff,



he didn’t have an enemy in the world.”

“He must have been fairly well-to-do .

with a job like that,” said the inspector.
“Did you determine who inherits?”

“His butler says he doesn’t think he’'d
made out a will and, if he didn’t, his next
of kin would be some nephews who live
in Salzburg,” said the sergeant. “As far as
he knows, he didn’t even have an at-
torney.”

“Wouid he know?” said the inspector.
“Who is this butler? I didn’t know people
had butlers any more.”

“Glaesel did,” said the sergeant. “Ac-
tually, he’s a little bit of everything. Did
the cooking, took care of the apartment,
and so on. Young fellow—3l, I think he
said. His name’s Rainer Wittayer.”

“Well, I suppose Glaesel had to have
somebody to run his house,” said the in-
spector. “Wittayer been with him for
long?” ‘

“Qver ten years,” said the sergeant. “1
guess the doctor paid him well. Wittayer
had a family, a wife, and a couple of kids,
but she divorced him three years ago.”

“Make anote to see where he was at the
time of the murder and whether he
stands to inherit anything,” said the in-
spector. “When [ was a boy [used toread
a lot of detective stories and it was
always the butler who'd done it.”

“I'll check it out,” said the sergeant.
“When did he die?”

“I don’t know yet,” said the inspector.
“I’'m still waiting for a report from
Harold. He must be finding a good deal
for it to take him this long.”

The doctor was finding a great deal
and it was nearly seven o’clock when he
finally came over to the inspector’s office
to find the inspector and his assistant
drinking coffee and eating salami
sandwiches sent in from the tavern down
the street. .

“Any more coffee?” said the doctor,
dropping a small, plastic envelope onto
the inspector’s desk with asolid clunk and
dropping himself into the armchair next
to it. “I'm beat.”

“Coffee’s here in the office pot,” said
the sergeant, going behind the screen in
the corner to return with a steaming cup.
“If you want sandwiches, I can give the
tavern a call.”

“Coffee’s enough,” said the doctor. “T1l
eat when I get home. Well, are youready
to hear the bad news?”

“Couldn’t be much worse news than
that he was murdered and we already
know that,” said the inspector. “What's in
the envelope?”

“One .765 pistol bullet,” said the doc-
tor. “Somewhat distorted, but not too
much for identification purposes, I think.
I brought it over to you because Ballistics
is closed today.”

. The inspector opened the envelope
and took out the little piece of lead.
“Where was he shot?” he asked.

“In the head,” said the doctor, “and,
oddly enough, after he’d had his brains

Rainer Wittayer worked for the doc-
tor. The facts of the case and his
past made him a prime suspect.

beaten out with the car jack. You know it
was the jack, of course?”

The inspector nodded. “Thelab called
me too,” he said. “As soon as they got it
out of the trunk. How do youknow it was
after.” ;

“The jack tore a lot of his scalp loose,”
said the doctor. “The bullet went right in
under one of the flaps of skin so there’s a
hole in the skull, but no hole in the flap of
skin that would have covered it. It was ex-
treme close range, probably touching the
flesh. The muzzle of the gun should have
blood on it unless it’s been cleaned since,
of course.” :

“Somebody wasn’t taking any
chances,” remarked the inspector.
“Anybody could see that his head was
smashed to pieces, but he was shot
anyway just to make sure.”

“Even more sure than that,” said the
doctor. “Dr. Glaesel did not die of a frac-
tured skull or of the bullet wound in his
head.”

“Old ageP” said the inspector sar-
castically.

“Strangulation,” said the doctor.
“Manual strangulation. The beating with
the car jack only took place an hour or so
{ater and the bullet wound still after that,
although I can’t say with certainty how
much longer after. I suspect only a few
minutes.”

“This isn’t such bad news for the in-
vestigation,” said the inspector thought-
fully. “Whoever killed him, they must
have hated him beyond all reason. There
couldn’t be too many persons in his circle
of contacts like that. You have a time
schedule on all these acts?”

“Plus or minus 20 minutes for the actual
time of death,” said the doctor. “That
would have been 11:30 Saturday night.

The beating and the shooting are ten-
tative. Say he was beaten at around two in
the morning and shot immediately after.
The lab may be able to tell you how long
he was in the car trunk.” '

“Tll ask them,” said the inspector, mak-
ing a note. “Any indications as to why he
was dressed the way he was?”

“Yes,” said the doctor. “Somebody per-
formed anal sex on him shortly before he
was killed.”

“What!” said both the inspector and the
sergeant simultaneously.

“That’s right,” said the doctor, nod-
ding. “There are traces of sperm in the
lower bowel.”

“Maybe he was raped?. ..” said the in-
spector tentatively.

“It's possible,” said the doctor, “assum-
ing that someone would find a 49-year-
old psychiatrist sexually desirable which

- is, God knows, not as crazy as it sounds,

considering thenumber of disturbed peo-
ple there are running around loose and
that a psychiatrist could logically be ex-
pected to come into contact with more
than his share of them. On the other hand,
it would have had to be a remarkably
well-equipped rapist. There are also
traces of lubricant in the anus and it is not
vaseline or butter or baby oil, but a com-
mercial lubricant sold in the sex shops, ac-
tually intended for women who have
problems of that sort, but, of course, fully
applicable to homosexual contacts as
well.”

“No wonder you took so long,” said the
inspector. “It wasn’t a simple autopsy.
Well, this raises a possibility that hadn’t
occurred to me before, the idea that the
murder may be connected with Dr.
Glaesel’s profession.”

“It occurred to me by the time that I'd
finished the autopsy,” said the doctor. “In
away, it has all the earmarks of a mentally
disturbed person, possibly someone who
he was treating for sexual problems. The
multiple attacks even after he was dead,
the rape—if rape it was.”

“You mean Dr. Glaesel may have been
homosexual himself,” said the inspector
bluntly. “I don’t think so. He was married
up until the time his wife died.”

“That doesn’t mean anything,” said the
doctor. “A good many homosexuals and
bisexuals are married people. The division
between the sexes is not so clear cut to-
day.”

“I'll take your word for it,” said the in-
spector. “Well, tomorrow welll start
checking out his patients and see what we
can find. Will you be having any more
surprises for us?”

“I hopenot,” said the doctor. “I sincere-
ly hope not.”

His hopes wererealized for, the follow-
ing day, the autopsy was completed
without anything new or startling turning
up.

The police laboratory was not able to
provide anything of further value to the

(Continued on page 61)
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%4 MILLION DOLIAR CAPER
OF THE BOLD BANDIT ...

Two pairs of handcuffs were used in caper. One held clerk, the second the doors.

He started his life of crime in Miami, then
led cops on a merry chase that ended in Monte
Carlo. Here's how they tracked and caught him

MIAMI, FLA.,
JULY 20, 1978
®The caper was carefully planned.-
Blueprinted, as a matter of fact. Literally.

Of course, it wasn’t a fancy “blueprint.”
Just aides memoires the thief scrawled on
a sheet of note paper. NO PRINTS NO
PRINTS NO PRINTS in big capitals
crowded the top. HIDE HIDE HIDE,
the three words, one on top the other,
were set off with a five-pointed star in the
left margin.

And the thief did notleave fingerprints.
And he did hide. It took four weeks and
international connections to track him.
But when police found the “blueprint”
they knew exactly how the crime had
been committed. Not that the thief ever
operated secretly. He was as public as if
he was starring in a major movie.

He was a fugitive as much in the open
as Edgar Allen Poe’s purloined letter.
The chase was difficult because he was
jet-setting all over two continents.

The crime was a quarter million dollar

jewel heist pulled off in broad daylight by
an amateur so bold he accomplished it

and escaped before the astounded eyes of
a bunch of spectators.

Around 1 p.M. Monday, June 19,1978, a
young blond man in a straw hat and
mirror sunglasses strolled into Mayor’s H,
one of two elegant jeweler’s outlets in the
elegant new Omni complex of posh
shops, restaurants, and hotel which had
recently opened in downtown Miami.
The store is located in the 1600-block of
Biscayne Boulevard, on thelower level of
the multistory center.

Dealing only in quality merchandise,
Mayor’s is never troubled by bargain-
hunting crowds, and this lunch hour the
young man was the sole customer, as
Emmet Gant was the sole clerk.

The customer, who was carrying .a
shopping bag, was expensively dressed in
a navy sports jacket, gray vest and
trousers, and dress shirt with a tie bar but
no tie. His moustache did not match the
blond hair visible under the edge of his
straw hat; but so many contemporary
men, particularly around Miami, were
dying or bleaching and permanent wav-
ing their hair these days that the
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moustache’s darker color was not even
remarkable.

The young man smiled pleasantly and
asked to see earrings. Gant lifted a tray
out of the showcase and placed it on top
of the glass counter. The young man
studied the baubles a moment or two,
then shook his head. He said he would
like to look at the diamond necklace in the
showcase fronting the store’s entrance
and on view from outside.

Gant moved from behind the counter
and walked around to the front window
showcase, turning his back to the
customer as he opened it with his key.
When he turned back with the necklace,
the young man, still smiling slightly, was
pointing a shiny pistol athim. Gant raised
his hands.

“Turn around!” ordered the thief.
Gant obeyed. The thief jerked the clerk’s
hands down and twisted them around
behind his back, snapping handcuffs on
his wrists. He took the necklace and the
kevs to the display cases. )

“Lie down on the floor! Face down!”
growled the young man. Gant did as he

Pictured here is $130,000 worth of the jewels stolen in the heist. These were found in the suspect’s hotel vault.

was told without protest or resistance.

Moving swiftly, the thief swept the
jewels spread out in the cases into his
shopping bag and hurried out the door,
handcuffing that shut behind him.

By now several noontime shoppers
were staring open-mouthed through the
jeweler’s plate glass window at the
robbery in progress. One couple from
Baltimore, in Florida on vacation, watch-
ed the young man, shopping bag clutched
under his arm, walk briskly across to a
white Ford Econoline van parked just a
few feet down the street. He climbed
into the back. It was an enclosed van;
there were no windows except those in
the cab. Lettering on the side said Merlin
Truck Rentals.

The Baltimore couple argued excitedly
about what to do. She clung to his arm,
frightened because she had seen the shiny
gun the thief carried.

They were still bickering when a figure
stepped from the van, hatless, dark-
haired without moustache, and dressed
“like Jimuny Connors.” He was wearing
white shorts, white sports shirt, white

socks, and tennis shoes. Carrying a case
with two rackets and a green plastic bag
such as might have held tennis balls, he
strode up the street, now trailed, at a short
distance, by a gaggle of fascinated on-
lookers.

Quickly he slid under the wheel of a
black Mercedes 450SL parked close by,
and drove off, his tires squealing. Several
among his rapt audience trotting behind
noted the license: out of state, “TTT.”
As the luxury black sportster sped east on
Venetian Canseway and out of sight, one
spectator recovered sufficiently to
telephone police.

The Baltimore tourist had by now
broken from his wife’s timorous clutch
and he ran toward the van. He yanked
open the door. There was no one inside.
No one dressed as the thief had been had
stepped out. Obviously, the fashonably
dressed straw-hatted blond man with
black moustache who entered the vehicle
was the same person as the white-clad
tennis player who exited moments later.

Uniformed officers were the first on the
scene, but the Miami Police Department
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(MPD) robbery unit was promptly called
in. Detective Herminio Joseph Ramirez,
a 15-year veteran, was assigned the case.

Bom in New York of Puerto Rican
parents, Ramirez had moved to Florida
with his family when he was a teenager,
and was graduated from Miami schools.
After a year on the force, he was assigned
to criminal investigation and, eventually,
to homicide. During seven years there, he
worked on many headline murders. One
particularly sensational murder still
puzzles him.

“That’s my albatross,” Ramirez now
says, but he has not given up hope of con-
cluding the case successfully.  Not
because of his inability to solve this case,
but because he needed less erratic hours
than homicide provides, Ramirez
transferred subsequently in order to com-
plete college. He received his Bachelor of
Science degree in 1976.

When Ramirez responded to the call
from Mayor’s, he could not possibly guess
how challenging this case was going to
prove, much less how far it was going to
take him.

Although badly upset and frightened,
Gant was unharmed. He was abletogive
police a preliminary list of missing items,
until the store’s manager and the chain’s
owner could draw up an official inven-
tory. The total came to $269,235. The 18
separate items were all listed in a file,
photographed and described.

In spite of all the eyewitnesses, the
best lead was the white Ford Econoline
rental van. It had beenrented at9:20 A M.
that morning and was due to be returned

June 21. The rental contract was signed
Tod Tuckerman. The address listed was
on Sunset Drive.

Police found the van exactly as
witnesses said it was when the straw-
hatted moustachioed blond man entered
it and the tennis-garbed brunet exited.
Merlin had received no notice that it had
been lost or stolen. There wereno jewels
in the van nor straw hat nor blond wig nor
false moustache nor navy jacket, gray
trousers, or vest.

The apartment on Sunset Drive had
recently been rented to a mannamed Tod
Tuckerman. Onetenant of the apartment
building had seen Tuckerman about noon
June 19, driving off in his black
Mercedes. He was wearing a straw hat.
This witness described Tuckerman as be-
ing in his mid-20’s, about tive feet six n-
ches tall, with black hair and dark eyes.

A close friend of Tuckerman's was
located, who told police he had last seen
the young man June 18 when they met for
Junch at the Brasserie in Coral Gables.
Tuckerman had been driving his black
Mercedes convertible which had a New
Jersey tag personalized with his initials.

Was the Tod Tuckerman of the Sunset
Drive apartment and black Mercedes the
same as the Tuckerman who had rented
the Ford van? -

Police learned from friends that

Tuckerman had his Mercedes serviced at
Bill Ussery Motors, paying his bills with
an American Express card. Detectives
obtained the van rental contract signed
Tod Tuckerman and the invoices he sign-
ed to charge repairs on the Mercedes to

his American Express card. Linda J.
Hart, examiner of questioned documents
for the Dade Public Safety Department
(PSD), declared the signatures were by
the same person. _

After the story of the heist broke in the
news, a witness came forward to report
she had been driving north on I-95 about
12:45 pm June 19, when she came up
behind a black Mercedes convertible
with the license TTT. She pulled
alongside in the adjoining lane and saw a
young man in a straw hat and sunglasses
driving. The Mercedes left 1-95 at a
downtown exit.

Miami police obtained the number of
Tuckerman’s credit card from the in-
voices at Bill Ussery Motors and re-
quested American Express to notify them
immediately of any charges made against
that card.

Meanwhile they canvassed as widely as
possible the area’s exclusive shops and
gathering spots of wealthy swingers.
Tuckerman’s friends said he had expen-
sive tastes and lived luxuriously. The
Mercedes, police learned, had previously
belonged to Tuckerman’s father who had
turned it over tohis sonin December, ask-
ing himto sellit. Instead, Tuckerman had
been driving it since then, his pride, joy,
and most cherished possession. Now
both Tuckerman and his beloved conver-
tible were missing.

The latter was found first. June 23,
1978, a complaint came in to Miami
Beach Police Department (MBPD) regar-
ding a presumably abandoned vehicle,
which had been parked for several days




without authorization in space reserved
for tenants at 20 Island Avenue on Bell
Island. MBPD recognized the vehicle as
the black Mercedes sought by their
colleagues on the City of Miami force. It
was towed in to MPD’s impoundment
and processed. Inside were found a gray
man’s vest, a paper bag, a green plastic
bag, a bottle of gum Arabie, two tennis
rackets, and a racket carrying case.

Tuckerman’s friend could not positive-
ly identify the vest, but said that he had
seen the young man weariing gray
trousers and vest with a navy sports
jacket. This was the outfit described by
Gant and witnesses outside Mayor’s as
having been worn by the jewel thief. A
Bell Island resident recalled having seen
the Mercedes parked where it was later
found about mid-afternoon the day of the
heist. He said it had been driven by a
young white man.

On June 27, Judge Ralph B. Ferguson,
Jr. signed a warrant to search Tucker-
man’s apartment on Sunset Drive on the
basis of a probable cause affadavit
attested to by Sergeant Keith Hardin.

The apartment complex on Sunset
Drive consisted of two parallel rows of
four white CBS buildings of three stories
running north and south, all connected
with cement walkways. Tuckerman’s
apartment was on the third floor in the se-
cond building north of Sunset Drive in the
east row.

Each apartment had two doors, one of
solid wood and one jalousiedontop. The
entrance to Tuckerman’s was the second
solid door from the south. All these
details were specified in the warrant,
which also specified that search was be-
ing made for 18 pieces of jewelry as
itemized, a wig, moustache, reflective
sunglasses, straw hat, gray trousers, navy
sports jacket.

These items were not found in the
apartment, but the thief’s “blueprint”
was. It was on aregular size piece of lined
notebook paper, crumpled up and dis-
carded. Besides the warnings to leave no
prints and to hide, admonitions in larger
printing than the rest ordered NOIDEN-
TIFICATION, CALL MERLIN at 7:00

There was areminder to get green bags
and put the tennis bag and hat in the van
and to get three bobby pins (presumably
to anchor on the wig. Then the procedure
steps were numbered:

1. Call Merlin at 7:00 (a repeat of the
larger instruction) Find out where

2. Drive to outside Omni

3. Taxi to Merlin with tennis (crossed
out) with out tennis

4. Van to mall fix windows (Judging
from other instructions higher on the
page, Tuckerman had expected the van
might have windows and he brought
paper and tape to mask them.) Setup for
hit

5. Watch [recipt] in Mayors (Police ul-
timately deduced this was to provide an
excuse, if necessary, for being at Omni).

6. Drive Home Disguise Tennis Bags
Prints

7. Back to Omni

8. Checks—doors—stairwell —
Escape—Route

At the bottom of the sheet was written
3995 NW 25 St. This is the address of one
of the Merlin outlets.

Friday, June 30, following anewspaper
article which described the robbery and
printed a picture of Tuckerman taken
from his New Jersey driver’s license, a
woman who worked in a costume shop
telephoned MPD. She recognized the
picture as that of a young man who had
been in her store at least twice several
weeks earlier. At different times he had
bought the blond wig and the black
moustache. Remembering him as the

purchaser of the blond wig, she had -

remarked that the black moustache
would not match.

“It doesn’t matter,” he had said. “I'm
only going to wear them one time.”

On a third visit to the shop he had tried
to persuade her to let him return the wig
for arefund. She had explained that the
store would not accept returned
merchandise.

Tod Tuckerman pulled off theft in broad daylight, then fled to Monte Carlo.

But, despite many, many weary hours
of inquiry, there was still no trace of the
bold daylight bandit who had coolly
handcuffed the clerk and stolen more
than a quarter of a million dollars worth
of jewels as spectators watched in the
busy Omni shopping center. Would the
case prove another unsolved “albatross”
for Sergeant Ramirez?

Finally, Wednesday, July 19, a month
after the crime, American Express, which
had issued a worldwide alert on Tucker-
man’s credit card, notified MPD that
charges had been made against the card
in a deluxe Paris boutique.

MPD enlisted the aid of Interpol. MPD
Sergeant Keith Hardin filed a complaint
and obtained a warrant from the Dade
Circuit Court for arrest of Tod Tucker-
man on robbery charges.

Then another call came in, this on¢
from the owner of Mayor’s.

He had just received a transatlantic
phone call from a friend on holiday in
Monte Carlo, Monaco.

The jeweler’s friend had stepped onto
the elevator in the splendid new 650-
room Loew’s Monte Carlo Hotel, where

(Continued on page 70)
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HAS ONE
SLAYING
SOLVED
ANOTHER?

The bubbly teenager was hrutally
murdered and parts of her

body scattered around the
countryside. Seven years later, as
‘Pennsylvania authorities still

press hard to wrap up the case,
there has been another killing whose
link to the DellaPenna mystery is
almost too hizarre to he helieved
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by ANDREW MASTERS

PHILADELPHIA, PA.,

MARCH 11, 1979

® On thefirst of July, just afew days after
graduating with honors from St. Hubert’s
High School, pretty, 17-year-old Dolores
DellaPenna left on a long-awaited
Florida vacation with her family. Ten
memorable days later, after a whirlwind
tour of the Sunshine State’s most popular
tourist attractions, she returned ex-
hausted, but exhilarated to her home on
Rawle Street in the Tacony section of
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Dolores” im-
mediate plans called for a few days’ rest
from the rigors of her southem trip. Then
the real vacation would begin.

It was something of a tradition among
St. Hubert girls to spend the summer after
graduation on Philadelphia’s Riviera—
the Jersey Shore. For most of them, the
summer months symbolized childhood’s
final fling, the last time to exult in
freedom from the responsibilities of
family, school, and work. In Dolores’
case, her vacation would come to an end
i September, when she was slated to
begin a course in X-ray technology at
Nazareth Hospital. To see her through
the summer, her parents had given her
$300 as a graduation present. Shehad put
it toward a quarter share in a small but
comfortable beachfront cottage on the
100 block of Forget-Me-Not Lane in
Wildwood Crest, New Jersey.

“We took her to the cottage after she
graduated,” Dolores’ father would recall.
“We'd never let her spend time in a place
we hadn'’t seen.”

The day after returning to Philadelphia
Dolores got out of bed early, at about
9:30. Although she was still tired from the
long trip, she told her mother that she’d
be glad to help her with the mountain of
laundry they’d brought back from
Florida.

“Here I am unpacking my bathing
suit,” she laughed as she emptied her
valise, “when I really should be folding it
up and getting ready to take it back to the
cottage.”

Dolores spent much of the day in front
of the washer and dryer. While the
clothes were spinning, she stole a few
seconds to phone her friends about the
wonders of Disney World in Orlando and
to let them know that she’d be going to
the shore in the next couple of days.
Dolores also found the time to brush a
rich coat of dark red polish on her nails
and to play a few tunes on the electric
organ. Latein the afterncon, she went out
briefly to pick up a pack of cigarettes at
the store on the corner of Rawle and
Tulip Street.

The next time Dolores left the house
was a few minutes past 7:00 p.m. After
slipping into a pair of jeans and a halter
top and carefully brushing her long dark
hair, she asked her father for a lift to the
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Dolores DellaPenna disappeared in
1972. Despite some clues, police
are still unable to solve her murder.

home of one of her closest friends on the
6800 block of Roosevelt Boulevard, near
Knorr Street.

“I don’t think they had any plans like
going to the movies or anything,” Mr.
DellaPenna recalled later. “I don’t
know.”

Dolores’ friend remembered what they
did that evening very clearly, however.

“We stayed at my place for a while and
then hitchhiked over to Kensington,
where my fiance lives,” she said. “We
didn’t do much but talk, mostly about
records and stuff. Dolores decided to
take a trolley home at about 11:30.”

“She had to be in before midnight,” her
father explained. “I was waiting up for
her.”

Red-eyed and nerve-wracked, Mr.
DellaPenna remained awake well into the
morning, waiting for Dalores to come
home. When, finally, he was forced to
admit that she wasn’t coming home, he
reported her missing to Philadelphia
police. Early on that sultry Wednesday
morning of July 12,1972, they began hun-
ting for the pretty teenager all over her
Tacony neighborhood. For more than 24
hours, they were unable to turn up so
much as a clue to her whereabouts.

Early the next day, however, a jacket
which the still-missing girl had borrowed
from a friend was found under a tree at
the corner of Tulip and Rawle Streets. A
few feet away were a pair of crucifixes
she always wore on a chain around her
neck. Nearby, on the pavement, were
three ominous bloodstains.

“I don’t like the looks of this at all,” one
detective said. “My guess is that she
mustve hitched a ride back to her house
from the trolley stop in Kensington.
When she got out of the car whoever had
given her the lift might not have been too
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John Egan stands accused of murder.
He alleges his victim was linked to
Dolores, but police dont know how.

eager to see her go. He could have grabb-
ed her, and hurt her and forced her back
inside the car.”

The investigator’s theory, while a
promising start, was discounted after
detectives interviewed a Route 56 trolley
driver who remembered picking up a girl
of Dolores’ description on the corner of
Frankford and Torresdale Avenues.

“She probably had transferred from
the number 5 bus,” he said. “There were
some elderly passengers on the trolley
when she got on, but they got off first. It
was about 11:40 when she got on. 1
dropped her off about five of 12 at
Torresdale and Knorr.”

Back at headquarters after their talk
with the trolley driver, investigators con-
sidered the new lead.

“Now it looks like she must've been
forced inside the car right after she
stepped off the trolley,” a detective said.
“My guess is that whoever did it saw her
get on the trolley and followed it until she
got off.”

Philadelphia police quickly shifted the
thrust of the probe to the missing girl’s
Tacony neighborhood. Few of the
residents had anything to tell them. One
man said that he had spent the early morn-
ing hours sitting on his porch, but did not
see or hear anything out of the ordinary.
Neither had the girl’s parents.

“I was waiting up for her,” Mr.
DellaPenna said. “There didn’t seem to
be anything unusual going on.”

With her whereabouts a total mystery,
Philadelphia police pushed the hunt for
Dolores DellaPenna throughout the city.
During repeated doos-to-door canvasses
of the Tacony neighborhood, they spoke
with virtually every shopkeeper and resi-
dent, hoping to find a clue that would tell
them where the missing teenager might

be found. But no one had anything to tell.

“I don’'t know what to tell you,” one
local merchant said. “She must havebeen
kidnapped. She was always such a quiet
girl. She always waited her turn in line,
untl we were ready to serve her. She
came here about three or four times every
week and always had a kind word.”

“We haven't left the house in two
weeks, ever since this happened,” Mr.
DellaPenna told reporters on Sunday
afternoon, July 23. “Every time the
phone rings, we hope it’s her, calling,

“What kills you is the waiting. .. .Just
sitting here, waiting. It’s torture to just sit
here and not know what’s wrong.”

Mr. DellaPenna said that he and his
wife would remain close to the phone
should either Dolores or the police call.
When it came, about 5:00 on Monday
afternoon, the call would not be from his
daughter or the officers probing her dis-
appearance, but from the local parish
priest. ..

Early on Saturday evening, a Jersey
City, New Jersey, man noticed a funny
odor permeating the air over Rova
Farms, a resort section of Jackson
Township, New Jersey, in the vast,
desolate pine barrens ten miles northwest
of Toms River and 50 miles due east of
Philadelphia. He followed his nose to the
source of the odor until, in a thickly
wooded lot, he was stunned to find the
headless, limbless torso of what appeared
to have beern a young woman beneath an
oak tree. Some 40 feet away were the
severed arms and their mutilated hands.
Hurrying from the scene on wobbly legs,
he made his way to a phone and called the
police.

Moments later, a team of local police
had arrived on the scene. They were
followed by a growing crowd of spec-
tators who hovered noisily around the
perimeters of the discovery.

“I don’t understand why nobody found
it a lot sooner,” a teenager said. “Look at
that light pole over there. At night itlights
up the whole area where the body war
found.”

Later in the evening the body was
transported to Community Memorial
Hospital, where an autopsy was slated for
early the following day. In the meantime,
medical detectives would attempt to
come up with an identity for the apparent
murder victim. Because of the extensive
publicity afforded the DellaPenna casein
local newspapers, New Jersey officials
called Philadelphia with word of the grim
find and a request for Dolores’ medical
records.

Late on Sunday, through the use of
spinal X-rays taken recently at Nazareth
Hospital, officials tentatively identified
the remains as those of the missing St.
Hubert High School graduate. The
Philadelphia medical examiner, Dr. Mar-
vin Aronson, cautioned that, although the
X-rays matched, “positive identification

(Continued on page 74)
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by LAWRENCE CORTESI

LOCKPORT, N.Y., JUNE 7, 1978

@ The city of Lockport in western New
York State lies northeast of Niagara Falls.
Captain Henry Newman, detective chief
of the Lockport Police Department, has
served as a detective for many years. In
Lockport, as everywhere else for the past
two decades, the crime rate has in-
creased: more robberies, more rapes,
more drug related crimes, and more
homicides. Captain Newman says the
triangle crime, where aroused passions
affect three people, holds the most
fascination for him. A triple tragedy
befalls the involved trio: one usually
dead, another sent to prison, and the third
individual mentally scarred in the
knowledge that he or she has been
responsible for the suffering of the other
two.

“On the McClanahan killing, the last
thing we suspected was a triangle passion
killing,” Captain Newman said. “To tell
the truth, we had no idea why the man
was blown away with a shotgun. It took
us two months to find a motive and only
then did we come up with a suspect.”

Twenty-one year old Michael L.
McClanahan had been a resident of
Lockport for most of his life. He had
graduated from thelocal high school here
and he had then worked on and off on asa
construction worker; people in Lockport
saw nothing conspicuous or unusual in the
blond haired youth. He seemed like just
another young man groping about to find
his slot in life. But, on the evening of April
17, 1977, two shotgun blasts ended
forever young Michael's search for his
proper niche in society.

About 8:30 p.M. on that cool April even-
ing, two young men came into the
Foodland Inc. grocery store on West
Avenue in Lockport. Oneof the men only
loitered about the store while the other
purchased a bag of groceries: cigarettes,
candy, some canned goods, and a few
other items. The men left the store
together and a few moments later the
clerk in the Foodland store heard two
shotgun blasts in the area to therear of his
store. For a full minute, the clerk simply
fidgeted uneasily. But then, one of the
young men who had been in the store a
few minutes earlier came dashing back
inside.
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“There’s been a shooting!” the young
man cried. “Somebody was shot in the
alley behind this store.”

The clerk hurried from behind his
counter and followed the youth outside,
turned the corner of the building, and
then rushed to the alley behind the store.
Then, the clerk gaped.

“Oh my God!”

In the alley, the other young man, the
one who had purchased the groceries, lay
in a crumpled heap sprawled in a dense
pool of blood. The left side of his face
was a red, pulpy, unrecognizable mess
and blood saturated his back. The bag of
groceries lay scattered in the alley.

The store clerk looked anxiously at the
other youth. “How did this happen? Who
did it? Who is he?”

- The youth shook his head. He said he
didn’t know.

“We better call the police;” the store
clerk said.

Within five minutes of the clerk’s call to
the Lockport Police Department, a city
patrol car, siren screaming, roared up to
the " Foodland store. Two uniformed
police officers got out of the vehicle and
rushed to the alley behind Foodland.
Here, the officers stared in horror at the
blood splattered body. One of the of-
ficers looked at the clerk and the youth.

“You didn’t touch anything, did you?”

The two men shook their heads.

Within 15 minutes, Detective Chief
Henry Newman and Detective William
Harris arrived at the alley along with two
forensic specialists, and the quartet
searched the area. The officers found two
spent shotgun shells, wadding for the
shells, the scattered bag of groceries near
the body, and a hard rolled, butted
cigarette.

The forensic specialists carefully put
the items in plastic bags. Then, Captain
Newman and Detective Harris question-
ed the two men, the store clerk and the
youth. The clerk told the officers that this
youth, along with the victim lying in the
alley, had come into his store at about 8:30
p.m. The dead man had purchased the
bag of groceries scattered here, but the
other youth had purchased nothing. He
had simply loitered about the store and
then, when the first young man left, this
vouth had followed him. A short time
later, the clerk said, he had heard two
shotgun blasts at the rear of the store.

Then, this youth had come back to the
store to report a shooting. He and the
youth ran to the rear of the store where
they found the victim lying in a pool of
blood. :
Now, Captain Newman questioned the
other man. The youth said he did not

know the dead man. He identified
himself as Richard Garvey, age 19, of
Niagara Street in Lockport. He said he
had coincidentally come into the store
about the same time as the dead man.
But, Garvey claimed, he could not find
what he wanted so he left without buying
anything. It was mere chance that he and
the dead man had entered and left the
store at about the same time. Garvey said
he had walked toward his car while the
other man walked towards the alley. Gar-
vey had walked a short distance when he
suddenly remembered he’d forgotten to
buy some cigarettes. As he walked back
to the store, he heard the shotgun blasts in
the alley to the rear. ]

So, Garvey continued, he had rushed to
the rear of the store where he found the
dead man lying in a thick pool of blood,
with the man’s bag of groceries simply
scattered near the body.

“Did you see or hear anybody? See a
car? Anything like that?” Captain Henry
Newman asked.

“No,” Garvey shook his head.

The 19-year-old youth said he had
found the alley totally deserted except for
the dead man. He had not heard a car
engine, he had not seen anybody running,
and he had not heard any voices. Whenhe
saw the dead man, he had rushed back to
the Foodland store.

The clerk told Captain Newman that,
while he thought the dead man and Gar-
vey had come into the store together, he
could not swear that they were ac-
quainted. He had not recalled either of
them speaking to each other.

“Okay,” Newman told the store clerk
and Richard Garvey. “Give the officers
your names and addresses; we may want
to talk to you again later.”

By 9:30 p.m. Dr. Louis Raymond, the
Niagara County coroner, arrived at the
alley. Dr. Raymond examined the body
carefully and then rose to his feet to look
at Captain Henry Newman.

“I'd say he was shot twice at closerange
with a shotgun. The shot into the man’s
back probably came from a dozen feet



(Left) Attendants remove the body of
Michael McClanahan from alley where
he was shotgunned to death. McClan-
ahan (above) was victim of jealousy..

The 21-year-old drifter had tried to settle down to a normal life.
Instead he died horribly with a bag of groceries scattered around
him. Upstate New York police had to find who had ambushed him

away, tore his back open, and also knock-
ed him down. The second shot, the one to
the side of the face, was fired withina few
inches while the man was already lying on
the ground. This second shot almost tore
his head off. He undoubtedly died from
massive hemorrhaging and shock,” Dr.
Raymond said. “He probably died in-
stantly,” the doctor shook his head. “A
shotgun is a dreadful weapon at close
range.”

“How long has he been dead?”

“Less than an hour,” Dr. Raymond said.

Then, before ambulance attendants
took the body away, the Lockport police
searched the victim. However, they
found no wallets or papers. So, Captain
Newman would need to learn the iden-
tification of the dead man as well as his
killer.

Captain Newman, Detective Harris,
and several uniformed officers now
questioned residents and business people

around West Avenue. Had anyone seen a
car or person in the vicinity of the alley
behind the Foodland store at about 8:30
p.M.P But, the Lockport police -officers
only picked up nebulous information.

‘One witness had heard a vehicle in the

alley, but she had paid no attention to the
sound as cars and trucks were always
rumbling through the alley as a shortcut.
She had not gone to her rear window to
take a look, so she had no idea what kind
of vehicle it might have been or who was
inside this vehicle. She had also heard the
shotgun blasts, but she had simply assum-
ed the vehicle had backfired as it roared
through the alley.

A second witness had also heard the
shotgun blasts, perhaps 30 seconds apart.
He too had believed the sounds to be
those of a car backfiring. He did go to his
window out of curiosity and he had
caught a glimpse of a dark colored van
coming out of the alley behind the

Foodland store. He thought he had seen
two young men in the car, but he could
not get a clear view because it was dark.
The witness had not seen which direction
the vehicle followed as it zoomed out of
the alley, and he had not gotten the make
and model of the van. Finally, he had not
gotten the license plate number.

“I just figured it was a couple of kids
speeding through the alley,” the man told
Captain Newman. “Those damn kids are
always roaring through here like maniacs
and making a lot of noise.”

Captain Newman questioned other
people in the area, but none of them
could add anything to the statements of
the man and woman. Further, no one
could identify the dead man in the alley.

As soon as Captain Newman returned
to his office at the Lockport Police
Department, he sent out an APB on a mis-
sing person, giving a full description of
the murder victim: about five feet seven
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inches tall, somewhat thin, blond hair,
light complexion, and blue eyes. The man
had been wearing a dark leather jacket,
denim trousers, and a. dark-colored
pullover shirt. But, by the next morning,
no police agency had responded positive-
ly. They had no one of the deceased’s
description reported as a missing person.

All during the moming of April. 18,
Lockport police officers combed the city
to find a person who knew someone of
the dead man’s description, especially
someone who had been missing for the
past 12hours or more. The Niagara Coun-
ty Sheriff's Department had also sent
deputies throughout the county to iden-
tify the murder victim. But, by early
afternoon, after city and county police
had spoken to dozens of people, Captain
Newman had yet to find anyone who
could identify the dead man.

Then, Captain Henry Newman got
both the autopsy report and the finger-
print report. The postmortem had merely
verified Dr. Raymond’s suspicions. The
victim had been struck in the back with
the first shotgun blast from 15 feet away
and he had been struck in the head at
pointblank range. The man had died
from shock and massive hemorrhaging,
with the second blast blowing the victim’s
head to a bloody pulp.

While the postmortem report offered
nothing new, the fingerprint report from
the New York State Police files in Albany
identified the dead man as 21 year old
Michael L. McClanahan of West Avenue

in Lockport: The prints had been on file

because Michael McClanahan had been
arrested twice in the past. In June of 1975
he had been charged with third degree
burglary and second degree possession of
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Richard Garvey, left, lured victim into alley where murderer lay in ambush for him.

burglary tools. He had also been arrested
in December of 1975 for larceny and fifth
degree possession of a controlled sub-
stance. McClanahan had spent some
months in the Niagara County Jail on
these charges.

Captain Henry Newman now dug into
the background of the deceased. He
learmned that the Lockport native had
been pretty much on his own since he
graduated from high school. He had
worked at odd jobs, mostly in construc-
tion and fast food establishments. And,
people in Lockport who had known the
man said he had never shown too much
responsibility in his work habits. Still, at
the time of his death, he had been work-
ing quite steadily for a construction firm.

“Let’s talk to his boss,” Captain New-
man said.

Detective William Harris nodded.

At a construction site in Lockport, Cap-
tain Newman and Detective Harris learn-
ed from McClanahan’s boss that the dead
man had been working here efficiently
and regularly for the past six weeks. He
had not lost time from his job and he had
always arrived for work on time. He had
not loafed on the job, caused any trouble,
nor complained about his duties. He got
along quite well with fellow employees.

“He said he had family respon-
sibilities,” the supervisor said. “So, he
wanted to work and earn a steady in-
come.”

“Family!” Captain Newman huffed. “1
didn’t think he had a family.”

The construction supervisor grinned. “I
don’t think it’s a wife. I think he’s living
with some girl and taking care of her. |
don’t know who she is because he never
said much about her.”

Captain Newman and Detective Harris
now spoke to the murdered man’s fellow
workers. All of them expressed shock at
Michael McClanahan’s murder. They -
said they knew of no enemies the man
had and no one who would want to gain
any revenge against him. They claimed
that the dead man had given up a life of
drifting and irresponsibility and he had
settled down to a normal, hard working
life. Two men who were close to
McClanahan said he was tied pretty close
with a young woman who was estranged
from her husband. In fact, the dead man
had apparently been living with the
woman and her two kids. But, like the
supervisor, these construction workers did
not know who the girl was.

Now, the Lockport detectives can-
vassed the city to learn the identity of this
girl friend. They questioned dozens of
people and finally found a witness who
gave police a description of the girl,
although the informant did not know the
girl's name. Then, as police probed

“deeper, they learned that the girl in ques-

tion was the young, pretty, estranged
wife of one Ronald Woods, age 23, of
Lock Street, in the city of Lockport.

“Could this be a triangle?” Detective
Harris wondered.

“l don't know,” Captain Newman
answered, “but I think this Ronald Woods
has a police record.”

Newman checked Ronald Woods’
background. Police files verified the past
record. Woods had been arrested on
several occasions in the past, mostly for
petty property thefts. Captain Newman
also learned that Woods himself had also
been somewhat of a drifter and an on and
off employee in a multitude of menial
jobs in the Lockport area. The man had
been married for several years but for the
past six months, after weeks of bickering
and fighting, his wife had left him.
However, the couple had not applied for
formal separation or divorce.

The 23 year old Ronald Woods
appeared calm and cooperative when
Lockport  detectives questioned him.
Woods said he knew nothing whatever
about the killing of 21 year old Michael
McClanahan except for what hehad read
in the papers. He admitted that he and his
wife had been at odds with each other for
several months, but he hoped they could
resolve their,differences.

“Did you know that your wife and kids
were living with Michael McClanahan?”
Captain Newman asked.

Ronald Woods shrugged. He told the
Lockport detective chief that he had
suspected his wife of taking up with
somebody, but he had no idea who the
man was. However, Woods claimed, he
had made no attempt to find out. He and
his wife were separated and so Woods
assumed she could do as she pleased.

“Didn’t it bother you to think she might
have been living with someone else?”
Detective Harris asked. B



Captain Henry Newman of Lockport
police department headed investiga-
tion of Michael McClanahan slaying.

Woods admitted that he abhorred the
idea: his wife and kids with another man.
But, he said again, there wasn’t anything
he could do about it.

Despite more questioning, Ronald
Woods still contended thathehadno idea
that Michael McClanahan had been the
man who took up with his estranged wife.
He also contended that he did not know
the man at all, had never seen him, and
had no idea who would want to murder
him. And yes, Woods admitted, he did
own a van, but he had never driven the
vehicle near the Foodland store on West
Avenue and certainly not through the
alley behjnd the store.

“There are hundreds of dark-colored
vans in Niagara County,” Woods said.

Thus, the two police officers could only
come away with a mild suspicion, for
they did not have a single clue to link
Ronald Woods with the murdered
Michael McClanahan.

The Lockport police now questioned
the estranged wife of Ronald Woods. She
appeared quite upset by the questioning
and still shaken over the sudden, brutal
murder of Michael McClanahan. She told
police that she had known the dead man
for two or three months but she didn’t
know if anything permanent would come
from this relationship. The woman ad-
mitted that her estranged husband had a
short temper, but she denied that he
would kill anybody. Further, she had ab-
solutely no idea who would murder
Michael McClanahan. When Captain
Newman asked the woman why she had
not reported McClanahan missing, she

said that he had often gone off for twoor -

three days at a time, so she thought
nothing of it this time.

Now, police questioned other people
who knew McClanahan well. None of
them knew anybody who would want to
kill the man. They knew of nobody who
held any grudge against him. At best,
some of these acquaintances thought that
only Ronald Woods would have a motive
since the dead man had been seeing
Woods estranged wife.

Police continued to question other peo-
ple, including the two younger brothers
of Ronald Woods and the youth who had
run into the Foodland store to report the
shooting. All three young men denied any
knowledge in the shooting. They knew of
no one who would kill McClanahan. The
Woods brothers insisted that their brother
Ronald, although upset over the
relationship between Michael
McClanahan and the estranged wife,
would never kill the man. He was not the
type. Richard Garvey still claimed he had
seen nothing in the alley that night: no
vehicle and no people. He had simply
been the accidental discoverer of the
dead man. Finally, he said he didn’t know
the Woods brothers or the victim.

The Lockport police plugged along in
their investigation, but they had little to
go on: only the bag of groceries, the
shotgun shell casings, and the wadding.
New York State Police officers as well as
Niagara County sheriff detectives had
also questioned dozens of people, but
came up empty. The New York State
Police lab in Albany; meanwhile, was un-
able to match the shell casing or the wad-
ding to any shotgun record in their files.

Soon, the days turned into a week and
the weeks into a month and more. Cap-
tain Henry Newman still had no line on
the killer for the meager clues had not

Police escort Ronald Woods to his arraignment on murder charges.

been enough to bring in a suspect. And
worse, the trail grew cold.

Then, during the second week in June,
three youths had been arrested and
brought to the Lockport Police Depart-
ment on charges of petit larceney. They
insisted on seeing Captain Newman.

“Why?” the booking sergeant asked.

“We know something about the
MchIanahan murder,” one of the youths
said.

The booking sergeant jerked in sur-
prise but he immediately sent the youths
to the chief of detectives. The youths
claimed that during the second week in
April, two months ago, 17 year old Randy
Woods, the brother of Ronald, had made
an astonishing boast to them. Allegedly,
on April 17th, Randy Woods had told
these youths that there was going to bea
killing in Lockport tonight, helter-skelter
style. Randy Woods had further told the
three young men that he would lay ten to
one odds that the person “blown away”
would be none other than Michael
McClanahan. By inference, the three
youths said, Randy’s older brother
Ronald would be the executioner because
Ronald was fanatically jealous of
McClanahan’s relationship with Ronald’s
estranged wife. And, the three youths
told Captain Newman, Richard Garvey
and Ronald’s other brother, Gary, had
been part of the execution plot. Garvey
had deliberately befriended Michael
McClanahan to lure him into the murder
trap.

Now, Captain Henry Newman im-
mediately obtained a warrant to search
both Ronald Woods’ van and his home on
Lock Street. Forensic specialists found

(Continued on page 67)
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it appeared that she had been stabbed
and bludgeoned to death. There were
three puncture wounds in the throat and
two gashes on the head.

Crime lab technicians moved in with
their paraphernalia. They photographed
the body and conducted a minute search
for clues. In-the kitchen they found a
knife with blood onit. The weapon was a
kitchen knife that apparently belonged to
the victim. Inthatsame room technicians
found a two-by-two stick with blood on
it. They determined that the stick had
been used by the elderly woman as adoor
stop.

Near the front door the technicians
found broken glass on the floor. It was
obvious that the intruder had broken a
glass panel in the door so that he could
reach his armin and unlock the door. The
glass was swept up and bagged as
evidence.

Major Lowery and police chief Cole
noted that the househad beenransacked.
At this point in the investigation,
however, they had no way of knowing
what had been taken.

Technicians now working outside the
house found a shoeprint in the soft earth
near a window. Wet plaster was poured
into the print and allowed to harden.

Mrs. Grote’s body was taken to the
county morgue for autopsy. The
pathologist’s report stated that the
woman had died from stab wounds to the
throat. He found extensive burns on her
abdomen, but they had not been suf-
ficient to cause death. He was unable to
find any carbon monoxide in her lungs,
which indicated that the woman was
dead before the burning mattress had
been placed on top of her. He could find
no evidence that she had been raped.

A canvass of the block turned up
nothing except background information
on Mrs. Agnes Grote. The woman who
turned in the fire alarm said, “It was about
five minutes to ten and we were going to
church. My husband had gone out to get
the car from the garage. He said to call
the fire department. Agnes’s house was
on fire.”

She said she had not seen anyone near
the vietim’s place that morning or the
night before. “Agnes did haveoccasional
visitors,” the woman stated. “She went
with us on Friday morning to do her shop-
ping. Ihelped her carry the groceries in.”

Detectives learned that Mrs. Grote and
her husband had moved into the
neighborhood 18 years ago, and that Mr.
Grote had died in 1971

Residents who gathered in the street to
discuss the murder were questioned by
investigators. They were unable to supp-
ly any information. They had not seen
anyone suspicious on the block. Many of
them were frightened.

One woman said, “We don’t know
whether we're going to sleep.”

continued from page 18

Another said, “It’s eerie. I'm really
scared. I mean, Mrs. Grote was very love-
ly, a friendly person. Everybody liked
her. Other than the church group she
belonged to, she wasn’t very active. She
had a few friends who dropped in to see
her now and then, but that’s about it. She
was just an average person like you and
me.”

One man said, “The way things are
around here, with nobody knowing what
happened or how or why, were afraid. 1
used to drive Mrs. Grote to church. 1
don't like to talk too much about it, but
my wife and I are home a lot, and this is
frightening.”

Detectives continued to canvass but
turned up nothing of importance to the
case. Technicians struck out in their
attempts to pick up prints on the two-by-
two stick used as abludgeon. Thekitchen
knife did notyield any clear prints, either.

During the three-day investigation only
one fact of any significance arose. Gerald
Garrett lived three houses away from
Mrs. Agnes Grote.

Probers, of course, went to see him.
They were equipped with a warrant to
search the house. They learned that the
youth was working at the Cochran
Veterans Hospital. But in his room they
found a screwdriver with tiny flecks of
paint on it. They dropped thetoolinto an
evidence bag. In his closet the sleuths
found a pair of shoes. On the sole of one
there were small bits of glass clinging to
the rubber. The shoes were carefully
bagged and brought to the crime lab.

Later that day lab technicians deter-
mined that Garrett’s shoe was the same
size as the plaster mold of the shoeprint
found in the soft earth near the victim’s
house. They also found a similarity in the
glass on the sole of the shoe with the glass
on the floof near Mrs. Grote’s front door.
Another check with the front door show-
ed that an attempt had been made to jim-
my it, and that the flecks of paint on the
screwdriver were similar in color and tex-
ture to the paint on the front door.

It was April 5. Chief Cole and Major
Lowery had a conference with members
of the county prosecutor’s office and they
decided to arrest Gerald Garrett on-
probable cause. The suspect was at work
when he was approached by detectives
and arrested.

The $35,000 bond was now upped to
$50,000. This was in connection with the
murder of Mrs. Estelle Stern. Garrett was
held in lieu of $250,000 bond after he was
charged with the killing of Agnes Grote.
On April 26, 1977 the suspect was in-
dicted on that latter charge by a St. Louis
County Circuit Court grand jury.

Surprises in the case were far from

Corcota Paisy [©

over. In June, 1977, two months after the
Grote slaying, Garrett’s attorney asked
the court to set aside his client’s convic-
tion, in the murder of Mrs. Stern because
the court reporter had become mentally
incapable of preparing a transcript of
Garrett’s trial. When making an appeal, a
transcript is required.

Judge Rickhoff, who had presided at
Garrett’s trial, would not comment on the
nature of the court reporter’s illness.

All attempts to decipher the reporter’s
notes by other court reporters failed. St.
Louis County doesnothave backup tape-
recording systems as do courts in some
counties. Garrett’s attorney filed the mo-
tion to vacate the guilty verdict because
“the reporter is unable and in the future
will be unable to prepare the transcript.”

The Missouri Court of Appeals agreed
with the attorney and set the verdict
aside. Garrett will now be tried again for
the murder of Mrs. Estelle Stern. On this
basis it must be assumed that he is inno-
cent of the charge until proved guilty in
court.

Gerald Garrett will also be tried for the
murder of Mrs. Agnes Grote. Again; he
must be assumed innocent of the crime
until found guilty in a court of law.

One more knotty problem awaited the
court. On February 15, 1978, Garrett’s
new attorney, Kenneth E. Tilsen, filed a
motion in the St. Louis County Circuit
Court claiming that Garrett had stolen a
coin purse containing $400 when he was
in Mrs. Stern’s houe two days before the
fatal stabbing. Garrett had originally
said he was looking for a broom. His
testimony concerned his fingerprints
found in the house.

In filing the motion, Tilsen asked the
court to remove Assistant Prosecuting At-
torney Steven H. Goldman from the case
so that Goldman could be called on to
testify at the new trial to explain why Gar--
rett had withheld the information about
the purse theft.

Tilsen speculated that Goldman and
Garrett’s former attorney, Hugh White,
agreed not to introduce the theft into the
first trial. It was Tilsen’s contention that
White did not want to embarrass the
defendant.

Assistant Prosecuting Attorney Gold-
man denied the accusation. He stated
that Garrett’s defense team was simply
trying to delay the retrial.

Goldman stated, “I will prbably file a
motion to have his attorneys removed so
they can testify for the prosecution on a
perjury charge we might file against Gar-
rett” withrespect to the theft of the purse.

That’s the way the situation stands as of
this writing. The correspondent will
supply follow-up information on both
trials as it develops. ®

Epiror’s NoTE:
The name Gary Haines is fictitious and
was used becase there is no publicinterest
in his true identity.
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THE CLEANUP SPOT

In further developments in the mass
murder case involving John Wayne Gacy
(How Many Boy Victims for the Homo
Butcher? April FRONT PAGE, 1979),
police report unearthing another body on
March 16. The body was found under the
floor boards of an addition to Gacy’s
home. It was not wrapped in plastic as
was a body found under Gacy’s driveway
on March 9. This latest find brings the
total number of murdered youths to 32:
29 found around his property, 3
recovered from area rivers.

The parents of Robert Piest, a 15-year-
old youth believed to have been strangled
by Gacy, have filed an $85 million
damage suit naming the Chicago police
and prison and parole authorities -as
defendants. The suit charges that the
parole board in Iowa had been negligent
in prematurely freeing Gacy from jail
after he served only 18 months of a ten-
year sentence for sodomy.

The Piests are the second couple to sue
in relation to the mass murder. Last
month the parents of alleged murder vic-
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tim John Butkovitch sued Gacy for $6
million in damages from any revenue he
might receive from a book about the
killings.

Rutland County State’s Attorney John
Liccardi came under harsh criticism from
the state’s Supreme Court for failing to
reveal evidence favorable to the accused
in the murder trial of Robert Goshea (The
Muystery Corpse on Killington Mountain,
May FRONT PAGE, 1978). As a conse-
quence, the Supreme Court overturned
Goshea’s conviction.

The evidence involved an apparent
sighting of Ronald Rodgers, the man
Goshea allegedly murdered in July, 1971.
A controversy sprung up over whether
the charred, shotgunned body of a man
found in Sherburne was that of Rodgers.
The body had been identified by
Rodgers’ uncle, who cited scars, a tattoo,
and physical features in making the iden-
tification. A pathologist testified at
Goshea’s trial that he found no scars on
the corpse and that the fire made the tat-

Cook County sheriff’s men remove another body from John Wayne Gacy’s home. This was the 29th body found there.

too indecipherable and distorted the
physical features. Stranger yet, the corpse
had a spleen. Rodgers had hisremovedin
1961.

Rodgers was known to have discussed
a scheme to find a lookalike, murder him,
and then disappear in order to avoid
prosecution for robbery.

During Goshea’s trial, a witness ap-
proached the state’s attorney’s office to
say he had seen a man in Burlington who
appeared to be Rodgers.

Liccardi’s error was that he failed to
mention the incident to either the judge or
defense counsel. Not only that, but Lic-
cardi emphasized in presenting the state’s
case that Rodgers hadn’t been seen since
the body was discovered. Thus, not only
did the prosecutor withhold evidence, he
took advantage of its absence from the
record by arguing its nonexistence.

“Such a tactic,” wrote the Supreme
Court, “is unfair and pernicious.” Liccar-
di; it ruled, had violated Goshea’s rights.

Linda May Burnett was sentenced to
death for her part in the murder of oneof
the five members of a Texas family



(Where Was the Phillips Family?
November FRONT PAGE, 1978). Mrs.
Bumnett will be the only woman on death
row at the state prison in Huntsville, Tex-
as.

“There aren’t enough years in the book
to satisfy your crimes,” Albany County
Court Judge John J. Clyne said on March
9, 1979 when sentencing Lemual Smithto
four consecutive terms of 25 years to life
for the stabbing murders of Robert
Hedderman and Margaret C. Byron
(Teeth Marks on Her Breast, September
FRONT PAGE, 1978). Smith was also
sentenced to 12} to 25 years for robbery
in connection with the murders. Judge
Clyne also announced that he intended to
send minutes of the sentencing procedure
to the New York State Parole Board so
that they would be onrecord when Smith
becomes eligible for parole in 30 years.
Both Robert Hedderman and Margaret
Byron were murdered in a small religious
shop on Columbia Street, Albany, N. Y.
on Thanksgiving Eve, 1976.

Defense attorneys for Michael Borrelli,
convicted of murdering his business
partner Hal Levine (The $5 Million Dollar
Murder in the Green Velvet Jungle,
November FRONT PAGE, 1977), are
seeking a new trial for their client on
grounds one of the jurors serving at his
trial was incapable of deciding Borrelli’s
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt because
she was taking mind-altering drugs while
serving on the panel. A member of the
Colorado Board of Medical Examiners
testified at a hearing before Denver Dis-
trict Judge Robert Fullerton, who presid-
ed over Borrelli’s trial, that the juror had
more prescription drugs at her disposal
than any patient he’d ever known. “She
was literally living on medication that
would cause many mind-altering
effects, Dr. Nelson Mohler testified dur-
ing the course of the two-day hearing.
The juror, it was revealed, also lied to at-
torneys during jury selection when asked
if she used drugs. She has since died of a
drug overdose and her survivors have
brought a malpractice suit against the
pshyciatrist who prescribed the drugs for
her, alleging he shouldn’t have continued
to prescribe the potentially lethal drugs to
a person he knew was suicidal. It has not
yet been decided whether Borrelli will
have a new trial.

The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled that
it will not hear the case of Charles
Sylvester Bell, sentenced to die in the
Mississippi gas chamber for the May,
1976 murder of service station attendant
Danny Haden (They Were Out to Tear
the Town Apart, July FRONT PAGE,
1977). This was one of a series of appeals
that have so far postponed the sentence
beinlg carried out. Bell was convicted in
March, 1977. The State Supreme Court
upheld the conviction in May, 1978, set-

Lemual Smith was found guilty of two muraers and sentenced on March 9, 1979.
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ting July 7 of that year for the execution.
The execution was postponed until
September 9 when Bell's attorney filed a
motion for a rehearing. That hearing was
denied. The execution date was again
postponed when the appeal to the U.S.
Supreme Court was filed.

A spokesman for the state attorney
general’s office said the state will now file
a motion with the Mississippi Supreme
Court asking the judges to set a new ex-
ecution date.

Bell’'s attorneys say they plan to follow
an appeal process through lower federal
courts. They are waiting to receive copies
of the U.S. Supreme Court’s order before
they proceed, however.

Rensselaer County Court Judge M. An-
drew Dwyer, Jr. ruled “nothing improper
took place” during the sequestration of
the jury which convicted Michael Dennis
Moore of the 1977 robbery and murder of
Diane LaFond (Mother of Six Killed for
Her Christmas Money! December
FRONT PAGE, 1978). The alleged im-
propriety involved the use of the
telephone at the motel where the jurors
were staying. Judge Dwyer had ruled
that only deputies and court officers
could contact jurors’ families. To meet
the judge’s stipulation, the manager of the

motel disconnected the telephones in the:

jurors’ rooms. Moore’s defense attorney,
Donald J. Shanley, checking into the se-
questration procedures, found that $8.40
worth of callshad been made, atotal of 28
calls. At a hearing called to consider the
matter, ten of the calls were accounted
for. Theremaining 18, it was shown, were
made from the room where the deputies
and court officers were staying. As far as
could be determined, they were not
made by any jurors.

Jeffrey R. MacDonald claims the
federal government’s prosecution of the
case in which he has been charged with
the 1970 murders of his wife and two
young daughters at Fort Bragg, North
Carolina (August FRONT PAGE, 1970)
represents a violation of his constitutional
protection against double jeopardy. Mac-
Donald brought this allegation before the
U.S. Supreme Court which refused, for

“the second time, to hear the former doc-

tor’s appeal. MacDonald was a captain in
the Army Medical Corps assigned to the
Green Berets at Fort Bragg when his
family was slain.

Daniel Russell Monro, found guilty of
three counts of murder in the deaths of
Gerald Hoffman, Jeff Hoffman, and Jeff
Beavers (Little Soldiers in Widening
Pools of Blood, May FRONT PAGE,
1979) was sentenced tolife imprisonment
on these charges on February.6, 1979.
Munro was found guilty of the crimes on
January 25, 1979 after a trial lasting two
weeks. o
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OVERKILL OF THE WEALTHY DOCTOR

investigation either. The fingerprints
found in the car other than those of Dr.
Glaesel, all belonged to Rainer Wittayer,
which was not strange ashe had acted not
only as butler and cook, but also as
chauffeur as the circumstances demand-
ed. On the night of the murder, he had
been at home in his room in Dr. Glaesel’s
apartment and had been seen by several
members of the hospital staff at various
times during the evening.Moreover, it
soon became clear that Wittayer not only
did not stand to inherit anything, but lost
a very well paid job as well. Dr. Glaesel
had, indeed, died intestate, and his entire
estate went to the nephews in Salzburg.

On other fronts, slightly more progress
had been made. There were indications
that the victim had been either heterosex-
ual or bisexual, but definitely not entirely
homosexual, as he had had a number of
affairs with women and had had, at the
time of his death, a steady girl friend, a
37-year-old secretary named Carola
Zimmermann.

Interviewed, Miss Zimmermann stated
that the doctor had been anything but
homosexual and expressed surprise that
she had not been mentioned in his will.
They had been, she said, engaged to be
married.

Informed that the doctor had not left a
will, she said that that was too bad, but ex-
pressed no other particular regrets.

“She’s a strange one,” said the sergeant,
who had done the interviewing. “She
neither seemed surprised nor sorry when
she learned the doctor was dead. I got the
impression she could care less.”

“Are you certain that shedidn’t already
know it?” said the inspector. “After you
were at the hospital on Sunday the word
spread all over town inno time. [imagine
Schultheis would have talked too.”

“It’s possible,” said the sergeant. “1
didn’t ask her if she’d heard about it
already. Do you want me to follow up
any further?”

“I don’t think so,” said the inspector.
“The anal intercourse effectively
eliminates any possibility of a female
suspect. I think that Miss Zimmermann
may merely be a little disappointed at
missing a good catch. Most secretaries
would give their eyeteeth to marry adoc-
tor.”

“Well, then, I suppose we must look at
the patients,” said the sergeant. “Wittayer
could have doneit, of course. We can’t ac-
count for all his time that evening, but
there doesn’t seem to be any motive. All
that the murder got him was the loss of a
good job.”

“Did you check to see if he has any
reputation of being homosexual?” said
the inspector.

“Not a whisper,” said thesergeant. “He
fathered two kids and his wife divorced
him for fooling around with another
woman, one of the nurses at the hospital,
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as a matter of fact. She’s since left.”

“Make a note to find out where she is
and mterview her,” said the inspector
absently. “Now, on the patients, we're go-
ing to have a big job ahead of us...”

It was a very big job. In the 17 years
that Dr. Hans Glaesel had been director
of the Pfalz Clinic for Nervous Disorders,
he had come into contact with enormous
numbers of distrubed persons, many of
whom were homosexual or had even
more serious emotional problems.

As is often the case, a large number of
his patients had developed emotional at-
tachments to their doctor and there had
been, over the years, many incidents, all
of which now'had to be checked out.

Fortunately for the police, the majority
of these incidents involved girls or
women and these were automatically
eliminated by the circumstances of the
murder. The male patients, however, all
had to be included because Dr. Enten had
said that the murderer need not have a
record of homosexuality and that theactof
anal intercourse might be nothing more
than a further demonstration of the
savage desire to humiliate and destroy the
victim. In a sense, it was pointed out, the
doctor had been murdered three times in
three different ways. The fact that the
murderer had brought along a sex lubri-
cant indicated premeditation and he did
not think that this would occur to a
homosexual rapist. He was not, however,
able to state with certainty whether the
rape had taken place before or after
death. There was no indication thatit had
been resisted.

“But I thought that the patients were
emotionally attached to their doctor,”
said the inspector. “If so, why would any
of them want to destroy and humiliate
him?”’

“Feelings of rejection, perhaps,” said
the doctor. “They loved the doctor, but
they feared that he didn’t love them. As
you no doubt know, the borderline
between intense love and intense hate is
not at all distinct, particularly in
emotionally unstable persons such as
these.” '

“Doesn’t make our job any easier,”
remarked the inspector. “If all the
suspects are mental cases, we can’t expect
any logical actions from them.”

“Not logical by our standards, agreed,”
said the doctor, “but logical by theirs and,
in a way, their actions could be more
predictable. After all, murder itself isn’t a
very logical action, is it?”

The inspector agreed that it was not
and went back to supervising the sorting
of the hospital records of the various
patients who had passed through the
hands of Dr. Hans Ulrich Glaesel. The ob-
ject was to find those who were male,
who had had sexual problems of some
kind, and who-had displayed a strong at-
tachment for the doctor. The first two

items could be determined from the
records. The last could not.

“Im also eliminating a few very old
men and a few who are physically han-
dicapped,” said the sergeant. “Then,
there are some who were in other in-
stitutions at the time of the crime and a
few who have died. Even so, I'm afraid
weTe going to have a long list.”

“We'll start with the most recent ad-
missions to the hospital and work back,”
said the inspector. “And make a point of
checking whether they have driver’s
licenses.”

“You think the ones who don’t can be
eliminated?” said the sergeant.

“I think they’re the most likely,” said
the inspector. “Whoever drove the car
into that vineyard couldn’t drive for sour
apples.”

“Right,” said the sergeant. “By the way,
Karl has located the nurse who was the
grounds for Wittayer’s divorce. I think
you said you wanted her interviewed.”

“For the record,” said the inspector. “1
still tend to suspect butlers. Where is
she?”

“Saarbreucken,” said the sergeant.
“Somebody’ll have to drive over there.”

“Send Karl,” said the inspector.

Kark, who was one of the department’s
junior detectives, drove the some 50 miles
to Saarbruecken on the French border,
interviewed the nurse, and got back in
time to report to the inspector before he
went home for the day.

“Wittayer has a strange taste in
women,” he said. “The lady is close to 60
and she’s built like a Japanese wrestler. I
don’t know how he could do it.”

“The same as everybody else
probably,” said the inspector. “What did
she say?”

“That it was none of our damn business
who she did what with,” said the detec-
tive. “Total lack of cooperation.”

“You got nothing then?” said the in-
spector.

“I got a lot of gossip,” said the detec-
tive. “The younger nurses say that she
only likes sex by the back door.”

The inspector sat up abruptly. “Well,”
he said. “That’s very interesting. How do
they know? Never mind. The important
thing is, she has the reputation and she’s
the woman who apparently broke up
Wittayer’s marriage and Wittayer was the
butler of a murder victim who had been
subjected to or had engaged in anal sex
shortly before or after his death. I have
another assignment for you tomorrow
morning first thing. Track down the
former Mrs. Wittayer and see if you can
find out anything about her ex-husband’s
sexual preferences. Maybe, if you ask her
about the details of whatever led to her
filing for divorce?. ..” The detective Karl
was a young and persuasive man. The
former Mrs. Wittayer was also young and
she had apparently not made any new
contacts since leaving her husband so that
she was, perhaps, lonely.
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Whatever the case, the detective was
able to provide the inspector with some
very interesting details of the marriage
and subsequent divorce of Rainer Wit-
tayer.

The inspector had, however, no timeto
listen for Sergeant Niebolt had turned up
a hot suspect among the patients and it
appeared that he was about to confess.

Peter Sommerlich was a man of 28 who
had been admitted to the Pfalz Clinic in
October of 1976 following an incident in
which he had attempted to strangle and
then shoot his male lover, a much older
man in his middle 50s. Strangely enough,
Sommerlich had been the dominant or
male half of the couple and the older man
had taken the female part. The motive for
the attempted murder had been sexual
jealousy.

Sommerlich had been found incompe-
tent to stand trial and had been sent to the
Pfalz Clinic where he had been under the
personal care of Dr. Glaesel for several
months, but had then been assigned to
another doctor when his emotional at-
titude toward the director had become so
extreme as to make the treatment ineffec-
tive.

According to the doctor who had taken
over from Dr. Glaesel, Sommerlich had
identified the director with his, so he
thought, faithless lover, and had
developed an intense hatred for him. He
had made repeated threats against his life
and had said, in the most vulgar terms,
that he would subject him to anal inter-
course.

Sommerlich had subsequently been
transferred to another clinic and, in May
of 1978, discharged as cured of any
dangerous tendencies.

Sommerlich seemed thelogical suspect
and it was eventually possible to obtain a
confession from him. However, the con-
fession was almost incoherent and bore
very little relation to the crime as it was
known to have taken place. For the pur-
poses of obtaining an indictment, it was
worthless.

Things having quieted a bit, the inspec-
tor now had time to look at the report
which the detective Karl had turned in
and what he read caused him to jump out
of his chair and rush out into the outer of-
fice where Karl had his desk.

“Why in the hell didn’t you tell me
something about this?” he demanded.

“Itried to,” said Karl, “but you were too
busy.”

The report was damning. Mrs. Wit-
tayer had told the detective that she
divorced her husband because, after their
second child was born, he had become
more and more perverted in his sexual
habits. She had found this disgusting and
had, finally, asked for a divorce, saying
that she suspected him of a homosexual
relationship with his employer.

Wittayer had not denied it, but had said
that he would only agree to the divorce if
she named one of the nurses as corespon-
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dent. He had suggested the nurse who
had since gone to Saarbruecken and said
that she would cooperate because he
knew things about her that could cost her
her job. '

The divorce had then taken place.

The former Mrs. Wittayer had added
something else. Her ex-husband, she said,
had a criminal record.

The detective had checked with the
police in Mannheim, the city from which
Wittayer had originally come. Wittayer
had arecord of 25 arrests and convictions,
all for theft or assault. He had committed
these crimes while still a juvenile, and had
served hardly any time for any of them.

Rainer Wittayer was arrested, con-
fronted with his criminal record, con-
fronted with his wife’s statements concer-
ning the divorce, and interrogated
relentlessly. On the afternoon of the third
day, he confessed.

“He wanted to leave me to marry that

Zimmermann bitch,” he said. “I'm not
sorry. He got what he deserved.”

Whether Rainer Wittayer gets what he
deserves will depend on the jury who will
meet to deliberate the matter some time
later in 1979.

The detective Karl has already got
what he deserves. He and the former
Mrs. Wittayer were married a week
before Christmas of 1978. o

Eorror’s NoOTE:

The names Jacob Schultheis, Harold
Enten, Walter Beissel, Max Niebolt,
Carola Zimmermann, and Peter
Sommerlich are not the real names of the
persons involved in the foregoing case.
Fictitious names were used for police of -
ficals because German police regulations
forbid the use of officials’ truenames. The
other names tere used to prevent em-
barrassment to persons innocently in-
volved in the foregoing case.
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civilization. “We don’t pay no attention to
stuff like that. If cops don’t do anything,
why should we?”

Actually, cops were doing something
about it, but fate had crossed the signals,
it appeared. A study of 911 emergency
call tapes showed that at 8:04 .M. a caller
reported a woman being assaulted at 50
Manhattan Avenue, around the corner
from the slaying scene.

A car from the West 100th Street
stationhouse, designated 24-Ida, went to
50 Manhattan Avenue but radioed back
that the report was unfounded.

At 8:07 a.m. a second call came in
stating that a screaming woman was be-
ing chased east on West 102nd Street.
Two radio cars, 24-David and 24-
Edward, arrived on the scene.

At 8:20 a.M. a third call told of a man
dragging a female in the street near 44
Manhattan Avenue. David and Edward
still found nothing, and radioed back that
the report was unfounded. Meanwhile,
the radio car alerted by the passerby also
was searching. Car 24-Idahad returned to
the precinct, but upon hearing additional
calls over 911, returned to the scene and
Sergeant Collins, one of the men in that
car, ordered a building-by-building
search that did turn up Bonnie’s body.

Reports of the snafu enraged the
residents of the area, who saw the inci-
dent as police reluctance to come to the
aid of those in ghettoes. That fact that the
building where Bonnie- Anne met her
tragic death had been abandoned for six
years and had not been boarded up by the
city also incensed the residents.

Alkies and junkies nest amid rubble in
the abandoned tenements and the once
active block had become ano-man’s-land
where at night drugs and guns are sold in
the street and where a man was recently
hacked to death with an ax.

Police protested that the accusations of
laxity were not true.

“Qur investigation indicates that our
response was immediate and our
response was thorough,” said Inspector
John Lowe. “The police officers of the
24th Precinct responded properly to the
calls.”

The account of Bonnie Bush’s ordeal
brought to mind the slaying of 28-year-
old Kitty Genovese, in 1964. Kitty was
stabbed to death in Kew Gardens,
Queens, as 38 neighbors heard her
screams and did nothing to prevent the
murder. In Bonnie’s case, though, efforts
weremade, though pitiably unsuccessful.

Meanwhile, homicide sleuths had
come up with the name of a suspect in
Bonnie’s murder. He was identified as
Nathaniel Giles Jr., 32 years old, a six foot
two, 180-pound black with a small Afro
haircut and a mustache. He was knownin
the area since his family lived on West
104th Street. And several witnesses to the
tragic incident handed up Giles’ name to
detectives.

Giles was a paroled murderer with a
long history of violent crime. On May 2,
1964, Giles was locked into a cell at
Auburn State Prison to serve a 20-year-to-
life sentence for the robbery-slaying of a
63-year-old woman when Giles was just
16. The victim was stabbed 60 times with
a screwdriver in her Manhattan apart-
ment, police said.

On November 15, 1967, Giles was
transferred to Clinton State Prison and
the transfer document noted that he was
“disruptive, assaultive, dangerous, and
almost uncontrollable.”

During his incarceration, Giles picked
up a high school equivilency diploma, in
1972, with his 1Q of 97, and two charges
of homosexual rape. On February 3, 1977,
a week after he was found guilty of his se-



cond charge of prison rape, Giles was
given $45, a new suit, and was discharged
from Attica Prison.

Parole records showed that Giles had
been living at home, on West 104th Street,
and had been checking in regularly with
his parole otticer. A massive police search
was immediately launched throughout
the city for Giles. And his photo was
released to newspapers and television
stations throughout the New York
metropolitan area.

An appeal was made to Giles’ mother to
aid in his capture, but she was afraid that
police officers would kill him. A cousin
did, however, agree to notify detectives if
the suspect returned home.

In the meantime, an appeal was made
by authorities to Giles to givehimself up.

“If he feels we are in error (in naming
him a suspect) and wants to clear himself,
then he should show himself,” said Depu-
ty Inspector Thomas J. Gleason, com-
mander of Upper Manhattan detectives.
“Weappeal tohim to surrender with an at-
torney of his own choice. It is the best
thing he could do to help himself.”

A police phone hotline was set up to
handle calls on the case, and within
several days more than 200 calls came in
from New York, New Jersey, and Penn-
sylvania reporting they had seen Giles.

Detectives from the Fifth Homicide
Zone, armed with shotguns,rushed out on
false alarms all over Harlem, the Upper
West Side, and the Bronx. Extreme cau-
tion was urged because Giles was believ-
ed to be armed with a 9mm. automatic
pistol, possibly a Luger. The importance
police attached to the case was evidenced
by the personal involvement of Deputy
Chief of Detectives James T. Sullivan and
Manhattan Chief of Detectives Martin E.
Durry.

Detectives questioned just about

“anyone who ever had anything to do with

Giles—former cellmates, his father and
family, people about the 102nd Street and
104th Street blocks, winos and drug
addicts—in hopes of getting a fix on
Giles’ whereabouts. Police as far away as
Philadelphia offered assistance.

Giles called his home on Tuesday,
November 28th, and the contents of this
conversation were relayed to detectives,
although police denied having tapped his
family’s telephone. But even this failed to
reveal where the suspected killer was
holed up.

Meanwhile, as the search continued,
state parole officials now became em-
broiled in controversy, as local police had
earlier. Giles, it turned out, had been
arrested just four months after his release
from Attica as a “board-directed inten-
sive supervision case.” This meant that
parole officers were required to monitor
Giles closely.

However, Giles was arrested on May
30, 1977, while on parole, on charges of
rape, sodomy, robbery, burglary, and
possession of a weapon.

But when the complaintant, a West
Village freelance writer, admitted in court
that she had invited Giles into her apart-
ment and that, after the incident, she had
asked him to return so she could “write a
great story” about him, a Supreme Court
justice threw out all counts with the ex-
ception of the weapons rap.

By this time he had served 11 months
on Rikers Island awaiting trial, so the
judge sentenced him to time served and
Giles was released. The fact that his con-
viction on weapons charges should have
resulted in charges of parole violation,
with probable rejailing, occurred to some
parole officials. It occurred to others, too,
newspapers were quick to point it out.
State Parole Board Chairman Edward
Hammock vowed to review Giles’ file
personally.

The search for the elusive suspect con-
tinued, with his family now joining
appeals that he surrender to avoid
bloodshed. Because of his record, the
shotgun-armed posse was not about to
take needless chances, it was recognized.

Finally, on Wednesday, November 29,
about 10 p.M., there came a break in the
case. Two Newark brothers, Harry and
John Jones, had stopped their car at 126th
Street and Convent Avenue in Harlem.
Harry stayed in the car while John got out
to buy some potato chips in a store at that
location. The men had “shaped up” for a
Manhattan job that evening, but werenot
needed, and they were driving about abit
before returning to New Jersey.

As John returned to the car, he saw a
gunman in the front seat indicating to him
to get into the auto. But Harry brushed his
brother away from the car and sped off,
obviously wanting John to alert the police
to his predicament. The gunman, police
said, was Giles.

He had just slipped into the idling
automobile and sat on the passenger’s
seat in front, then reached across Jones
and grabbed the seatbelt, pulled it
around the driver, and fastened himin his
seat.

“Just be cool,” the pistol waving in-
truder said. “] don’t want to rob you. I
don’t want your money. I don’t want your
car. I just want to get away.”

This, according to the investigators, is
pretty much the way that they believe
Bonnie was taken hostage, at the point of
a pistol while she was stopped in traffic
and in an unguarded moment.

The gunman told Jones to drive for
New Jersey and the two men started up
the West Side Highway. As they neared
the approach to the George Washington
Bridge that would take them to the gar-
den State, however, Giles told Jones to
use the approach ramp for the Cross
Bronx Expressway, leading to that
borough.

Again, the armed intruder changed his
mind, though. As soon as they had
entered the Bronx, he barked to his cap-
tive, “Drive me to Brooklyn.”

A two-hour ride through city streets en-
sued, through the Bronx, Manhattan, and
Brooklyn, Jones believed although he
was unfamiliar with the streets. Jones said
the man sat quietly smoking and
whenever he saw a police car, a fire
engine, a flashing light, or a foot
patrolman he would say “turn right” or
“turn left.”

Despite this apparent fear of being
noticed, the armed thug gave directions

that would almost insure that he would he.

He directed the driver to run red lights
and to keep up a speed of 40 to 50 mph,
fast for the city. However, for along time
no one gave pursuit.

At one point Giles noticed a “press”
card on the dashboard. Jones worked in
the mailroom of The New York Times.

“You're the press? Then youknow who
I am,” Giles purportedly said.

“No,” replied Jones, stopping him. “1
don’t want to know who you are. All 1
want to do is what you asked me. You get
away and let me go. [ don’t want to know
anything else about you.”

At no time, Jones said, was the matter
of Bonnie Anne Bush’s murder men-
tioned. Jones assumed his passenger was
a punk who had just pulled a robbery.

At one point during the drive they
stopped for gasoline, at 96th Street, and
Giles paid the five dollar tab with a $20
bill. Then they headed for Greenwich
Village, downtown. At Bleecker and
Avenue of the Americas a policeradio car
saw Jones’ Oldsmobile making a turn
against a red light and gave chase. Pulling
up on the passenger side, the patrolmen
ordered the car to pull over. The
passenger smiled and said they would,
the cops said. .

Instead, according to Jones, the gun-
man put his foot over the transmission
hump onto the accelerator and pressed
down hard.

“Go, I want it to the floor!” he said.
“Make a run for it. I don’t have a thing to
lose, and I'm going to have to shoot it out
if we don’t make it—and I don’t want to
shoot you too.” -

‘At high speed Jones circled the blocks
then headed east two blocks to pick up
Broadway and headed south on the main
thoroughfare. It had rained and the
streets . were slick as four other police
cruisers joined the pursuit. When the flee-
ing auto reached Canal Street, six blocks

away, it was doing 90 mph. It went one .

block further, made a quick turn, and
slammed into a 1973 Pinto station
wagon. .

Giles purportedly turned and fired two
shots at the chasing police, then tried to
open his door but found itjammed by the
crash. He rolled down the window and
dove out. Then the first chasing patrol car
slammed into the rear of the Olds.

~ According to police, Giles came up fir-
ing as patrolmen poured from their cars.
There followed a wild gun battle during
which some 50 shots were fired. Giles had
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a pistol with a 14-shot magazine. He fired
at one cop from ten feet—and missed,
police said.

Officers returned the fire, stillunaware
they were facing Giles. One stray shot—
later proven to come from Giles, cops
said—hit a bystander at a nearby hot dog
stand. He was wounded in the leg, but not
seriously.

Giles purportedly got to his feet and
began racing down that side street of
Manhattan’s loft district, but he slipped
on the wet pavement. As he tried to get
up, he was hit by a single shot that went
up his back and lodged in his collarbone.
Still, he managed to toss his pistol under a
truck and crawl after it.

Officer Ronald L. Sheldon reloaded his
pistol and went over to the parked truck
and arrested Giles. He was removed to St.
Vincent's hospital for surgery and then
taken, in stable condition, to the prison
ward at Bellevue Hospital.

Meanwhile, there were a few anxious
moments for Jones who, locked in by his
seat belt, craned his head low in an effort
to avoid the flying bullets. Arriving
policemen thought at first he was an ac-
complice and treated him as such untilhe
convinced them to check his story with
the communications bureau. His brother,
John, had immediately run to the police
stationhouse on West 126th Street to
report his brother’s abduction. So
authorities knew of the incident, but not
that it involved Giles.

Two detectives from Fifth Homicide
who had been stalking Giles for days
were on temporary duty in the First
Precinct when they heard of the shootout.
They went to the hospital and identified
Giles as the wounded man.

He was booked at bedside for the
murder of Bonnie Anne Bush, and the
pistol a German-made 9 mm. P-38
Walther automatic, was shipped off to
ballistics for testing. There, detectives
said, it was not only proved to be the
weapon that had snuffed out the life of
nurse Bush, but also was the death
weapon in the slayings of two other
women in Manhattan.

The murder victims were identified as
Cindy Pinto, 24, and Willa Solomon, 30.
Both had been found shot in the head, as
had Bonnie, in their apartments.

Cindy, who was nine months pregnant,
was found dead in her apartment on Cen-
tral Park West on the Upper West Side on
October 5, 1978. Ms. Solomon, a worker
for the Board of Higher Education, died
in her apartment on Second Avenue on
the Upper East Side November 6, 1978.
Both, according to police, had been
sodomized, as was Miss Bush.

Authorities believe that Giles ap-
proached both these women on the street
and, at gunpoint, forced them to lead him
to their apartments.

Giles was arraigned December 4 in his
prison ward at Bellevue on the homicide
charge involving Miss Bush. And on
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December 22 he was indicted by a
Manhattan Grand Jury in that slaying. He
has recovered from his wounds and is
awaiting trial.

At this writing, Giles has not been
charged in the other two slayings, those of
Pinto and Solomon.

In accordance with American legal
tradition, he must be assumed innocent of
the charges against him until found guilty
in a court of law.

One detective connected with the case
recalled that in 1963 when Giles was
nabbed in the screwdriver slaying of an
elderly spinster, his mother asked police;
“Can’t you do something for him? Time
in jail won’t help him. If he did that
murder, there’s something wrong with
him.”

That nothing was done for the 16 year
old and that later he was released to face
further charges of ferocious violence
prompted the New York State Division of
Parole to say in late December; “Giles
may be proven to be a failure of the
parole system and the entire criminal
justice system.” .

Meanwhile, shock waves continue long
after Bonnie has been placed in her grave.
Two police officers and a civilian 911
operator have been suspended from their
jobs by City Police Commissioner Robert
J. McGuire on grounds they failed to take
proper action on calls emanating from the
wild episode on West 102nd Street.

The cops, McGuire said, should have
taken into their patrol car the man who
reported the violence. He could have led
them there. Instead, they let him go and
went in search of the incident themselves,
and failed to find it, McGuire noted. The
911 operator consumed five minutes talk-
ing to a caller of the violence instead of
getting police moving immediately, the
commisssioner declared.

While repercussions of the crime con-
tinue, the blue-eyed nurse who made
such an impression on the medical profes-
sion in her four short yearsasa nurseisno
more. But her memory will live on
through scholarships. They will be set up
at Columbia University School of Nur-
sing. In the future there will be midwives
working in delivery rooms of New York
City who will owe their training to anurse
named Bonnie Anne Bush who, so con-
siderate of the pain of others, died a
hellish death herself.

“That one bit of good would come of
this tragedy makes all the difference.”
said amember of the Bush tamily. “That’s
what is pulling us through.” o

EpiTOR'S NOTE:

The names Harry and John Jones are
not the actual names of the persons in-
volved in this case. Fictitious names were
used because there is no reason for public
interest in the identity of these persons.

“1 CAN'T BREATHE"

law’s house when we stopped for the light
at Copans and Dixie,” one witness told
the lawmen. “I looked up and saw this
guy stagger and fall. He was heading
toward the pumps from the office and he
fell between in the driveway.

“ ‘Look, that fellow felldown,’I cried.
‘Let’s go over!” SoIturned the flashers on
in my truck and pulled in. My brother-in-
law ran toward the guy and turned him
over. I gotout, too. He was all bloody. 1
ran back to the CB in my truck and tried
to get help. It seemed like I could never
raise anyone. 1 was still trying to get
somebody on the CB when I saw the guy
who had stopped behind me—I think he’s
a kid who works in Publix. Heranover to
a telephone. Then I saw another kid
flagging down a deputy sheriff’s car.”

“Did the injured man say anything?”

“He said, ‘Turn me over. I can’t
breathe.” That was all. Itook my shirt off
and my brother-in-law put it over the
guy’s chest. That was when I saw the
deputy driving down Dixie and the kid
yelled at him. I held the guy’s legs. He
was trying to move. Then the paramedics
came and told me to move my truck.”

Meanwhile, Lieutenant Laun and other
technical men were photographing and
processing thearea. Sergeant Dickey and
Detective Hutchinson questioned
customers at Lum’s restaurant, just north

continued from page 29

of the station.

. One false lead wasted precious time. A
boy about 12 who lived in the
neighborhood had been detained by the
uniformed patrolman when he claimed
to have heard three shots. Captain
George and Lieutenant Thompson
questioned the youngster, sitting in the
captain’s unmarked car. The youngster
told them that he and his smaller sister
had been playing in their yard across the
street from the station and had climbed
up into their tree house. They heard the
shots in “rapid succession”, and saw a
blue Mustang driven by a white man
speed westward away from the station.

Lt. Thompson escorted the boy home,
then climbed up into the tree house
himself. He could see nothing of the sta-
tion, even when he mounted as high ashe
could goin the tree. Six taller trees com-
pletely blocked the view.

The station’s district manager arrived
and found that the money in the lower
part of the safe had not been disturbed.
Attendants on duty at night were regular-
ly given a $100 “bank” for operating.
That was gone, plus any of the night’s
proceeds. Any funds the dead man may
have had on his person were also gone.

Although there were no indications of a
struggle, detectives surmised the murder
had occurred in the small back room
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behind the grease racks which contained
little besides an old refrigerator. A big
pool of blood lay in front of the door and
a trail led from there to where victim had
fallen near the pumps. One of his shoes
and a beer can was by the office.

Meanwhile the body had been formal-
ly identified by relatives. The autopsy
woild disdose two fatal stab wounds,
one. to the heart and one to the abdomen.

There the case stood when in-
vestigators knocked off for the night.

But while they were still at the scene, a
uniformed road patrolman making arou-
tine traffic check was involved in an inci-
dent seemingly unrelated, but one that
struck him as so unusual he was tatking
about it the next morning. This was Of-
ficer Elfo of the Pompano Beach Police
Department. He told Detective Murray
about it when the latter came on duty for
the day shift.

“ was just coming out of the low cost
housing project when I saw him at that
feed and supply store that had a fire—this
black guy with a black chick. I stopped
him when he crossed into the city limits
and found stuff in his truck that was
smoke damaged, so I figured he might
have been looting.

“I ran a routine check on the guy. But
before I even had an answer back, hesaid
he was an escaped prisoner on an armed
robbery rap. He almost wanted to open
the door himself and climb into the patrol
car. Wow! It was really strange. 1
thought, ‘Something’s wrong.””

The man, booked into Broward Coun-
ty jail, was Charles McBride, 24. The
woman with him had been released.
Detective Murray checked the report and
discovered she was Drucilla Warren, a
frequent shoplifting offender who had
been supplying information to the
department for nine months or so. By
coincidence, there was a note on Detec-
tive Murray’s desk that moring asking
him to get in touch with Drucilla.

He and Detective Fowler drove outto
her grandmother’s residence. She was
there, asleep, but her cousin wokeher and
she came out to talk with the officers. She
complained there was street talk that
Murray was going to run her in for
shoplifting.

He persuaded her this was not true,
then asked her if she had any leads on the
Citgo homicide hehad heard about on his
radio. Shetold himshe had also heard the
broadecast and promised she might be
able to give him the names of the culprits
by the end of the day.

Back at the station, Murray became im-
mersed in paperwork and momentarily
forgot about the Citgo case, which wasin
BSO jurisdiction anyhow, not PBPD’s.
Then, about 1 p.M. hereceived a phone call
from a confidential informant that the
crime had been committted by a man
arrested on an unrelated charge.

“What’s his name?”

“I don’t know.”

“Is he black?”

“Yes. He was with a chick.” _

The informant refused to give the
chick’s name but said that she had been
hurting for $200 to bail her boyfriend out
of jail. The boyfriend, not the man she

was with, had been arrested several days
before.

Furthermore, the informant continued,
there had been a third person involved, a
dude named Jerry. He did not know the
last name.

Murray had another confidential infor-
mant who had been feeding the depart-
ment tips for two and a half years. His
name was Jerry McCloud. The detec-
tives described McCloud to the tipster
now on the phone.

“That’s him.”

At just this moment, by another for-
tuitous coincidence, BSO Detective
Sergeant Raymond Saxon walked into
the Pompano headquarters in connection
with another case.

By now, many puzzle pieces were fit-
ting a patternin Murray’s head. Drucilla’s
boyfriend, Jellyroll, was in jail and she
needed $200 to get bail posted. She was
the chick who had been with escaped
prisoner McBride who was arrested the
night before. McBride was known as
violent, an “animal.” What was she doing
with McBride?

Detective Saxon told Murray police
figured the amount ripped off at the
Citgo station was something under $200.
But the job was supposed to have been
committed by white men.

Murray shook his head as Saxon filled
him in on what the sheriff’s department
had learned. The lead to white culprits
had come from the two kids who claimed
to have witnessed the crime from their
tree house, but Lieutenant Thompson
had proved that impossible.  The
youngsters had also claimed to have
heard three shots, but investigators had
turned up no evidence of shooting.
Peranton had been stabbed to death.

Saxon asked about Drucilla.

“She’s one of the top shoplifters in all
Broward County,” Murray said. “A
junkie. She makes a fair income stealing
clothes and selling them. We caught her
red-handed. Then we talked and she
gave us a lot of information. She has
volumes of street information.”

Indeed, Drucilla’s information had
recently led to recovery of more than $3,-
000 worth of equipment stolen from the
Pompano Beach Senior High School and
the successful arrest, prosecution, and
conviction of the burglar. Murray agreed
to go with Saxon to try and locate
Drucilla.

The two officers drove first to the
grandmother’s house, but Drucilla had
left there, so they went into the Carver
Ranches area looking for her.

From blocks away they could hear the
“soul” music pounding out from Phillips
Grocery, which Murray explained was

known as “The Juke.” A group of blacks
lounged outside.

“There she is,” muttered Murray as he
drove on past and pulled out of sight
around the corner at NW 15th Avenue
and NW 17th Court.

“Why don’t we grab her?” asked Sax-
on.
“Uhuh. She saw me. Shelll come. It's
not too neat for a black to be seen talking
with police around here.”

Pretty soon, the back door of the car
opened quickly and a woman slipped in
and hunkered down on the floor out of
sight. Murray, who had not turned off the
engine, drove off. ‘

“Be cool,” he said over his shoulder.
“We're going on down to the station and
we'll talk there.”

On the way, Murray explained to
Drucilla who Saxon was and that he
wanted information on the Citgo
homicide-robbery.

“Have you got a rights card?” he asked
the BSO detective. And Saxon read
Drucilla her rights.

“Did Charles tell you?” she asked.

But the detectives avoided discussion
until they reached PBPD headquarters
where Drucilla was read her rights again
in the detective bureau.

The 23 year old woman told them that
she, McBride, and McCloud were com-
ing back from Deerfield Beach about 7:30
or 8:30 p.m. Monday, January 3. she was
driving and McBride ordered her to pull
off to the side as they approached the
Citgo station. In her first version she said
that she had thought they wanted to go to
the men's room. So she stopped just south
of the station and turned off the motor.
The two men got out and walked into the
office.

McCloud came running back first,
Drucilla said. He asked where McBride
was. Drucilla told him McBride hadn’t
returned. McCloud got in the back seat,
clutching abank bag. A few minutes later
McBride came running and jumped into
the car, yelling at Drucilla to take off.

She headed south on Dixie and about a
half mile down McBride said they had
robbed the station and he had “had to
stab that cracker.” He told McCloud to
get rid of the money bag.

They drove to “The Juke” where
Drucilla got out to go into the ladies’
room. When she returned to the car,
McCloud had disappeared. McBride
bought some reefers and he and Drucilla
drove into the Pompano Labor Project
where they got out and sat under a tree
while they smoked.

McBride became maudlin and began
to weep, bemoaning the fact that he had
“had to stab that cracker” for such a bad
haul—less than $200.

As the detectives pressed Drucilla with
questions, her story began to change
slightly. In all, she told three versions that
night. In the first version she knew
nothing in advance and was suprised,
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only a witness. According to the second
version, she didn’t know anything until
after the stabbing. In the third version,
she admitted participation.

This last finally came when she bad
been taken down to BSO headquarters in
Fort Lauderdale and broke down. “I'm
not going to lie any more,” she said.

Then she admitted that the three had
been driving around looking for a place
to rip off. They had started to hit acouple
of other spots but for one reason or
another had not carried through. Then
they got to the Citgo.

McBride punched the attendant,
Drucilla said. McCloud, who was a
“scaredy-cat,” became upset and
frightened, grabbed the money bag and
ran back to the car. McBride “had to take
a knife to that cracker.”

They then split the money in three,
Drucilla getting $29.

Later, after she and McBride had
smoked their joints, she asked him to
drive her to Fort Lauderdale. They were
on their way there, McBride driving,
when they saw they were going to be
stopped by police. McBride hastily hand-
ed her the knife, telling her to toss it out
the window.

But streetwise Drucilla, wary that a
policeman might come up on the
passenger side and see her throwing the
knife out, thrust it in her purse. After she
was released, she gave the knife to her
cousin.

She gave police the cousin’s address,
also in Carver Ranches. Saxon left to
recover the knife and take a statement
from the cousin, who confirmed that
Drucilla had given it it her that morning.
It had been bloody, so shehad washed it.

BSO had also put out a BOLO on the
vehicle. A deputy located it and Drucilla
identified it as the one used the night of
the robbery-homicide.

Murray had accompanied Saxon and
Drucilla to BSO, and now other officers
sitting in on the questioning —Lieutenant
Carl Carruthers, Lieutenant Thompson,
and Detective Robert Rios, who had been
called down to headquarters—wanted to
know about Drucilla.

“She’s the ghetto girl who is
cheerleader, who gets pregnant, gets
back to school, gets to be cheerleader, ,
gets pregnant again,” was Murray’s color-
ful characterization. He added that
Drucilla was “very sensitive, even though
she is dishonest.”

McBride was brought up from the jail
about 11 p.m. but kept carefully separated
from Drucilla. For about ahalf hour after
he was given his rights he denied
everything, insisting, “Bullshit! You're
never going to pin this on me. 1 don’t
know what you are talking about.”

“We did a little dancing back and
forth,” Detective Rios said in a later
deposition. “We told him we had
Drucilla in custody. We brought in the
knife. He realized we had a bit of
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evidence and decided to tatk. ‘Well, I was
there, he said. So we asked him to giveit
to us chronologically, after he had ad-
mitted that he knew Drucilla, knew
McCloud, and recognized the knife as
his.

“‘Is Drucilla here? he asked.

“ “Yes. Is this your knife.?”

“ “Yegh, but I didn’t stab him.’

“He is fairly intelligent and was alert,”
Rios continued. “I got the impression he
knew we already knew, so he was trying
to minimize his part. There were nail
markings on the knif e handle, made when
he hammered something with it. I show-
ed it to him and he identified it, said his
mother gave it to him, a Cougar knife.”

McBride told police that Drucilla had
suggested ripping off the Citgo station,
telling her companions she had been
there before and it was an easy hit. They
had already cased two other places and
decided against hitting them.  But
Drucilla told them there was plenty of
money at the Citgo.

“She pulled over and we got out,” said
McBride’s statement. “Thitthe guy. Jerry
had the knife. He went into the back with
the guy.... It was my fishing knife. I
gave it to Jerry when he asked for it
earlier. He gave it back to me when we
got back in the car and I put it in my right
back pocket. He said, ‘Here’s the knife.
It was closed and I put it in my back
pocket. . ..

At the station, in the garage part, when
I hit the guy, he went down. Jerry stood
over him, told him to get up. He got up
and they went out of sight. I was getting
the money out of the desk drawer.”

Later, McBride said, “Drucilla asked
me to take her to Fort Lauderdale to pick
up drugs. Wegottothe Palm Aire section

Red Cross
is counting
on you

-to help.

and the police pulled us over. 1 was
driving. I gave her the knife.”

McBride admitted that he had escaped
from the Pompano work release facility
by checking out to go on a job and just not
returning. ~

Lieutenant Thompson, who had gone
on vacation the day after the homicide,
made a special trip to headquarters to sit
in on the questioning. At the request of
Captain Elihu Phares he was working on
a survey to try and determine why there
had been a 25 percent drop in robberies
during 1976 as compared with earlier
years. He was probing particularly into
repeater crimes and weapons used. Here
was a repeater and no handgun, so he ask-
ed McBride about that.

“Hey, why use a gun?” McBride
answered. “You get three years right off
the bat for that. There are other ways.”

January 7, a Broward grand jury in-
dicted McBride, Drucilla, and Jerry Lee
McCloud for first degree murder and
robbery with a deadly weapon.

Detective Murray had meanwhile
received a long distance phone call from
McCloud who admitted knowledge of the
robbery, but insisted, as had Drucilla,
that McBride was the one who did the
stabbing. He said he was calling from
New York, that he was working on afarm
there. He wanted to know if Tipton and
Murray would come to New York and
pick him up. He was scared of McBride.

“He wanted to turn himself in to me
and Tipton,” Murray said in a later
deposition. “He figured he would have
his brains in his lap if he turned himself in
to anybody else.” There was aBOLO out
on him and police were watching his
mother’s house. But he refused to give
Murray his address, saying he would call
back. Thefollowing day he called Detec-
tive Rios but again would not give his ad-
dress. He never called either Murray or
Rios back.

It was nearly a vear before McCloud
walked into the Broward County
courthouse with his brother, a county
employee, and surrendered himself to
Lieutenant Gary Ewing.

Meanwhile, April 21, 1977, McBride
pleaded guilty to second degree murder
and robbery in a bargain agreement that
he would testify against McCloud. Cir-
cuit Court Judge Thomas Coker, Jr. gave
him concurrent life sentences on both
counts in the Peranton case plus a year
consecutive for escape from the earlier
sentence. May 16 Drucilla Warren plead-
ed guilty to third degree murder and
robbery and was sentenced to 15 years
concurrent on each count.

McCloud surrendered at 11:30 a.m.
November 28, 1977, and Lieutenant Ew-
ing brought him up to Sergeant Charles
Peart’s office in homicide. The detective
shook his hand.

“Welcome home.”

After he was read his rights, McCloud
said that he had been at the Citgo with
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McBride and Drucilla and “things got out
of hand.” He claimed that he had been
working with the Pompano police at the
time and hoped to tip them off to the
robbery planned but he did not get time
to contact them. He left town, he said,
because he was afraid of McBride.

A jury was sworn to try McCloud on
March 27, 1978. Assistant State Attorney
Tom Kern called McBride to the witness
stand March 28. Surly, arrogant, the con-
vict, who had earlier also been involved
in a jail riot, refused to answer questions.

“I just don’t feel like answering that
question or any other questions or even
testifying to the facts in this case,” he
snarled.  Judge Coker gave him six
months consecutive for contempt of

court.

The following day McBride was called
as a defense witness by attorney James
Clarke. Again he refused to answer and
was declared a hostile witness.

“Do you have any legal basis for refus-
ing to answer?” asked Judge Coker.

“Then I instruct you to answer.”

“No. 'mnot.” .

Judge Coker sentenced him to six more
months consecutive for contempt.

McCloud was convicted of second
degree murder and robbery March 30,
1978. June 9, 1978, he was sentenced to
life on the first count and 15 years con-
current for robbery. 1lis sentence has
been appealed.

several unused shotgun shells along with
an ejected shell casing in the van. Inside
the house, lab men found a shotgun to
which they immediately tried to match
the shell casings found in the alley behind
the Foodland store. The shell casings fit
the weapon.

Armed with this evidence, police soon
obtained a statement from Richard Gar-
vey. The 19 year old reportedly told
police that Ronald Woods had grown
more furious each day in the knowledge
that Michael McClanahan had been living
with Woods wife. Woods had supposed-
L told McClanahan to leave her alone,
but McQlanahan had refused. Finally,
Ronald Woods had decided to get rid of
the man. So, Garvey reportedly told

continued from page 55

police, Ronald Woods had gotten Garvey
to befriend McClanahan and set the man
up for the kill. On the eveningof April 17,
Garvey and McClanahar had gone to the
Foodland to buy groceries and then Gar-
vey would take his companion home. He
had told McClanahan that he had a van
parked in the rear of the store. The van
was there all right, but Gary Woods,
Ronald’s younger brother, was sitting in
the van. He was to signal his brother
Ronald when McClanahan reached the
alley where Ronald waited behind the
vehicle with the shotgun.

As McClanahan and Garvey walked
towards the van, the man continued his
statement to Captain Newman, Garvey
told McClanahan to go on ahead for he

“YOU THROUGH WITH THIS LADDER, MAC?”

had forgotten to buy cigarettes. Garvey
would run back to the store for the
cigarettes and then meet his companion
in the van. However, Garvey had only
loitered in the area until Ronald Woods
came out from behind the van and open-
ed McClanahan’s back with a shotgun
blast that literally threw the victim
several feet foreward and then knocked
him down. Then, Ronald Woods had
walked up to the prostrate, bleeding vic-
tim, and almost blew the man’s head
away with a pointblank blast. As soon as
Ronald hopped into the van and zoomed
off with his brother Gary, Garvey went
into the alley to view the victim. Garvey
then ran back to the store to report the
shooting. .

“Now, in quick succession, Richard Gar-
vey, Ronald Woods, and Gary Woods
were arrested and charged with murder.
Police also arrested the youngest Woods
brother, Randy, and charged him with
perjury and obstruction of justice for ly-
ing to police after he had told three
youths that a killing would take place on
the evening of April 17. Had Randy told
the truth, the district attorney of Niagara
County contended, police could have
completed the murder investigation
much sooner, with a great saving in
money and man hours.

On July 14, 1977, a Niagara County
grand jury indicted all four men. They in-
dicted 23 year old Ronald Woods, 17 year
old Gary Woods, and 19 year old Richard

Garvey on charges of second degree
murder. They also indicted 17 year old
Randy Woods on charges of first degree
perjury. All four youths pleaded inno-
cent. :
Defense attorneys won several delays
in trial with the first trial finally coming
up in March of 1978 against Randy
Woods. After trial, a jury convicted Ran-
dy Woods of perjury and the youth was
sentenced to a two and a third to fiveyear
prison term. :

Randy’s conviction represented a poor
omen for the others. So, two months later,
after pretrial motions and hearings, the
other defendants entered guilty pleas.
Ronald Woods, accused of mastermin-
ding the murder plot, pleaded guilty to
second degree murder on the promise he
would get a 15 year minimum sentence
instead of the mandatory 25 years to life
sentence. Robert Garvey and Gary
Woods pleaded guilty to reduced charges
of first degree facilitation, class C
felonies. The charge signified that Gary
Woods and Richard Garvey had “provid-
ed the means, access, and opportunity to
commit the crime.” These two youths
received five to 15 year sentences.

“The case only proves that you should
never give up and never stop asking
questions,” said Captain Henry Newman
after the conclusion of the case.” “Those
three kids, scared as hell, gave us our first
lead. From there, it was all downhill
toward a suspect.”
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following an autopsy performed at the
Burlington County Memorial Hospital in
Mount Holly, county and city police were
told that Dominick Gallucci had died
from internal injuries resulting from half a
dozen stab wounds and from a bullet
fired into the left side of his face which
coursed downard and nearly severed his
spine.

Leaders of the investigation conceded
to newsmen that they had developed
their first promising lead in the case. Un-
der questioning, they said, the murdered
man’s family had told them that
Dominick Gallucci had been left alone
with a visitor late on the night he died.
They described him as a dark-skinned
man about 50 years of age with thick
bushy hair and a thin graying mustache. A
stranger to them, they said he was about
five feet ten inches tall, between 185 and
200 pounds, and was enveloped in the un-
mistakable odor of diesel fuel.

“They told us that this fellow came to
their home about 11:00 and that Gallucci
had asked his wife and kids to go out and
bring them back a six-pack,” an officer
said. “When they returned home, Galluc-
ci was dead and the stranger was gone.

“They also said something about him
driving a light colored tan or pink Ford
Thunderbird, but were still kind of
vague about the description.”

Police Chief Fow told reporters that
although Gallucci was believed to have
carried an insurance policy, he did not
think the benefits were unusually high.
Two days later, however, detectives
learned that Gallucci, a member of
teamsters Union Local 470 of
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, carried an in-
surance policy with the Teamsters Health
and Welfare Fund with a double indem-
nity clause in the event of accidental
death. When they also found out that the
beneficiaries listed on the policy were the
trucker’s wife and children, Lottie Mae
and the kids became the objects of the
closest official scrutiny.

That scrutiny became considerably
more difficult to maintain, when about
two weeks after the slaying, Lottie Mae
moved her young brood from Palmyrato
the quiet middle-class community of
Levittown, just across the Delaware
River in Middletown Township, Penn-
sylvania. From what they were able to
find out, things were unusually quiet at
the Gallucci’s new home on Canal Road.
Reportedly, Mrs. Gallucci had taken a job
as secretary for a Bristol, Pennsylvania
furniture company; her daughter was un-
employed.

With one eye glued to the activities of
the slain man’s family in Pennsylvania,
the murder probers continued to hunt for
clues in New Jersey. They soon learned
that Dominick Gallucci’s life insurance
police was the highest one offered by the
Teamsters Health and Welfare Fund,
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with benefits of $20,000in the event of ac-
cidental death. At the same time, rumors
began to reach them indicating that in the
six months prior to her husband’s death,
Lottie Mae had been shopping around for
a hit man. .

Acting on those rumors at 6:10 on the
unseasonably warm Wednesday evening
of February 21, 1979, a combined force of
Bristol police and detectives from the
Bucks County, Pennsylvania district at-
torney’s office arrested Lottie Mae and
Laura Gallucci on charges of murder and
conspiring to murder Dominick Gallucci.
After a brief appearance before Penn-
sylvania District Justice Dominick

Spadaccino, the women were ordered

held without bond in the Bucks county
Prison at Doyletown, Pennsylvania to
await the anticipated extradition request
from New Jersey authorities. Also taken
into custody in connection with the case
was the youngest Gallucci boy, who was
charged with juvenile delinquency and
ordered held at the County Juvenile
Detention Center at Edison, Penn-
sylvania. The older Gallucci boy, who
had been at the Burlington County
Juvenile Home at the time of the slaying,
but since had moved back in with his
family, was not charged.

Less than two and a half hours after the
arrests in Pennsylvania, at precisely 8:30,
investigators from the Camden County,
New Jersey, Major Crimes Unit went to a
bar in Deptford Township, New Jersey,
and took into custody the bouncer, 25
year-old Darrell Wayne Whaley of the
400 block of Almonesson Drive,
Blenheim, New Jersey. Charged with be-
ing the triggerman hired to murder
Gallucci, Whaley, a husky, bearded,
dark-haired young man, was lodged
without bond in the Burlington County
Jail in Mount Holly to await his arraig
ment.

According to the complaint filed
against Whaley, another party to the dis-
cussions which allegedly led to Dominick
Gallucéi’s death was one Horace Jordan,
unemployed and in his mid-40s, of Strat-
ford, Pennsylvania. Ralph Tolomeo, first
assistant Burlington County prosecutor,
said that Jordan probably would not be
charged in the case, but declined to say
whether or not he would be used as a
witness against the four suspects.
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Tolomeo did admit that Jordan was a
friend of the Gallucci family and was on
hand when the purported conspiracy
between Whaley and the others was
hatched in a series of meetings between
April, 1978, and October, when the price
for the hit finally was agreed upon.

Prosecutor Tolomeo went on to say
that although Whaley was believed to
have agreed to do the job for $2,500, he
never received a cent because his alleged
employers were unable to collect on the
trucker’s life insurance policy. He added
that Whaley might not have been the first
person offered the contract on Gallucci’s
life.

“They just didn’t want him around any
more,” Tolomeo said of the victim.
“There was an insurance policy and they
stood to gain by it.”

The Teamsters Union’s Medical
Claims supervisor told reporters that she
had refused to pay the family the $20,000
called for in the life policy because she
had heard rumors that they were in-
volved in the slaying.

“I wouldn’t pay her because of the
things we were hearing,” the woman ex-
plained. “We can obtain that right to
delay the payment when it involves a
homicide.”

From other investigators, newsmen
learned that Whaley was a native of
Mason County, Kentucky, who had mov-
ed to New Jersey shortly before New
Year’s, 1978. Besides working as a part-
time bouncer in Deptford, he also was
employed as a forklift operator at a
Gloucester Township, New Jersey, odd-
lot outlet.

“He’s a great guy and a good worker,”
said a relative of one of the suspect’s
employers. “He minded his own business.
I never thought he was in trouble.

“He rented a room from my relative,
but I don't think he stayed there much. I
think he spent most of his time at a motel
in the area.”

Investigators said that they had learned
that Lottie Mae Gallucci had never book-
ed any of her dancers into the bar where
Whaley was employed.

Arraigned on the murder and con-
spiracy charges before Judge Victor
Friedman on Friday, February 23,
Whaley was ordered held in lieu of $250,-
000 bond at the Burlington County Jail.
Bail hearings for the Gallucci’s were ten-
tatively set for early March.

In accordance with American legal
traditions, the Galluccis and Darrell
Whaley must be assumed innocent of the
charges against them until they are found
guilty in a court of law.

Eprror’s NotE:

The name Horace Jordan is not the ac-
tual name of the person who was in facta
participant in the incidents described in
this article. A fictitious name was used
because there is no reason for public in-
terest in the identity of this person.
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% MILLION DOLLAR CAPER

the least expensive accommaodation goes
for 435 francs—at that time about $100—-
aday. Riding up with him was animpec-
cably dressed, tanned and fit young man
whose face was vaguely familiar.

“Don’t I know you?” the jeweler’s
friend asked with an apologetic smile.

“Yeah, I'm Tod Tuckerman,” the
young man smiled back. :

Both that name and that face had been
on Miami TV and in Miami newspapers.

The friend phoned the owner of
Mayor’s immediately.

MPD again contacted Interpol and
now also the police of Prince Ranier’s tiny
Mediterranean principality, famous for
its casinos, postage stamps, and the
American movie star, Grace Kelly, who
married the prince.

The swank hotel which houses the
Folie Russe supper club and Monaco’s
first American-style casino, was put un-
der surveillance. Tuckerman was
registered under his own name. Luck was
about to run out for the bold bandit, who
would be found to wear a gold $100 win
ticket from Monmouth, New Jersey Race
Track on an expensive gold neck chain.
His losing bet had been in accepting bad
legal advice, police later learned. He had
asked alawyer which countries in Europe
did not have extradition treaties with the
United States. The lawyer told him
Monaco, but the lawyer was wrong.

The wheels of various levels of govern-
ment, local, state, national, and inter-
national, went into action. The U.S. State
Department, at the request of the Gover-
nor of Florida, in turn requested by Dade
County at the behest of the Miami PD,
formally asked the Principality of
Monaco to extradite U.S. citizen Tod
Tuckerman for armed robbery.

Monaco police arrested the bold bandit
on Miami armed robbery and gun
warrants. They learned that he had arriv-
ed in the little nation July 15 and had
planned to stay in the swank Loew’s until
July 30, enjoying the . dolce vita of
Europe’s—perhaps the world’s—most
famous vacation spot.

Detective Ramirez applied for a
passport.

There were delays while the niceties of
intergovernment protocol were met.
Tuckerman fought extradition but lost.
Detective Ramirez and Sergeant George
Reincke of PSD caught a jet for Paris,
changed for Nice, then drove to Monte
Carlo, a tiring journey which the time lag
made additionally arduous. The Florida
lawmen had four days in Monaco but had
only part of one of those free to enjoy the
world-famous playground. They had a
look-in at the celebrated casinos but did
not even get to the equally celebrated
beach.

However, courtesy of the Monaco
Police Department, they were guests at a
Gold Cup socker match, occupying
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choice seats right next to the Royal Box
which held Prince Ranier and his
daughter Caroline.

Tuckerman was at last brought to the
Dade County jail and filled in the missing
pieces of the quarter million dollar jewel
caper. He had, for example, painted glue
on his fingers to avoid leaving finger-
prints. In just a few days following the
heist he had flown from Miami to
Washington, D.C. to Los Angeles, where
he sold some of the stolen gems, to
Chicago, to Toronto, to London, to
Zurich, to Paris, back to Zurich, and then
to Monte Carlo.

He had been arrested by Monaco
Police on July 20, and brought by them on
September 28, 1978, to the airport at
Nice, France, where he was turned over
to French police, who then surrendered
him to the Florida detectives.

On October 12, he entered a plea of not
guilty and demanded a trial by jury.

But November 3, 1978, having changed
attorneys, he offered to enter a guilty plea
iff charges werereduced. The bold bandit
was now represented by Dade’s long-
tiime former State Attorney Richard Gers-
tein, who had recently resigned to enter
private practice.

Gerstein argued that the state,
reprresented by his successor, Janet Reno
and. Assistant State Attorney David
Gilbert, had not proved that Tuckerman
was carrying a “deadly weapon: to wit, a
pistol,” during commission of the crime.

During the hearing before the late
Judize Paul Baker on defense motion to
reduice charges, Gant admitted that he

had never handled or owned guns, knew

nothing about them, and had no interest
in them. He insisted, however, that the
“shiny” object Tuckerman pointed at him
looked to him like a pistol. He said he did
know the difference between a pistol,
which did not have a cylinder, and a
revolver.

Over the state’s objections, Judge
Baker ruled in favor of the defense and
reduced the charge to second degree
robbery which carries a maximum
sentence of 15 years.
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In an eloquent plea Gerstein called his
client “a young man of great potential
;Vho has permanently scarred his own
ife.”

But, continued the defense attorney,
“he is redeemable and deserving of the
compassion of the court.”

State Attorney Reno protested that it -
did not matter whether the gun used by
Tuckerman was a real gun or a toy,
operable or not. What did matter, shein-
sisted, was the effect it produced on the
victim. “The fear ‘it created was the
same,” she said.

Prosecutor Gilbert argued that the rul-
ing favoring the defense could mean there
would be no convictions in armed
robbery cases unless the gun is recovered
or the victim is a firearms'expert.

Detective Ramirez, called by the
prosecution during debate on the reduc-
tion motion, testified that the crime in his
opinion was “well thought out, well ex-
ecuted. Although a lot of mistakes led to
his apprehension, in this type of crime
there is the possibility that other people,
passersby, could have been hurt over this
whole incident.

“There was total lack of remorse on the
offender’s part in my dealings with him in
the past. I don’t know what’s going to
happen from this point on. [ am very in-
sistent and concerned about his coopera-
tion. I want to be assured, if charges are
going to be reduced, (contingent on the
defendant’s cooperation), that he be as
truthful as possible because I don’t want
to come back and report to the court that
he wasnt.” ,

Gerstein, in arguing for reduced
charges, had promised that his client
would cooperate with police in locating
the jewelry still missing.

At the time Tuckerman was arrested in
Monaco, he was carrying a key to asafe
deposit box which police found con-
tained some of the stolen gems, about
$130,000 worth.

He gave police the names of two places
in Los Angeles where he said he had sold
other items after leaving Miami en route
to Europe, but Lieutenant Dale Ostrom
of the LAPD had been unable to recover
them. And, at the time of this writing,
none of the missing jewels, other than
those found in the safe deposit box, have
been recovered.

On November 3, 1978, Judge Baker
sentenced Tuckerman to ten years with a
credit of 106 days served, for grandtheft,
and ordered that five be spent in prison
and the other five be suspended. He
stressed that the sentence was contingent
upon truthful cooperation with the police
and that the defendant not be removed
from the jurisdiction for 45 days.

The bold bandit was as cool during the
court session as during the robbery and
escape. The only display of emotion was
when the “blueprint” was offered in
evidence and read. He squeezed shut his
eyes as if to suppress a smile. o
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ACT OF CHARITY

hamlet located a short distance west of
the town of Columbus. Having read the
description of Cox’s car in the area’s
newspapers, the station attendant
recalled an incident which had occurred
during the early evening hours of the
previous Saturday, the same day that
Lyle Cox had tunred up missing. A big,
immaculately shiny Lincoln, green in
color with a dark vinyl roof, had pulled
into the station next to the pump island.
When the attendant had approached the
man behind the wheel to ask how much
gas he wanted, he had been astounded at
the driver’s appearance. The term “scruf-
fy” would have been complimentary.
The driver of the Lincoln, who had been
alone at the time, had been a white male
with a fair complexion marred by a
profusion of acne scars. His blond hair
had been shoulder length and so filthy
that it was actually matted. The subject
had also sported a scraggly mustache and
he had worn a levi jacket with the sleeves
hacked off at the shoulder. Several
patches adorned the garment, although
the attendant couldn’t recall exactly what
kind they were.

But the detail which impressed the ser-
vice station employee the most was the
driver’s headgear. Hehad been wearing a
greenish Robin Hood cap complete with
a large feather cocked at jaunty angle.
The observant station attendant for-
tunately had a mind for other details as
well. He even managed to recall that the
man with the Robin Hood cap had also
worn Levi pants and a pair of brown
shoes that appeared to have been several
sizes too large for him. The attendant
filled the tank and stayed close to the car,
thinking that perhaps the driver might
“coyote” on him, a cute little trick quite
often pulled wherein the driver waits un-
til he hears the gas cap being screwed
back on after which he immediately
floors the accelerator and jackrabbits out
of the station without paying for his gas.

But the driver of the trim, green Lin-
coln paid for his purchase and then drove
out, headed west. The attendant hadn’t
taken down the license plate number but
he’d been positive that the car had Mon-
tana plates. At the time it had amounted
to nothing more than an unusual incident.
But after he had read the newspaper ac-
counts concerning the Cox case, the inci-
dent assumed an altogether different con-
notation.

The police wasted very little time in in-
troducing their witness to a very talented
young Yellowstone County Sheriff’s
deputy by the name of Fred Phillips, a
man who excelled in the art of sketching.
Both the Stillwater County authorities
and the Yellowstone County officials felt
quite strongly that the man who had
stopped for gas west of Columbus driv-
ing a car matching the description of the
slain man’s missing Lincoln was in all

continued from page 39

probability the one who had killed the
vehicle’'s owner with a single, lethal thrust
of aknife. They wanted very badly to talk
to the man who wore the green Robin
Hood cap.

The police artist labored long and hard
at his task, relying entirely upon the
witness’s power of recall. Many artists
are quite adept at sketching an excellent
likeness of a model who is posing. In this
instance, however, officer Phillips had to
see his subject through the eyes of the
lone witness. As previously stated, the
witness had far better than average
powers of recall. He could even
remember that the subject had wide,
coarse lips and protruding teeth. All of
this had proved very helpful in preparing
the sketch.

On September 10, Billings area
residents found themselves looking at the
sketch drawn by Deputy Fred Phillips in
their newspapers in an item captioned
“Did This Man Kill Lyle Cox?” They also
saw the sketch on their TV screens. Un-
dersheriff Foos prepared an all points
bulletin carrying the physical description
of the suspect. It seemed likely that the
person or persons who had killed Cox had
fled the state. With a week’s running head
start, he could have been in Florida by
now. If he remained in the distinctive
1970 green Lincoln, the odds were in
favor of the police that he would even-
tually be apprehended. If he elected to
abandoned the vehicle, get a haircut and a
shave and discard his cap with the feather
init, the odds of his being captured would
diminish greatly.

Subsequent to the publication of the
sketch, numerous area residents con-
tacted the Billings police and the
Yellowstone County officials to state that
they had noticed a character loitering
around town who fit the sketch. No one
knew the name of the suspect. Many
described him as a drifter. Several men-
tioned that the unkempt character who
wore the unique green felt Robin Hood
cap had indicated that he had been in the
state of Michigan recently and thathe was
headed for the west coast. Many close
friends of Lyle Cox told police that the
convivial 300-pound theater manager had
enjoyed nothing more than to lend a help-
ing hand to anyone who was down on
his luck. They felt that if Cox had en-
countered the suspect, he’d have given
him a handout or perhaps even offered
the suspect a lift to the outskirts of town
so that he could thumb a ride. If such was
the case, charity had cost him his life.

Even as readers of the Billings Gazette
studied the well drawn sketch yet an even
more important chapter in the baffling
murder case began to unfold far to the
south in the neighboring state of Wyom-
ing. State Highway Patrolman Joseph
Faycosh had been working a stretch of
Interstate Highway 80 out of the town of
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Rawlins, a well traveled major east-west
freeway. Midafternoon found him tool-
ing his powerful cruiser in the westerly
lane. Traffic had been sparse due mostly
to the fact that the tourist season had
drawn to a close. As his eyes swept the
roadway up ahead, Patrolman Faycosh
noticed a heavy luxury car traveling at
about 60 mph.

It's an undisputed fact among those
who have been involved in police work
for any length of time that there is such a
thing as instinct. Those who teach law en-
forcement heartily encourage police of-
ficers to play their “hunches” because so
often they pay off. To Officer Faycosh,
there was something unusual about the
large sedan up ahead. He couldn’t put his
finger on it, but he yielded to his initial
impulse and speeded up to narrow the
distance between his patrol car and the
suspect vehicle. For one thing, the expen-
sive Lincoln was coated with a heavy
layer of dust, dirt, and grime. He'd drawn
close enough to take note of the fact that
the car carried Montana plates and he
jotted down the license number on his
note pad. Thenhereached over and lifted
his mike from the dashboard and con-
tacted the Wyoming Highway Patrol dis-
patcher. “Run plate number Montana “3-
49367 for a possible stolen or wanted.
Ten-four?”

The dispatcher acknowledged im-
mediately, and the patrolman eased off

the accelerator and dropped back. He
did not intend to stop the Lincoln unless
something developed during the course
of the routine NCIC computer check.
The driver wasn't speeding nor had he
committed any other traffic infractions.

Several minutes later the receiver
crackled and Patrolan Faycosh respond-
ed to his call sign. “You have a hot one
there. We have a confirmed ‘hit’ from
NCIC. Subject vehicleis wanted by Mon-
tana authorities in connection with a re-
cent homicide in that state,” the dis-
patcher said.

“Roger. I have subject vehicle in sight
westbound on the Interstate. Who's close
by for a back-up?” Faycosh replied.

Radio traffic picked up as officers in
other units reported their locations to the
dispatcher. The nearest one was in-
structed to make it Code-3 to contact
Patrolman Faycosh as a back-up unit.

The patrolman behind the begrimed
green Lincoln sedan could make out three
persons in the car ahead. He was also well
aware of the statistics which have iden-
tified domestic disturbances and routine
traffic stops as being the types of calls
resulting in the most fatalities among
police officers. But this wasn’t going to be
a routine traffic stop, fortunately,
because the patrolman had exercised all
due precaution before approaching the
suspect car. Within a matter of minutes
he'd seen a fast approaching black and

white state patrol car pulling up from
behind with red lights flashing. He'd
reached over and activated his own
flashers and siren. The dirt streaked Lin-
col promptly pulled to the side and
stopped.

Patrolman Faycosh, gun in hand,
issued several commands over his outside
PA system. His instructions were clearly
audible inside the closed vehicle. The
car’s occupants were to remain inside
with their hands on top of their heads. He
could see through the rear and the side
windows that all three subjects in the car
had obeyed. Only then did he cautiously
approach the car from the rear with his
fellow officer covering the opposite side
to msure a crossfire effect in the event
that any resistance was offered from in-
side the car. The man behind the wheel
was taken out first, placed across the
front fender, and thoroughly patted
down for possible concealed weapons.
He was clean. He was manacled and led
back to the patrol car and placed inside.

The two remaining occupants were
then brought out, one at a time, and they
too were searched and handcuffed
despite the fact that both protested
vehemently that they were hitchhikers
who had been picked up only an hour or
so previously by the driver. All three were
then taken back into Rawlins and lodged
in jail. The man who had been behind the
wheel of the dirty 1970 Lincoln had
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carried identification papers made out to
Larry Lyle Cox and for a time he’d tried
to convince the arresting-officers that he
was Cox despite the fact that some of the
papers gave the bearer’s weight as 300
pounds. Police found other identification
papers in the unkempt suspect’s pockets.
These were in the name of Fred Shirmer,
age 26, place of birth, the Bronx, New
York. Undersheriff Foos was contacted
via long distance telephone and advised
of the triple arrest made in Wyoming.
The Stillwater County official expressed
elation upon hearing of this unexpected
break in the case and he assured the
Wyoming authorities that*he planned to
leave Montana by plane just as soon as the
necessary arrangements could be made.

Undersheriff Foos, a Stillwater County
deputy, and an attorney from the D.A.’s
office departed by air from Billings hours
later. The next day, Monday, was spent
interviewing the three men who had been
lodged in the Carbon County Jail in
“Rawlins. As a result, the two men who
had been with Shirmer when they were
arrested the previous afternoon were
released from custody after their stories
were checked out and confirmed. The
duo told police that the long-haired
driver of the Lincoln had introduced
himself to them only as Larry. =

The suspect agreed to waive extradi-
tion proceedings and to accompany the
Stillwater authorities back to Columbus,
Montana. The deputy who had accom-
panied Undersheriff Foos to Wyoming
was given the assignment of driving Cox’s
automobile back to Columbus. Foos left
later by air with his prisoner. He was later
met at the Logan International Airport by
the Yellowstone County Sheriff, Dean
Betzer. Betzer drove the Stillwater of-
ficial and his prisoner from the airport out
to Interstate 90 and west to a truckstop to
meet a Stillwater County Sheriff Depart-
ment patrol unit. There Foos and his
prisoner, who was barefooted, changed
cars for the remainder of the trip to
Columbus. It was learned that the suspect
had not made any statements relating to
Cox’s slaying subsequent to his arrest.

_ Only after the arrest had the uncanny
accuracy of Deputy Fred Phillip’s artistic
abilities become obvious. He had cap-
tured an excellent likeness of someone
whom he'd never before seen right down
to the filthy matted, long Afro-style hair.
Members of the Yellowstone County
Sheriffs office later estimated that the
published sketch had generated between
50 and 100 telephone calls, mostly from
people who had noticed the suspect
loitering about in the downtown section
of Billings or who had had occasion to
converse with him briefly.

On the morning of Thursday,
September 14 Fred Shirmer was
transferred from his cell in the Stillwater
County Jail in Columbus to one located in
the Yellowstone County Jail in Billings
under an intracounty agreement which
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provided for such an -arrangement,
stipulating that Stillwater County would
subsidize the expenses involved in hous-
ing potential long-term prisoners.

The following Monday the suspect
appeared in district court before Judge
C. B. Sande charged with deliberate
homicide, aggravated kidnapping, and
felony theft, the latter count stemming
from the alleged theft of Cox’s
automobile. Judge Sande ordered that
Shirmer be held to answer without bond
and also that he be subjected to a psy-
chiatric examination. The court-ordered
evaluation was conducted in Billings and
the suspect next appeared in court on
November 6 at which time he entered
pleas of innocent to all three charges
which had been filed against him. A
Columbus, Montana lawyer had already
been appointed by the court to represent
the accused.

Suddenly the sensational homicide
case took an inexplicable and totally un-
expected twist, one which left Billings
area citizens somewhat chagrined after
they learned about it on December 13,
1978. In a pact which involved the bane of
legal jurisprudence, plea-bargaining, a
deal was made behind closed doors.
Shirmer had been allowed to plead guilty

to mitigated deliberate homicide and

robbery.

In fact, the suspect had already been
sentenced and whisked away to prison
before the news media were aware of
what had taken place. It had been that
word “mitigated” that rankled those who
had known and loved Larry Lyle Cox.
Very few of those who had avidly follow-
ed the case were able to perceive any
elements of mitigation involved. District

Court Judge Charles B. Sande had held
the plea bargaining session in chambers
behind the closed doors. Afterward he
sentenced Fred Shirmer in open court,
determining a period of 40 years on
the charge of murder and 20 years on
the charge of robbery, with the two
terms running concurrently (together).
Parole would be possible for the man
after ten or twelve years.

As the result of a great deal of
professional investigative reporting, the
public belatedly learned more about
what had transpired. Judge Sande had
denied a motion from Stillwater County
Attorney William Blekner to present his
motions on the case in open court.
Blekner, when queried by the press later
about the sentencing, had stated simply,
“We wanted to keep it quite.” He also
declined to explain why his office had
consented to the reduced charges. The
presiding judge and the defense attorney,
Henry Grant of Columbus, Montana, also
declined to explain why they had agreed
to accept Cox’s brutal murder as having
been “mitigated.” Judge Sande’s dis-
claimer to the press had been, “I won’t
discuss this. We have canons of ethics.”

Shirmer’s lawyer would only say, “It
was a plea bargaining session. It was
simply the man’s (Shirmer’s) inability.
His 1.Q. was low. He was upset, that’s all.
That’s all I have to say about it.” Judge
Sande had, at the conclusion of the case,
ordered all exhibits, Blekner’s motions,
and Shirmer’s testimony sealed. This fac-
tor, coupled with the absence of a trial,
will cloud forever the actual cir-
cumstances surrounding the wanton and
callous slaying of a man who'd only
wanted to succeed. ®

ONE SLAYING

is impossible because the vertebrae
pattern of the DellaPenna girl could be
duplicated in several other persons.” He
added that further testing would be
necessary for positive identification.

“We will probably take some more X-
rays and perform some bloodtype tests,”
he said. No plans were in the works to
check the fingerprints on the corpse
which appeared to have been mutilated
to hinder identification.

“The hands were totally mangled,” he
said, “and not suitable for fingerprint pur-
poses. It is quite unlikely that Miss
DellaPenna was ever fingerprinted.”

Alfred Kedz, Jr., the Ocean County,
New Jersey, medical examiner, revealed
that preliminary results of the postmortem
examination indicated the girl had died
between one and two weeks before her
body was found.

Interviewed by newsmen late on Mon-
day night, the priest from Our Lady of
Consolation Church on Tulip Street who
broke the tragic news to the DellaPennas
explained that he had spoken first with
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the slain girl’s father, but had spared him
the details of how his daughter’s body
was found. Next to be informed was
Dolores’ brother and finally the girl’s
mother.

“They went through two horrible
weeks,” he said. “Two tortuous weeks.
And now this.”

Apprised that the DellaPenna in-
vestigation had been upgraded to the
status of a murder case, Philadelphia
detectives tackled the probe with renew-
ed vigor. Early in the week they visited
Wildwood Crest and systematically
began interviewing everyone they could
find with even the slightest acquaintance
of theslain girl. They soon found out that
Dolores DellaPenna had been a rarity on
the beach that summer. She was one of
the few girls anyone knew who was not
experimenting with marijuana or other,
more dangerous drugs.

“I'm sure Dolores never used any
drugs,” one of the Wildwood Crest
regulars told police. “I'm just sure she
didn’t. She wasn’t thetype. She was quiet

with us and excited about going to school
this fall to become an X-ray technician.

She spoke often of her parents. She told
me that she really loved them and never
had a problem with them.

“I only met her down here at the shore,
but I think we were pretty close. We'd
listen to the stereo at my apartment and
shop and talk and do the normal things
girls do. She keptsaying shereally hoped
this would be a good summer.”

Another of her friends painted a
different picture of Dolores’ DellaPen-
na’s last summer on the beach. She said
that the doomed girl had been badly
frightened by some of the characters who
would turn up at the cottage for the
weekend. One of them, she claimed, was
an attractive blonde who was believed to
carry a quantity of methadone with her

most of the time and who always kept her
bedroom door padlocked.

Back in Philadelphia, other probers
visited the Guardian Angel home about a
mile from the DellaPenna place where
they spoke with anun who reported hear-
ing four long, terrifying screams coming
from the vicinity of nearby Pennypack
Park on the night of the girl's dis-
appearance. Shehad not connected them
with the on-going probe, she explained,
until she read about the girl’s murder in a
newspaper.

The nun had little else to offer the
homicide probers, but an off-duty
policeman living nearby on Rose Lane
reported that he, too, had heard the
screams. QOddly enough, both the nun
and the cop had been watching the same
1952 movie, Broken Arrow, on television
at the time.

On Thursday, July 27, some 40
Philadelphia policemen and Pennypack
Park guards spent nearly four hours com-
bing the banks of Pennypack Creek for
clues to Dolores’ DellaPenna’s slayer.
The hunt, which appeared so promising
when it turned up a stained white T-shirt,
a pair of cut-off jeans, and what appeared
to be a rifle, ended a dismal failure. The
clothing was found not to belong to the
slain girl and the “rifle” turned out to bea
harmless air gun.

In New Jersey, state police scuba
divers spent the day plumbing the depths
of a pair of man-made lakes in the com-
munity of Cassville, in Jackson
Township, a mile north of the spot where
the girl’s body was found. There, too,
nothing of interest was found, even

though both lakes had been partially

drained the day before to make the
search for a death weapon or other
physical evidence that much easier.

Persistent rumors that a suspect had
been developed by the homicide probers
were quashed late on Thursday evening
when Calvin Wooley, the chief of Ocean
County detectives told reporters:

“We thought we might have
somebody, but it turned out to be
nothing.”



From Philadelphia came word that
Fire Commissioner Joseph Rizzo had
suspended from duty, Wednesday, a 26-
year-old firefighter who reportedly had
been a frequent visitor to the cottage on
Forget-Me-Not Lane, and who had made
a verbal statement in which he admitted
his involvement in the sale and use of
drugs. Rizzo said that the fireman had
not implicated the slain girl in any illicit
activity.

Shortly after noon on Saturday, July 29,
an elderly man strolling along a
woodland trail near the intersection of
Routes 547 and 571 in the Ridgeway sec-
tion of Manchester Township, New
Jersey, was startled to find a severed,
decomposing leg which had been
dumped in the underbrush. Hurrying
back to hishome, he placed an emergency
call to the police. They arrived quickly
on the scene, just outside the community
of Lakehurst, about seven miles southeast
of where Dolores DellaPenna’s body was
found.

While forensic science specialists ex-.

amined the limb, other probers went
deep into the woods to search for ad-
ditional evidence. They returned, not
long after, with a second leg, found about
150 feet from the lane. Like the first one,
its toenails appeared to have been paint-
ed with nail polish.

Ocean County Prosecutor Martin An-
ton told reporters that the state medical
examiner would perform a postmortem
examination of the legs on Monday at his
office in Trenton. Although the presence
of nail polish indicated that the legs
where those of a female, officials were
unwilling to speculate as to whether they
were those of the slain girl from
Philadelphia.

Over the next few weeks the
Philadelphia Police Department’s
“DellaPenna Squad” returned to the
Tacony section time and time again to
speak with witnesses and hunt for clues.
They seemed to have struck paydirt
~ when a resident told them that he had
seen a girl of Dolores’ description
“smacked around” and a maroon
Chevrolet speeding out of the
neighborhood at about the time the
teenager was believed abducted. Hoping
to find the vehicle, detectives brought a
number of witnesses to used car lots on
the chance that they could pick it out
from among hundreds of similar models.
When that ploy failed to produce any
results, they printed some 20,000 leaflets
describing both the car and the man seen
driving it and distributed them
throughout the city.

With the assistance of the FBI and New
Jersey authorities, the DellaPenna Squad
spoke with thousands upon thousands of
persons and ran down hundreds of tips
and potential suspects. One of the most
promising was a convicted rapist who in-
sisted that he had been a passenger in a
car with Dolores DellaPenna on the night
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she was abducted. He even provided in-
vestigators with the name and address of
the car’s driver. But when the man was in-
terviewed by police, his alibi held up and
he was freed from any suspicion.

On another occasion the murder
probers were told that a Philadelphia
convict had been muttering about the
slaying in his sleep. He, too, was cleared
of suspicion following a period of inten-
sive examination.

Inevitably, the promising rush of leads
dwindled to a trickle and then dried up
completely. The DellaPenna case folder
ended up with so many others in the
Philadelphia police department’s un-
solved files, where, far from forgotten, it
was reviewed every so often and then
replaced. '

“Frankly,” one investigator said a few
years after theslaying, “wereup against a
solid brick wall. We need another big
break if we're ever going to find out who
killed the girl. And after sucha long time
I'm not exactly what you’d call optimistic
that were going to get it.”

By the late 1970’s, the murder investiga-
tion once termed the most extensivein the
city’s history had been virtually forgotten
by everyone other than the detectives
who had worked on it and the persons
whose lives Dolores DellaPenna had
touched. It might have remained that
way forever, were it not for the series of
bizarre events which came into play
shortly after Thanksgiving, 1978.

On November 29, 1978, less than a
week after the holiday, 35-year-old John
F. Egan of Kensington was released from
a Pennsylvania jail cell where he had
spent the previous two months on a retail
theft rap. Egan’s connection with the
DellaPenna case, up to that time, was
peripheral at best. Years earlier, he pur-
portedly was among the hundreds of
potential witnesses interviewed briefly
by police about the slaying. Thanked for
his cooperation, he never had been con-
sidered a suspect.

On the day of Egan’s release, there was
a burglary in the Frankford section of
Philadelphia, in which, police were told,
a .45-caliber automatic pistol was stolen.
Nearly three weeks later, on Monday,
December 18, both the Philadelphia
police otficers and FBI agents were ap-
prised of a bholdup on the 2600
block of East Allegheny Avenue in
which a brazen robber, armed with
handgun, walked away with $950 belong-
ing to the Polonia Savings and Loan
Association. Barely 11 days later, the
same gunman returned to the institution
for $3800 more of the Polonia’s money.

On Tuesday, January 2, 1979, there
was another bank robbery in
Philadelphia. The latest victim was the
Tenth Street and Oregon Avenue branch
of the Philadelphia National Bank. Asin
the case of the two earlier stickups,
hidden cameras recorded the incident on
video tape. When police examined the
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tapes, they were certain that the same
man was responsible for all three jobs.

More important, they were equally con-
vinced that they could identify him. Soon
the word was out that authorities were ac-
tively seeking 35-year-old John F. Eganin
connection with the bank jobs.

Egan did not act much like the object
of such official interest. Early on Thurs-
day afternoon, January 4, he called up an
old friend, 31-year-old James Morrow of
the 4000 block of Neilson Street in Juniata
Park, and suggested that they go for a
ride. Morrow was all for it. He was es-
pecially eager to see Egan’s new car, a
1971 Ford LTD which the ex-con had
purchased just a couple of days before.

At precisely 2:59 p.m., the patrons of
Ed’s Steak House, a famous Philadelphia
eatery at the corner of Caster and Wyom-
ing Avenue, hau tneir meals ruined by the
sound of gunfire coming from the park-
ing lot. Those who moved quickly to the
windows were just in time to see a man
pumping the last of a fusillade of bullets
into the face and back of another man
who was already slumping to the pave-
ment.

As some of the diners hurried outside,
the gunman ran to a blue car and tore out
of the lot. He drove quickly away from
the restaurant, but not so fast that some of
the witnesses weren't able to see his
license number.

Alerted to the report of gunfire in the
parking lot, police arrived on the scene
moments later. To their surprise, the vic-
tim of the shooting, despite serious
wounds, was still alive. Even more
remarkable, he was able and willing to
speak with them.

The wounded man told them that his
name was James Morrow and thathe had
been shot by John F. Egan, an old friend.

“We'd just gone out for aride,” Morrow
said, when Egan suddenly began blaming
him for his “treatment” of Dolores
DellaPenna.

“T am in touch with Dolores and she is
directing me what to do,”” Morrow told
police Egan had said to him. Then, the
wounded man added, his friend suddenly
pulled out a gun, shouted, “Here’s one for
Dolores,” and opened fire.

As James Morrow was placed on a
stretcher and loaded aboard the am-
bulance that would send him racing
through Philadelphia streets to Parkview
Hospital, police interviewed the

witnesses to the shooting. Some of them
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handed over slips of paper upon which
they had written the license number of
the gunman’s car. A hasty check with the
department of motor vehicles allegedly
revealed that it recently had been
registered to John Egan.

Police knew that Egan had a close
relative living on the 1800 block of East
Huntington Street, so they immediately
set up a dragnet around the entire
neighborhood.  Not long after, just
minutes before James Morrow died of his
wounds at Parkview Hospital at 4:45,
they arrested Egan a few blocks away
from his relative’s house. The suspect,
although armed with a .45-caliber
weapon, surrendered peacefully.

Egan, who gave police anumber of ad-
dresses, including one on the 800 block of
Madison Street in the Kensington section
of the city, reportedly admitted to
homicide detectives that he had shot his
friend, Morrow. Police said Egan told
them that Dolores DellaPenna was “talk-
ing to me from above” and that she had
told him that Morrow had tortured her.
Charged with murder, weapons offenses,
and three counts of bank robbery, Egan
was ordered held without bail at the
police administration building on Eighth
and Race Streets pending further action
on his case. The following day, police
said that they had learned the .45-caliber
automatic taken from Egan had been
stolen, November 29, from the Frankford
section of the city. Arraignment was
slated for the following Wednesday,
January 10, in Room 675 at City Hall.

Speaking again with newmen-in the
wake of the unbelievable events, Dolores
DellaPenna’s father said that although he
hated to dredge up unpleasant memories
he had regained hope that the mystery of
his daughter’s slaying might yet be solv-
ed.

“We feel rotten,” he said. “It’slikestar-
ting the whole thing over.

“What’s going on?” he asked. “He
must know something. Why did he bring
up her name? Only those who knew and
loved her would expect to remember.
Why would a stranger with no connection
to the case bring her name up at this
time?”

Newsmen noted that police had said
neither Egan nor the man he was accused
of killing were acquainted with the slain
girl.

“I don’t remember either name,” Mr.
DellaPenna said, “but we've had so many
hundreds of names thrown at us. [ don’t
think my daughter knew him [Morrow] .
I'm sure I never heard her mention his
name and Dolores would have been in
high school when he would have been
about 30.”

As of this writing, the Dolores
DellaPenna case remains open and active
in Philadelphia police files.

John F. Egan must be assumed inno-
cent of the charges against him until his is

- found guilty in a court of law. ®



CRIMSON SHEETS
them, she described her husband on both

occasions as a jealous, despondent man,
addicted to downers and worried about
money.

The following day, the prosecution
placed on the stand Dr. Cohen’s accoun-
tant in an attempt at showing that the vic-
tim was in good financial shape at the
time of his death.

“From a review of his cash position,
both personal and business, just a couple
of weeks before he died,” the accountant
said, “it was my opinion he wassolvent.”

Cohen’s 1975 income tax return, he
said, showed a gross income of $107,185
for the doctor’s professional corporation.
Of that sum, Cohen paid himself a salary
of $538,950 and over the last two full
months of his life, July and August, 1976,
the corporation took in $18,000, up from
$15,000 the year before.

“Indications were that his income was
increasing,” the accountant said.

On Friday, January 19, the emergency
room doctor at Northern Westchester
Hospital on duty the night Dr. Cohen
died testified that he did not notice any
powder burns around the fatal wound.
Also taking the stand that day was a tox-
icologist who said that she had tested the
victim’s blood, brain, bile, and liver for
the presence of barbiturates. Although
the doctor’s blood showed no evidence of
the drug, she said, traces were found in
his brain and liver.

When he took the stand on Wednesday,
January 24, Dr. Paparo, the county
medical examiner, testified that as soon as
he examined the doctor’s body on the
morning of his death he had concluded
that the fatal wound was not self-
inflicted.

“If 1 had to stop at that point and
someone had asked at that point, ‘What
are the odds this is not a suicide? I would
have said 99.999 to 1,” he told the court.

continued from page 22

After his initial examination of the
body, he had advised Mount Pleasant
Police Chief Oliva that the case should be

treated as a homicide rather than a

suicide.

Over the next nine months, Dr. Paparo
said, he performed numerous ex-
periments in the hope of becoming 100
per cent sure about the cause of Dr.
Cohen’s death. Each experiment, he ex-
plained, was designed to determine if it
were possible for Dr. Cohen to have shot
himself in the manner indicated by the
wound in his head, without leaving any
powder burns...

On one occasion, he said, he fired the
Spanish automatic at an anesthetized rab-
bit and then checked the rodent’s skin for
powder burns. The test proved positive,
even though the rabbit fur was much
thicker than the doctor’s hair.

Following the May, 1977, exhumation,
he continued, tissue specimens from the
vicinity of the wound were examined un-
der a microscope. Again no trace of
residue was found.

Dr. Paparo also described the tests
made with the corpse, the gun, and the
dowel, which, he said, indicated that Dr.
Cohen could not have held the gun more
than four inches from his head and pulled

. the trigger. If the gun were held closer to

the head, he explained, powder burns
should have been found at the wound.
And they were not.

At one point during his testimony, Dr.
Paparo seemed amused by a
characterization of his job as something
like that of the fictional television medical
examiner, Quincy.

“We dont do what he does,” the
witness said. “We don’t concern ouselves
with who is being accused. That’s strictly
police work. My job is to evaluate the
medical facts. ..

“I'm very certain it was not suicide,” he
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concluded. “I can’t say whether it was a
homicide or an accident.”

The following day, Prosecutor Joseph
West rested his case.

On Wednesday, January 31, defense at-
torneys called to the stand a Norfolk,
Virginia, medical examiner who testified
that “the wound in Dr. Cohen’s head is
certainly consistent with self-infliction.”
He said that the absence of powder burns
and residue at the entry wound could not
be said to rule out suicide because the
doctor’s hair could have filtered out such
evidence.

The witness said that he had been un-
" able to ascertain the distance at which the
death weapon was fired because the
telltale hair had been discarded at the
hospital and because officials had failed
to take tissue samples from the wound
during the initial autopsy. Examination of
the tissue following exhumation, he said,
must be considered inconclusive because
the outer layer of skin already had dis-
appeared and the layers beneath it had
begun to decay.

In his final argument to the jury on
Thursday, February 1, Prosecutor West
said that Patricia Cohen was a bitter, vin-
dictive woman who murdered her hus-
band as helay sleeping beside her after he
had gone to their condominium to tell her

that he was seeking adivorce and that she.

would get no alimony.

“She’d have you believe that in a
drunken stupor he gotup, found the gun,
learned how to operate and load it, walk-
ed back to bed, gotin, and shot himnself.”

A more believable turn of events, he
said, saw the doctor lying down for anap
after a full day of work. Whilehe slept, his
wife took the holster containing the gun
from the dresser drawer where she kept
it, walked to a table at the side of the bed,
and drew the weapon.

“Was she lying next to him, as she
claimed, when he shot himself?” West
asked: “There was no blood on her
nightgown. Was shein the bed, or was she

next to the bed? We submit the credible
evidence shows that she stood over him
and, holding the gun about a foot from his
head, fired in a downward direction.”

Defense counsel told the jury that,
“This is one of the most inept in-
vestigations that you'll ever see in a court
of law and if this were not such a serious
case I would liken it to Barney Miller and
Quincy. . .Because they goofed up. they
blamed it on Patricia Cohen.”

He suggested to the panelists that there
were no prints on the death weapon when
it was examined by experts because
police probably had wiped them off as
they placed the gun in an evidence bag.

The attorney explained that he had not
placed his client on the stand because she
already had told everything she knew
about her husband’s death in the two
taped statements to police played for the
jury.

“Everything she told them which they
have an ability to check without specula-
tion was bome out.” he said. .

The case went to the jury on Friday
morning, February 2. At 5:15 the follow-
ing afternoon, after some 13% hours of
deliberation, the nine men and three
women returned to the courtroom to an-
nounce that they had found Patricia
Cohen guilty of the secord degree
murder of her husband and of two counts
of criminal possession of a weapon. She
was found innocent of two charges of
criminal solicitation and of reckless en-
dangerment. Judge Dachenhausen im-
mediately revoked the woman’s $50,000
bond and ordered her to the Westchester
County Jail in Valhalla to await senten-
cing slated for Friday, March 2.

On that day, Patricia Cohen was
sentenced to 20 years to life in prison for
the 1976 murder of her estranged hus-
band. She will be sent to Bedford 1lills
prison to begin serving her term. At her
sentencing, Mrs. Cohen said she was con-
victed on “circumstantial evidence,
speculation, and inferences.”

FOUR PEOPLE DIED

they feared that he might have flown out
of the country within hours of the crimes.

They were lucky, however. Ramsey
had decided to lie low for a while. And
this was his fatal mistake.

The Murder Squad detectives did not
let it be known in the media that they
knew the iderititry of the killer. And a
week after the capture of Mr. McArthur,
an anonymous tip-off from an informant
sent armed uniformed officers and detec-
tives swarming to a run-down house in
Battersea, London, where Ramsey was
believed to be living in a top floor flat

Three burly uniformed officers, each
one with loaded revolver at the ready,
crashed through the door into the flat,
sending in three “killer” dogs ahead of
them.

continued from page 33

Ramsey, who was lying on his bed sip-
ping a mug of coffee, was caught by sur-
prise. His gun was on a bedside table and
he lunged for it the moment the door cav-
ed in.

There was a shot as Ramsey killed one
dog. This was followed by a volley of
shots from the police and Ramsey was
dead, with the two remaining dogs mak-
ing a meal of his holed corpse. The date
was December 11.

Little Jenny M cArthur went to live with
her grandparents. Her mother’s body was
found by a gamekeeper. Less than 36
hours later her father committed suicide
in prison. He managed to get hold of a
razor-blade and cut his throat.

Four people had died over a six-year-
old schoolgirl.
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Down Memory Lane--
With Murder

SHOTTO ¢
DEATHINA

>
AN

nnom by TIM PRESTON

We have all been reading, these many
years, fiction tales about the murder in
the locked room—the homicide com-
mitted by somebody who couldn’t
possibly have been on the scene but who
was. Yet in a third of a century of writing
about true crimes I have run irito only one
locked-room mystery. The facts were
supplied to me by Edward P. Mulrooney,
New York’s Commissioner .of Police at
the time of the crime. Commissioner Mul-
rooney considered the locked-room
murder of Isadore Fink the most
mysterious of any he had ever en-
countered in a lifetime of police work.

Isadore Fink was a quiet little man in
his middle fifties who ran alaundry in a

80

ground-floor room of a tenement
building in the Bronx. The room was 20
feet wide and 40 feet deep. Unmarried,
and with no known relatives, Isadore
Fink made his home in the room, sleeping
on a cot in the rear and eating his meals in
neighborhood lunch rooms. He had a
makeshift bathroom behind a screen in
the rear of the room, which he had rented
for almost five years.

Fink called for and delivered for some
of his customers; others dropped in to
leave or pick up their laundry. Since first
appearing in the Bronx, Fink, for some
undisclosed reason, had been a most
cautious man. There were two ground-
level windows in his laundry-home—one

facing the street, the other looking out on
an alley that ran alongside of the building.
Fink had the windows not only painted
gray, shutting off a view from outside,
but heavily barred. The bars were but six
inches apart, Fink’s idea being not to
allow enough space between two bars to
permit passage of a human. There was a
rear door in the laundry-home, a door
that had originally led into another large
ground-floor room of the building—a
room now occupied by an elderly
spins ter named Susan Jones. But Fink had
long since had the door stoutly nailed up.

It was the door that led from the street
into the room where Fink was to die that
revealed the laundry man’s fear that he



might come to an unnatural end. The
door was stoutly constructed, to Fink’s
own specifications. Chain locks were not
in general use four decades ago but Fink’s
front door was secured with an oversized
lock operated by a large key.

There was a transom above the front
door that had never been opened since
Fink had taken possession of the
premises. It wasn't very high, less than 12
inches. The transom, like the windows,
had been coated with gray paint that
prohibited anyone standing on a ladder
outside from getting a view of theinside.

On the night that he was to be
murdered, Fink was working—washing
and ironing the laundry of customers. It
was along toward 11 o’clock and Susan
Jones, in her quarters behind the laundry,
was reading in bed. A lethal silence was
broken when Susan Jones heard two
sounds in very rapid sucession—one that
seemed like a body thumping to the floor.

Susan Jones lay there, terrified and
wondering, for anunspecified time. Then
she knocked on the wall and received no
response. Finally, she came to a decision.
She got dressed, went outside and told a
passerby that she had heard what seemed
like a shot and a falling body and had
been unable to get a response from Mr.
Fink. Chinks of light showing through
cracks in the paint of the front window
disclosed that the lights were on in the
laundry. But the passerby couldn’t get
any response to his knocking on the front
door.

When two policemen arrived to in-
vestigate, they found the place complete-
ly barred. The front door was locked with
a key on the inside, the windows were
secure and the rear door nailed tight. One
cop boosted another up to the transom
over the front door but it, too, was
secured from the inside. It was only when
the cop forced the transom, breaking its
inner lock, that he was able to look into
the lighted room. There, but a few feet
from the very rear of the 40-foot room,
lay Isadore Fink. The cop, scanning the
futility of getting through the narrow
transom, called out: “Hey, Fink can you
answer me?” Fink couldn’t answer.

The cop, who was too large to get
through the transom, looked down at the
key in the lock in the front door. Now he
dropped back onto the pavement. He
and the other cop went.on the prowl for a
boy and finally found one small enough
to get through the transom. The boy
-dropped into the room and turned the
key that unlocked the door.

Fink, sprawled out face down on the
floor, was dead.. e had been shot
straight through the heart. He had quite a
few dollars in his pockets, apparently the
laundry receipts of the day and evening,
so robbery apparently had not been the
motive for the crime. Suicide was out of
the question; there was no gun on the
premises.

Commissioner Mulrooney, sitting at his

desk in Police Headquarters the next
afternoon, was fascinated by the
preliminary reports on the Fink case.
Here, indeed, was the murder in the lock-
ed room. So Mulrooney went to the
scene.

Isadore Fink, the autopsy showed, had
died instantly. Susan Jones had been cor-
rect when she said she had heard two
noises; one had been the shot and the
other Fink hitting the floor immediately
after the shot. This meant, then, that Fink
had dropped where he was shot—more
than 30 foot from the front door.

One answer to theriddle seemed to be
that Fink, as was his custom, had, upon
hearing knocking at the front door, un-
locked it and opened the door a crack to
see if it was friend or foe and that the killer
shot him in that instant. But this theory
didr’t hold water. How could a man who
was killed instantly close the door, turn
the key in the lock and then walk more
than 30 feet toward the rear of the room?
Too, if Fink had been shot at close
range—by somebody for whom he had
opened the door—there would have been
powder burns on his clothing. But there
were no powder burns on Fink.

Commissioner Mulrooney personally
inspected the two windows, the rear door,
and the transom over the front door. The
windows had not been opened for years,
a fact attested to by undisturbed coatings
of dust and the fact that it was impossible
to open them due to the swelling of the
wood over the years. Nor had the six-
inch-wide bars been disturbed. The rear
door, too, which Fink had nailed secure,
had been undisturbed. When Mulrooney
climbed a ladder and examined the tran-
som, he could see that it, too, had ob-
viously not been opened until the cop had
forced it open.

Fink had been out, delivering and
collecting laundry, the night he was
murdered. Had his killer somehow ad-
mitted himself to the laundry while Fink
was out and lain in wait for Fink’s return
to commit the murder? Letting himself in
and lying in wait would have been possi-
ble. But there was one thing that shot a
hole in that theory—the key in the door.
How could the killer, after murdering
Fink, have locked the door from the in-
side and then let himself out?

The murder of Isadore Fink, which
was to become known to New York
Police circles as the murder in the locked
room, has remained unsolved. It was for
many years to be a subject of discussion
when New York sleuths got together over
drinks to talk shop. “It’s a fascinating
case,” Commissioner Mulrooney told me.
“It couldn’t possibly have happened—vyet
itdid ...” {

Eprtor’s NOTE:

Susan Jones is not the real name of the
person so called in the foregoing story.
Because there is no reason for public in-
terest in the identity of this person, a fic-
titious name has beern used.
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1 . Purse 2 from your home. Get mail orders
_ To Say About Thgar SM Your Cost R Wrench Set from consumers and merchants
. Wholesaling Business:

5330 @ P 1R Your Cost $6.60 alike using SMC's proven mail
Sell For 8 R Elephant Sell For $19.95 order programs

Wind-up Crazy N Your Cost $1.80,
Lady Bug LN ¥ PARTY PLAN 1ne tastest

§ Your Cost 43¢

Leather Sheath

Finn Skeisvoll
§ 1 got. a single

Setl For $6.95
growing fietd in the merchandise

order by mail for

$19.998 (y)G M;/ vol- R ‘K Sell For §1.29 Beauty Glo world! SMC shows you how to at-

umé 15 $75.000 a \1 . . . Elecmc Roses N tract people to conduct sales par-

year and I'm only . s 17J Pocket Watch (1 b\ " (Breathtakingly beautiful lies that bring you weaith. SMC's
With Fob Chain ] '/ — our biogest seller — “Open House™ Party Pian program

devoting part time to
wholesaling. ¢

SFEOU"S‘V'E Your Cost.§19.25
Kgg‘éﬂ Selt For $79.95

Fred Parker says,**| use the SMC é%ﬂ'é?sgg’ggg Soil Moisture
OpenHouse andSub-Wholesaler et 3"6'92: {5260
programs. A sub-wholesaler just [{d - . S°e4‘JIrFo?SSQ$2§5
brought me a’ $325 order. | made . " :
$150 00 profit on the order 1% 7

William

Andrade . Cost 83.35

¢§ started Seft For $10.95

SMC merchan- Calendar Watch

An SMC exclusive product)
Your Cost $2.20
Sell For $8.95

is directed by the famous movie
R | personality. Rhonda Fleming

'WAGON JOBBING
Filt your car with SMC products.
call on merchants and deliver at
the time you make the sale. We
show you how to get big. steady
orders from stores of every de-
scription

FLEA MARKET
SALES SMC s a prime
supplier of products to swap meet
and flea market sellers. We show
( you where and how to operate 1o

Genuine Porcelain
Your Cost $1.30
Sell For $4.95

Airpot Over
2 Qt. Capacity
Metal Casing

Your Cost

with $30 in Deluxe

$7.20
Selt For
$24.95

dise. In just ! Your Cost $9.90
Sell For
$32.95

a few months
i bought a T
new van. have $800 :n inven-
tory. moneyin the bank

bring in greatest sales
RACK MERCHAN-
DlS|NG Make big profits day

plis & beaotttul apartment, 1 y 23" x 14" o holesai o
Jim Taylor says, - Hand Painted 31 Day “ FOp-Sp whelesaiing dreCt any nignt during all store hours.
[ { Wood Framed Pend_ulum ;10 your customers. sub-wholesaling. You merely re-stock sold items on

$¢Making money in wholesaling

£ catalog sales, premium and fund raising your rent free, self service dis-

Velvet Renderings ~ Chime
ock

1S S0 easy i's hardly believable ¢l

I've recently made $200 on a sale {Select from Your Cost sates. Select the program that sutts you plays. SMC supplies packaged

that tock 10 minutes of my time™ dozbenstof $34.95 best or use several money making  self serve items plus display
X Randall & subjects) 9 orograms as most wholesalers do ., racks.

Y t Seli For $89. il
o Sos S N N N B S BN AR Em i ACT HEEa

Mr. Priesel, Director !
Specialty Merchandise Corp. Dept 1579 " )
6081 De Soto Ave. Woodland Hills, CA. 91365 S e

Send me your Free Book that shows me over 21 ways o make money
wholesaling, plus information on your tull-ine of over 2500 products that |
can purchase at fowest below wholesate. jobber prices

Carla Austin

“We took Sell For $8.95 i
'n $6318.00 Your Cost $2.25 Sell For $9.95

asi montn| ) N* W22 BIG MONEY & SECURITY
wholesaling i
Gndlesaing | @ DE LAY Y _As Near As Your Mail Box
: r:taréeld Pat | NO WAITING Everything is | Specialty Merchandise Corp
ime but gave | o oused for you. SMC 6061 De Soto Ave. Dept 15.79
up my ob and I Woodland Hillk CA 31365
wentfuiltme as | make much stocks every thing and ships in Canada Write Pre-Sell Distributors
- —
more money i My own who- [ SUCkly. You buyn smail 2360 Midiand Ave. Scarborough

lesaling business.? Quantities. .. justone ot a , MI(S. 1P City. . oo State ... . Zip
c————t | il tor mos! progucts' Orntano, Canada M1S.1P8 A W W W W S S S S S0 U O

Name . _ .. e e

Address . _______ S . _
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Earn More

Enjoy Life — Be
LOCKSMIT

Train FAST at Home —Earn While Learning

al | N |
like
fam!

Get into this booming high-profit business that’s
Easy to learn— Easy to do— Easy on You!

Never before have money-making
opportunities been so great for qualified
Locksmiths. Noew, lucrative regular lock
and key business has multiplied a thou-
sandfold as millions seek more protec-
tion against ever increasing crime. Yer
there’s only one Locksmith for every
17,000 people! No wonder the money
can roll in so FAST!

Start collecting cash profits
right away — Up to $12.50 an hour!

You're “in business” ready to earn
up to $12.50 an hour a few days after
you begin Belsaw’s shortcut training.
Special tools, equipment and supplies
plus a professional Key-Making Machine
help make your special knowledge bring
in CASH FEES even while learning.
Many students cover the full cost of
their training and SHOW A SUBSTAN-
TIAL PROFIT long before they finish.
So can YOU.

Learn at home this shortcut way

Prepare yourself to take advantage of
this tremendous money-making oppor-
tunity for steady, year-round EXTRA
INCOME in your spare time or financial
independence in a fulltime, high-profit
business of your own. Perfect for retire-
ment! You don’t have to be an expert

Belsaw Started Me Making

mechanic to be an ace professional in
this field. Once you know Locksmithing
all your worries about a job, more in-
come, layoffs, inflation, recession, too
many bosses will be gone forever.

Yours FREE— A burglar alarm
and security systems course
Not for sale separ-
ately, but included with
your training at No Extra %
Cost! Q‘\\
You receive the fuil lt
course plus all special =
tools and equipment. In- |
structions and pictures
are so clear you can't go
wrong. This rapidly expanding field goes
hand-in-hand with Locksmithing. It can
add even more to your profits.

!

Find out all about it
No Ohligation —
NO SALESMAN WILL CALL

Discover what’s in Locksmithing for
YOU. Find ouft how Belsaw’s Master-
Locksmith Approved training has helped
hundreds of men to EARN MORE—
ENJOY LIFE MORE.

RUSH COUPON TODAY FOR

=) FREE BOOK

TO KEEP!

This Pro Key Machine can alone
add up to $200 a month to your in-
come. ..and it won’t cost you a penny
extra with your training.

PLUS THESE TOOLS AND MATERIALS ...

ALL YOURS AS PART OF YOUR TRAINING!
LG T 'f o

PAdS v ¥
%/:,J‘;(.,x‘:‘
S S0 M

BELSAW INSTI

220K Field Bldg., Kansas City, Mo. 64111

ATED
<® RN

<

Accredited Member
National Home Study Council.

‘e, <
UME 5TV

MAIL THIS COUPON—NO SALESMAN WILL CALL

Money FAST as a LOCKSMITH

“I'm MAKING OVER $300 A MONTH in my spare time
with the Belsaw Locksmith Course. Yours is the best
training in America.”

Henry Rivas, Los Angeles, Calif.

‘I CLEARED $110 LAST SATURDAY! | am doing a won-
derful business thanks to your course in Locksmithing.
It's a great business.”

R. W. Davis, St. Louis, Missouri.

“I HAVE ALL THE LOCKSMITH WORK | CAN HANDLE,
Business is so good I'm expanding to fulltime.”

Ed Boyle, Pittsburg, Penna.

EREE &
“KEYS
T0

YOUR

Tells how to
Make Money in
Locksmithing —
Spare Time or
Full Time — Al-
most from the
Start, Mail Cou-
pon NOW!

BELSAW INSTITUTE, 220K Field Bldg., Kansas City, Missouri 64111

Please send me free of cost or obligation your publication “Keys to
Your Future” on how Belsaw can train me to quickly make money in
Locksmithing and how all tools and Key Machine are given me to

|
|
|
|
keep. |
|
I
|
|
I









